IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE
STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA

Supreme Court Appeal No. 30766

JOSEFPH D. LEFORS,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

V.
RRISTA M. LEFORS,

Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MEADE COUNTY, SOUTH DAKOTA

THE HONORABLE JOHN FITZGERALD
CIRCUIT COURT IUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Hollie L. Siith Kelly J. Sanderson

Clavbome. Loos & Sabers, LLP Sanderson Law

P.O. Box 9129 11452 Junction Avenue

Rapid City, 8D 577049 Bturgis, 8 57785

(605) 7T21-1517 (605} T20-8660

hamithia@ clelavers met kellwviimsandersonlawsd. com
Attorney tor PlaintifF Appellee Attorney For Defendant Appellant

Motice of Appeal filed July 22, 2024

Fled: 107312024 5:08 AWM CST Supreme Court, State of South Cakota #30765



PAGE

TABLE OF ATHORTETES covnuasiinsniirempisin e sk v ciiniadl]
FRELIIMARY BT A TEMEN T s s i i s s i 1
JURIBDICTIONAL STATEMENT....cooviniiininrnnnnsnanies S—— 1
LEGAL-IRSUES QM APPEAL. i aiaaminaiiviaariiaiaaimiibdaii i 1

1. Whether the trial court erred in holding Krista in contempt of the parenting time
Order without the requisite motion, aftfidavit. and Order to Show Cause.

2, Whether the trial court erred in fimding that Knsta could control their | 5-year-old
daughter’s actions during Father’s parenting time.

3. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the 15-year-old danghter’s refusal to
eal dimner with her futher was a willful violation by Krista and whether the trial
court erred in assessing sanctions because of the daughter’s refusal to eat dinner
with her father.

4. Whether the trial court abused s discretion in assessing sanctions of 5500 for
four parentmg times when their daughter refused to eat dmmer with her father
without considering Krista's financial situation as a single mom with two
children, one of which has special needs.

3. Whether the trial court abused s discretion in assessing knsta with 52,000 of
attorney’s fees with no consideration of her financial situation and without
specific findings as to the factors required for an award of attomey's fees,

B TATEMENTOF THE AR s e e S b i N S i i s i e vy

N EATEMENT OF [THE PALTTR ..o oo s i i i o i oo o o s i 4



L Standard of Review
. The Circuit Court erred in finding Krista in contempt without requiring Joseph
to file and serve the proper motion for order to show cause, affidavit, and
order 1o show cause.
IMl.  The Circunt Court érred m finding that Krsta could control the actions of a 13-
waar-old.
IV, The Circuat Court erred in finding that the daughter’s actions were a willful
violation by Krsta.
V. The Circuit Court erved by sanctioning Krista 3500 per visit withoul
considering Krista’s financial situation.
VL  The Circuit Court erved by awarding attormey fees without making any
findings related to the factors required for awarding attorney fees,
N e 2 S A e 3 S a2 A 30 15

WAIVER OF ORAL ARGUMENT, i imsansisimsasn i aasisiams s aiaas i 1

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE..... ..ot iiirrieeinrienssannesnaasasmsorasasasereaasasess LD

EERTIF ICATE P OO L TAER: . oo a0 s st S T T s g i 4 43005 17
e T B T R B o e S S e P T 17



AL 5
Statutes Cited:
] B T SRRSO

R B ESOBR sooccnsi di ais e R e s s i eyl
B T s 1
D S 13
BIICL 8 25485 oo oreeee e e eeean e s e eees r et ee st reamn en e e s nesan e e e s neen D

Cases Clited:
Brosnan v Brosman, 2013 8.D. 3L Y12, B40 N W2 240, ..o coiiinivicaiin i oY

Fremmup v Rentio, T4 5.1 328, 32 N W 2d 486, (1932 e 2
First Nat'l Bonk of Omaha v Kolucek, 2008 8.0 37, TSONW.2d 472 eiieinriiieinns R

Fuerstenberg v. Fuerstenberg, 1999 5.0, 35, 391 NWad TO8. . viiiiiiiiiiiiin s inann®
Criesen v Griesern, 2018 .00 36, 911 LW 2d 750 ...ccoiiieiancrnanniiime e isnnmnnrrnasnnnnns 7
FhE v T SO0 B 18 e N R B B i it d S G
Hifler v Hillar, 2018 8.0, T4 919 N W.2d H8... e cvvvvevmvmiimvrnvsnssm s snsnsmvmsmnavasmeann §
In re Gillespi, 397 NW.2d 476, 477-TB (8.1, 1986). ..ot i i e 8
Lakota Cmty, Homes, Tnc. v Rondall, 2004 8D 16, 675 NW.2d 437, 8
LeFors v LeFews, 2023 8D 24 90l W W 2d 675 i 34
LeFors v LeFors, No. 30544, 2024 S.D.LEXTS 113, .0 mns s 3
Metzger v Metzger, 2021 S D23, DSE N WA TS i L B
Inre Oliver, 333 U8, 257.688. Ct. 499, 92 L. Ed. 62 (IM4B)....oiiiiinviiiiinn B
Price v, Price, 2000 8.0 64, 611 NW.2d 425 .. oo iiiiiinciiivananspsmn i mmansas svsmmnsson 3

Sezama v Stote ex vel. Muillenberg, 200 8D 17, 720 N W2d 335 . 7



Schieffer v Schieffer, 2013 8.1, 11, 820 NW.2d 627 ... vvvviiimiirnssmmsnsmrsvissnsnsrsoimm f
Thomerson v Thomerson, 38T W.W.2d 309, (53D 1985)
Thurman v CUNA Mut, Tos. Soc’y, 2003 8D 63, B0 NWHGI. ..o T

Weber v Weber, 329 NW.2d 190, (5.0, 1995), oo i i 10

FLY



Citations to the settled record will be referred to as “SR” followed by the title and
the page number. Citations to the transeripts will be referred 1o as "TT followed by the
litle, date, and page number. Reference to materials in the Appendix to this brief will be
referred as “App."” followed by title and page number. Reference to the Findings of Fact
will be referred to as "FOF” followed by the page number, Reference to exhibits will be
designated as “EX" followed by the exhibit number or letter. Plaintiff' Appellee Josheph
Damel LeFors shall be referred to herein as “Joseph™ or “Father™. Defendant’ Appellant
Knsta Mae LeFors shall be referred to herein as “Krista™ or “Mother™

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Krista respecttully appeals the Honorable lohn Fitzgerald's Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law and Order for Sanctions, Attomey Fees and Parenting Time that was
filed om June 17, 2024, R 4309, Notice of entry was [1led on June 18, 2024, SR 4313,
Krista timelv served the Motice of Appeal on July 22, 2024, 3R 4332, The Findingz of
Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order for Sanctions, Attomey Fees and Parenting Time
s i final order of the Circunt Court and 15 appealable as a matter of nght, pursuant to
SDCL § 15-20A-3 and SDCL § 15-26A-4,

LEGAL ISSUES ON APPEAL
1. Whether the trial court erred in holding Krista in contempt of the parenting

time Order without the requizite motion, affidavit, and Order to Show Cause.
Mot relevant cases and statules:
Fremup v Henfto, 74 5.1, 329, 52 N.W.2d 486, (1952)
Metzger v. Melzger, 2021 8.1D, 23, 238 N.W.2d 713

Thomerson v, Thomerson, 387 NW.2d 309, 312 (8D 1986)



BDCL § 15-6-5(h)
2, Whether the trial court erred in finding that Krista could control their 15-vear-
old danghter’s refusal to eat dinner with her father.

Bvlost relevant cases and siatuies:

Frerstenberg v. Fuersienberg, 1999 8.1, 35, 591 N.W.1d 798
Price v, Price, 2000 8.1 64, 611 N.W.2d 423
Weber v Weber, 529 N.W.24 19, (8.1D. 1993)
SDCL § 25-4-45
3. Whether the trial court crred in finding that the 15-vear-old daughter's refusal
to eat dinner with her father was a willful violation by Krista of the Court Order
and whether the trial court erred in assessing sanctions against Krista for the
danghter's refusal to ent dinner with her father,
ivlao vy ; e
Metzger v. Metzger, 2021 8.1, 23, 938 N.W.2d 713
4. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in assessing sanctions of S5(0M) for
four parenting times when their danghter refused to eat dinner with her father
without considering Krista’s Minancial situation as a single mom with two
children, one of which has special needs.

Most relevant cases and statutes:

Jensenw Horton, 2 NW.3d 20 (8., 2024)
Metzeer v Metzger, 2021 5.D, 23, 9 12, 938 N.W.2d 713, 718

SDCL 25-4A-5



5. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in assessing Krista with 52,004 of
attorney”s fees with no consideration of her financial situation and withom
specific findings as to the factors required for an awarnd of attorney’s fees,

Most relevant cases and statules:
Goff v Gaff. 2024 8.1, 57
Urbamak + Urbaniak, 2011 5.1, 83, 80T N.W.2d 621

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A divorce case was iniliated by JToseph m January of 2019 8R 7. Thas 1s the third
appeal following the Court’s decisions in Lefors v. LeFors, 2023 5,10, 24, 991 N.W.2d
675 and LeFors v. LeFors, No. 30544, 2024 8.1, LEXIS 113 (Sep. 3, 2024). Krista
counterclaimed, alleging a claim for Separate Maintenance. SR 174, A two-day trial was
held by the Circuit Court on June 17 and 18, 2020, On Apnrl 8. 2021, Judge Kevin Krull
signed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and ssued a Decree of Separate
Maintenance. SR 813 and ¥32. A Notice of Appeal was filed on Mayv 27, 2021, S8R 910.
Thas Court entered its decision affirming in part and reversing and remanding in part. See
LeFors, 991 N.W.2d 675, A remanded trial was held on September 28 and 29, 2023. A
Judgment and Decree of Divorce was issued on October 27, 2023, 8R 3374 A Notice of
Appeal related to the Judgment and Decree of Divorce was filed on November 21, 2023,
SR 3406, This Court entered its decision affirming in part and reversing in part on
September 3, 2024, The Circuit Court entered an Order Discontinuing Family Therapy
and Scheduling Father’s Parenting Time on February 26, 2024, SE 3974, A Motion
Hearing was held on May 1, 2024, to address Joseph's request to find Krista in
contempt and to order ranctions. The Circuit Court entered its Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law and Order for Sanctions, Attomeys Fees and Parenting Time on Junc
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17, 2024, SR 4309, Notice of Entry was filed on June 18, 2024, SR 4313, Knista timely

filed a Notice of Appeal on July 17, 2024. SR 4332,

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Krista meorporates, by this reference, the facts contained in the Supreme Court
Opinton of LeFars v. LeFors, supra. The parties were married on June 4, 2002, Two
children were bom as a result of this marmiage, Kvden LeFors, bom July 2, 2006 and
Kaclyn LeFors, bom May 29, 2009, Kyden has reached the age of majority and is no
longer at ssue m this matter. Kaelyn is 15 years old at the time of this appeal. Krista is
the primary physical custodian of Kachyn and has been since this case was inifiated.

This matter was imtially brought by Joseph who filed for divorce in January of
2019, SR 7. The issues of custody and parenting time have been heavily litigaied
throughout this matter. Judge Kevin Krall imitially presided over this matter and granted a
Decree of Separate Maintenance. SR 966, Judge Krull granted the Decree of Separate
Maintenance on the grounds of extreme cruelty as detined bv SDCL § 25-4-4 based off
of Joseph’s abuse. S8R 813, pg_ 3. Judge Krull designated Krista as the primary custodian
of the ¢hildren and ordered shared legal custody. fd. at 4. Judze Krull found that the
children have “resisted visits with ther father™. fdl He also foumd that both children
represented that “their mother has encouraged them to go with their father. but they fear
for their safety due to past phy=sical abuse and alcohol abuse”™, /d. at 5, The past history of
physical abuse and alcohol abuse was found to constitute harmful parental misconduct by
Jozeph. fd. at 3-6, Following the issuance of the Decree of Separate Maintenance, Jozeph
appealed. SR 966, The Supreme Court Opinion in Lefors v, LeFors, supra was issued on

Mav 24, 2023, SR 2618, Judge John Fitzgerald took over this matter while the first

appeal was pending.



Following receipt of the Supreme Court Opinion, Judge Fitzgerald entered a
Scheduling Order or Remanded Tral. SR 2669, The remanded trial was held on
September 28 and 29, 2023. 8K 3374, A Judgment and Decree of Divoree was issued on
Orctober 27, 2023 SR 3374, The Court granted Krista a divorce on the grounds of
extreme cruelty as defined by SDCL § 25-4-4. 14, Custody and parenting time were not
hitigated at the divorce trial, A Notice of Appeal related to the Judgment and Decree of
Divorce was filed on November 21, 2023, 8R 3406. This Court entered its decision
affirming i part and reversing in part on Seplember 3, 2024,

A hearing was held on February 6. 2024, to address tamuly counseling and
Joseph’s parenting time, The Court spoke in camera with both children. See App. 0140-
049, Transcnipt of In Camera Proceeding with Both Children, February 6, 2024, While in
camera Kyden told Twdge Fitzgerald that I just don™t want to see him because of the
things he's has dope to me™ fd. at 029 referring to Joseph. Kvden went on to outline the
abuse he endured by Joseph. “He would grab me by the back of my neck and he would
foree me 1o the ground, He would then vell at me and call me namez™ {d at 031, Kaelyn
similarly stated that Joseph had abused her, “Because he abused me and he's with my
aunt.”" going on to tell the Court that * I don’™t want to meet with him. I don"t want
anvthing to do with him.” fd at 032, Joseph iz remarried to Krista's brother’s sx-wife.
Judge Fitzgerald asked Kaelyn about forgiving Joesph for his past actions and she stated
that she was not able to forgive him because of the abuse. See Jdl at 033. Judge Fitzgerald
asked Raelyn if she is afraid of Joseph, See fd at 035, Kaclyn states that she is “because
lwe abused us.” fd Judee Frizgerald went on to ask Kaelvn it she would feel safe at a

public place with Joseph such as Olive Garden;, Kaelvn responded that she would not fizel



safe, Sec [d. at 036, Judge Fitzgerald then asks Kaclyn, “Well, where would vou feel the
muost comfortable and the most secure to meet with vour dad, Joe?” Kaelyvn responded
“Nowhere™. fd, at 040, Judge Fitzgerald later asked Kachmn, “So what would yvou like me
to do as the judge in this case? Kaslyn? to which Kaelyn responded, =T don’t want
amything to do with Joe so I don’t want visitation or anvthing with him.” Jd. at 043,

Following the in-camera mterview o hearing was held. Judge Fitzgerald emered
an Order which discontinued family therapy and scheduled parenting time for Joseph.
App. 003-005, Court Order Discomtinuing Family Therapy and Scheduling Father's
Parenting Time: SR 3974, Judge Fitzgerald required Knsta to drop the children oft at
either Olive Garden or Culvers to have dinner with Joseph twice a week for one hour
from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. on Tuesdays and Wednesdays each week. /d. The Court further
required that Krista would drop the children off at the restaurant and leave the vicinity,
Fdl A review hearing was held on March 19, 2024, Following this hearing, Kvden was
released from any obligation to have parenting time with Joeseph due to him graduating
from high school and reaching the age of majority in the near future.

Joseph filed an Affidavit on Apnl 18, 2024, requesting that Krista be sanctioned
for failing to encourage Kaelyn enough surrounding Joseph's parenting time. SR 4151,
Krista responded 1o Joseph's affidavit with her own affidavits outlining all of her
aflempis Lo encourage Kaelyn to speak 1o Joseph. SR 4162 and 4170, During this time,
Krista would drop Kaelvn off ot the designated restaurant as ordered and would leave the
arca and Kaelym would then refuse to speak to her father or share a meal with him. SR
4170 pg. 2. Following the hearing, Judge Fitzgerald entered a Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law and Order for Sanctions, Attorney™s Fees and Parenting Time. SH
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4309, Judge Fitzgerald found that although Krista was taking kaclyn Lo the restaurants
each week that she was not doing enough to encourage the relationship between Kaelyn
and Joseph, fd He then sanctioned Krista with a fine for each of the parenting times
totating 52,000 and 52,000 in repayment of Joseph's attorney"s fees. fa. Krista timely
appealed this Order.

0F VIEW

The standard of review For findings of fact is "under the clearly erroneous
standard of review." Schigffer v. Schigffer, 2013 5.0, 11,9 15, 820 N.W.2d 627, 633. A
trial court’s findings of Fact will not be overtumed “unless a complele review of the
evidence leaves this Courl with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been
made.,” Criesen v, Criesen, 2018 5.1 36, 9 24, 911 N.W.2d 750, 756, Conclusions of law
are reviewed de novo, A v Hill, 2009 8.D, 18,9 5, 763 N.W.2d 818, 822

Any matter of judicial discretion including awards of attomey fees and remedies
for contempt are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See Hiller v Hiller, 2018 5.0 74,9
19, 919 N.W.2d 548, 554, Brognan v, Brognan, 2013 5.D. 81, 9 12, 840 N, W.2d 240,
246 (attorney fees); Sazama v, State ac rel. Muilenberg, 2007 8.1, 17,99, 729 N.W.2d
335, 340 (contempt ). Abuse of discretion "is a fundamental error of judgment, a choce
outside the range of permissible choices, a decision, which, on full consideration, is
arbitrary and unreasonable.” Thurmean v. CUNA Mui. Tns. Soc'y, 2013 8.D. 639 11, 836
N.W.2d 611, 616. Findings of fact are reviewed for clear error and will only be
overiurmed "when we are defimtely and firmly convinced a mistake has been

made.” Lakota Uiy, Homes, Tae, v Randall, 2004 5. D, 16, % 9,673 MNOW.2d 437, 440,

ARGUMENT



L. The Circait Court erred in finding Krista in contem pt without requiring Joseph
to file and serve the proper motion for order to show cause, affidavit, and order
to show cause.

A finding of contempt requires that procedural safeguards must be observed and
strictly complied with. See Thomerson v. Thomerson, 387 N.W.2d 509, 512 (SD 1986).
Civil contempt cammies the possibility of a number of pumishments meluding monetary
fines or mprisonment or both. “A prosecution for civil contempt. as distingushed from
criminal comtempt. involves Features of a formal trial mcluding the making of a charge
based on an atfidavit and the giving of notice to the contermner.” Jd. See also Frenup v.
Rentto, 74 8.1, 329, 332, 52 N W.2d 486, 488 (1952} "Due process of law, therefore, in
the prosecution of contempl, except of that committed in open court, requires that the
accused should be advised of the charges and have a reasonable opporiunity to meet them
by way of defense or explanation.” fdl at 513, See also fn re Ciliver, 333 118, 157, 68 §,
Ct. 499, 92 L. Ed. 682 (1948). 3DCL § 15-6-3(b) requires “personal service of an order
to ghow cause directing a party to show why the party should not be held in contempt™
Metzger v, Metzger, 2021 5.0 23, 915, 958 N.W.2d 715, 719. See also fn re Gillespi,
39T N.W.2d 476, 477-78 (8.D. 1986%; see also First Nat'l Bank of Omakia v, Kolucek,
2008 5.1 37, N B n.3, TS50 NW.2d 472, 474 n.3.

korista was not served an Order to Show Cause. This came before the Circunt Court on
an Affdavit of Joseph with the request that zanctions be ordered against Krista. SR 4151,
Mo Motion was filed by Joseph, Nor was an Order to Show Cause requested or
submitted. No pleading was personally served on Krista. The Affidavit was served on

Krista’s attorney, Debra Watson, via Odyvssey File & Serve, Yet, the Circuit Court in its”



Findings made specific findings on the four factors necded 1o find someone in contempt.
SE 4309, The Circuit Court cannot choose which aspects of the law of contempt it wishes
to follow.

Following the hearing, Ms. Watson objected to the Plamtiff™s Proposed Findings of
Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order for Sanctions, Attorneys Fees and Parenting
Time in part because Joseph did not follow the proper procedure Tor contempt, SR 4294,
The proper civil procedure was not followed in this case. An Order to Show Cause with
service of the same personally on Krista was required before the Court could find Knsta
m contermpt and awand sanctions against her.

The Cirenit Court errved in finding that Krista could control the actions of a 15-

vear-old.

South Dakota law recognizes that adolescents who are of a sufficient age and who can
intelligently state a preference may be given consideration by the trial court of their
preference in determining their custody and visitation schedule, See SDCL § 253443, *Tt
i eapeciallv important to give attention to the needs and wishes of children either
approachmg or in adolescence.™ Fuerstenberg v. Fuerstenberg, 1999 5.1, 35, ¥ 30, 391
N.W.2d 798, 809, “A child's parental preference deserves some consideration.” Price v.
Price, 2000 5.1 64,9 37, 611 N W.2d 425, 434 “In most circumstances, it will be in the
best interests of children that they receive the love, affection, trivining, and
companionship of their noncustodial parent. This is not true. however, where the
evidence establishes that exercise of visitation will be harmful 1o the welfare of the

children: in this event, the right of the nroncustodial parent to visit with his children can



be hmited, or, under extreme circumstances, prolmbited altogether, Weber v. Weber, 529
N.W.2d 190, 191 (5.D. 1995).

These principles are based off of the recognition that as children age, they hecome
more difficult to control, and should they state a preference and give sound reasoning
behind why they hold that preference that the court should give that preference
consideration. These principles have been established by cases similar to the one at hand
that relate directly to when parents are threatened with sanctions by the other parent when
they can no longer physically force their teenagers to comply with court orders related to
parenting time.

In this case. Kaelyn has expressed to Judge Fitzgerald her direct concerns with
exercising parenting time with JToseph very clearly in the in-camera interview that took
place. Kaelvn has also expressed the same to her counselor. Melanie Tomo. Both Judge
Fitzgerald and Mz, Tomo have discussed Kaelvn's intelligence and ability to clearly
communicate with them. The Circuit Court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
ignore kaslyn's preferences completely and instead place the burden on Krista to get
kaclyn to act i a specific way without giving her any direction on how to accomplish
this. Krista cannot control Kaelyn after Kaelyn leaves her care. Kaelyn has very clearly
stated her preferences and her concere for exercising parenting time with Joseph and
they have been completely disregarded.

kKaelyn’s actions during parenting time are consistent with her concerns and
preferences that she has voiced 10 Judge Fizgerald, The Circuit Court has completely
failed to make any findings related to Kaelvn's preferences and has failed to recognize

that this siuation is out of Erista’s control. Further, the Circutt Court has failed 1o
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eatablish how it is in the best interests of Kaclyn to continue having parenting time with
somecne who has been Tound to be abusive. Krista was granted a divorce based off of
extreme cruehty, The children witnessed Joseph’s actions towards Krista. The children
hived through how Joseph treated them. The Circuit Court s decision 1o continue
parenting time in light of Kaelyn's in-camera inferview is in error,
L. The Circait Court erved in finding that the davghter’s actions were a willful
violation by Krista and erred in ordering sanctions beconse of these actions.

A finding of contempt must be supported by clear evidence of a party’s refusal 10
follow an order of the Court. A civil contempt proceeding, requires proving the following
four elements: (1) the existence of an order; (2) knowledge of the order; (3} ability to
comply with the order; and (4) willful or contumacious disobedience of the order.”
AMetzger, 958 NJW.2d 715, 715, The review of atrial court’s findings related to contempt
are done so under a clearly erroncous standard. Jof at 719,

The Circuit Court made findings that there was a valid order, knowledge of the order,
and the ability to comply with the order, SR 4308, App. 007, The Circuit Court also
found that “Mother has not encouraged the relationship and visifations to the degree
expected of her as a parent. The Court finds that her conduct constitutes a willful failure
to comply with the Order™ [d. at 008, The Order in this case requires that Knista drive
Kaglyn to the designated restaurant twice a week and then leave the vicinity of the
restaurant, SR 3974 pa. 1. App. 003-004. Nowhere in the Court Order 12 there a
requiremaent that Krista encourage the relationship. Monetheless, Krista provided
evidence of the steps that she has taken to encourage the relationship mcluding bringing

up past happy memories, reminding Kaelvn that she enjovs eating at these restaurants,



and workmg with Kachn's coumselor to come up with ideas to help better the
relationship between Kaelyn and Joseph. TT, Motions Hearing May 10, 2024, pgs. 45-49;
App. 074-078. Krista also submitted her handwritten jouwmal outlining what she did to
encourage the relationship between Kaelyn and Joseph durning the time at 1ssue which
mcluded: telling Kaelyn her father loves her, reassuring Kaelyn that she is safe at the
restaurant, encouraging Kaelyvn to share her feelings with her father, askimg Kaelyn how
she can help her, encouraging Kaelyn to weite a letter to her father. encouraging and
reminding Kaelvn that her father wants to have a relationship with her. Exhibit 3, App.
050-062.

At the hearing, the child’s counselor, Melanie Torno, also testified. TT, Motions
Hearing May 10, 2024 pes. 34-42; App. 065-073, Ms. Tomo was asked Do vou believe
that there is anything that mother can be doing differently to encourage this
relationship? to which M=, Torno responded 1 don™t think it has anvthing to do with
Mother, [ think it has to do with the relationship between the father and the child, and the
child’s expectations of dad taking accountability of the relationship and repairing the
things within the relationship.”™ TT, 37; App. 068. Ms. Tomo alse testified that she has
not observed anvihing to mdicate that Kaelyvn is being coached related to her Feelings
about Joseph. TT, 36; App. (67. Ms. Tomo described Kaelyn as “a very serious person,
stubbom, determined. She's very focused on certain things that she would like. She's a
very intelhgent voung girl.” TT, 362 App. 067. The Circuit Court completely disregarded
the testimony provided by Ms, Tomo and did not even mention the testimony in the

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law from the hearing.
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The Circunt Court has based the entirety of the contempt vielation off of the actions of
Kaelyn following Krista dropping her off for the vasits. Krista has no conteol over
Kazlyn's actions. Krista is not even allowed to be in the vicinity of the restaurant. In
order to find someons i contempl. there must be a willful or comtumacions disobedience
of an order by one of the parties. Krista has complied with the Count Order completely.
She has taken Kaelyn to every visit and left the arca as required by the Order. A party
cannot be found i contempt for the actions of another individual. The Circuit Court has
failed to properly consider everyvthing that Krista has done to help foster this relationship.
The Circunt Court 15 punishing Knsta becanse Joseph does not hke how Kaelyn is treating
himn. Rather than Joseph taking responsibility for his own actions and how they have
mapacted his children he has suggested that Knsta has control over Kaelyn and has the
ability to force Kaclyn to speak to him at these visits. The Circuit Court has agreed with
this notion by zanctioning Krista for Kaslhyn's actions, The Circuit Court’s ruling must be
overtumed for failing to properly examine the evidence presented,

IV,  The Circait Court abused its discretion by sanctioning krista 53500 per visit
without considering Krista's financial situation.

A trial court may mclude “any sanction the court deems appropriate to the facts and
circumstances of the case.” Metzger, 958 NW . 2d 715, T18. "While SDCL 25-4A-

5 allows for the modification of custody as a sanction Tor the willful vielation of a
custody order, this remedy does not supplant the traditional best interests of the chald
standard that applies in custody disputes involving parents, Rather, the best interests
standard remains preeminent, and the court shall remain fixed upon .7 Jensen v. Hovton,

2 N.W.3d 20 (8.0, 2024).
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In the instant case, the Circuit Court made no finding related to how the Court
determined that the sanction should be $5300 per visit The Circuit Court made no findings
related to the reasonableness of this sanction nor did they make ay findings related to
how the 5300 per visit would impact Knsta's fimnancial situation and her ability to support
the minor children. The Court must consider reasonableness of sanctions while keeping
the ¢hildren s best interests at the forefront of every decision. The Circuit Court made no
findings and therefore there is no basis for determining the reasonableness of this
sanction nor how this sanction could harm the children, The award of 500 per visit is
excessive and will negatively impact the cluldren who are predominant]ly supported by
Krista.

V.  The Circoit Court erred by awarding attorney fees without making any findings

related to the factors required for awarding attorney fees,
A Circont Court must examine the necessity of an award for attomey fees and the

reasonableness of such an award by considering the following:
“Firat, the court must determine what constitutes a reasonable attorney's fee, This
requires consideration of (1) the amount and value of the property involved, (2) the
minicacy and importance of the litigation. (3) the labor and time involved, (4) the skill
required to draw the pleadings and try the case. (3) the discovery utilized. (&) whether
there were complicated legal problems, (7) the time required For the trial, and (8)
whether briefs were required. S8econd it must determine the necessity for such fee.
That is, what portion of that fee, if any, should be allowed as costs to be paid by the
opposing party. This requires consideration of the parties’ relative worth, income,
hgquidity, amnd whether ¢ither party unreasonably increased the time spent on the case.™
Craff v Goff, 2024 8.D. 57, 9 26 (quoting Urbanriak v. Urbaniak, 2011 8.1, 83, 731
B07 NOW.2d 621, 628).

Furthermore, an award for attomey fees requires specific findings by the tral cowt and

requires the tral court to enter a findings of fact and conclusions of law detailing how

they arrived at their findings and conclusions. See Urbowiak, 807 N.W.2d 621, 628
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Here, the Circuit Court has failed to make any specific findings related o the
reasonableness or the need for attorney fees. The Circunt Court did not consider the
fimancial situations of the parties, in particular it failed 1o consider Krista®s financial
situation where she 15 supporting both children. The Circuit Court failed to consider that
Krista supports the eldest son, even though he has reached the age of majority. because of
his disabilities, The Circuit Court did not consider that Joseph owes arrears Tor child
support and alimony. The attorney fees would deprive Krista and the children of the
equivalent of two months of child support. The Circuit Court has committed error by
Failing to make these specitic findings.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court has erred in finding Krista in contempt for the actions of
kKaelyn. Krsta has clearly complied with the requirements of the Court Order in this
matter. Krista has ensured that Kaelyn is at each supper visit for one hour and has left the
vicinity of the restaurants. Krista has done everything that she can to encourage the
relationship between Joseph and Kaelyn. At this point, Joseph must take responsibility
for his lack of a relationship with Kaelvn, He is solelv responsible for repairing the
relationship with hes dawghter. The evidence did not substantiate that Knsta had the
ability to make kaelyn eal dinner with Joseph. Kaelyn is a very strong-willed intelligemt
child whao has on several occasions made it very clear how she feels about parenting time
with Joseph. The decision to continue to force parenting time with Joseph is not in the
best imterests of Kaelwn, The Circuit Court did not require Joseph to follow the proper
civil procedure in requesting that Krsta be found in contempt of the Order which 15 in
error, Nor did the Circuit Court properky weigh the factors required in awarding attomey
fees, The sanctions that were ordered are excessive and will negatively impact the

 f”



children in this case. Krista respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Order of the
Circuit Court and vacate the award for sanctions and remand this matter 2o that an order

may be issued that is consistent with the best interests of the minor child,
Dated this 31st day of October, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ] IN CIRCUIT COURT

) 88,
COUMWTY OF MEADE ) FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
JOSEPH DANIEL LeFORS, ¥ FILE #4601V 19-000008
b
Plamtit, }
)
V. ¥ COURT ORDER FROM
¥ HEARING ON PARENTING TIME
KRISTA MAE LeFORS, ]
)
Defendant. b

A Court Heanng was held in the above-captioned action at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday,
December 21, 2023, before the Honarable John H. Fitzgerald, Ciecuit Court Judge, in Courtroom
No. 1 of the Meade County Courthouse in Sturgis, South Dakofa. Plaintfl Joseph Dansel LeFors
[hereafter *Jne™] appeared in person fogether with his attormey, Hollie L. Smith. Defendant
Krista Mae LeFors, [hereatter “Krista™] appeared in person together with her attorney, Debra D.
Watson, The Chaldren™s Counselor, Melanie Tormeo, and the Family Counselor, Machael
Wheaton, were also personally present. The Court met with Counsel for both parties, the
Children’s Counselor and the Family Counselor in the Court’s chambers before the formal
hearing began and, based on discussions with counsel and the professionals, the Court finds good
cause to grant the following relief:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERET} Thai due to the extenuating circumstances of the teenage
children refising contact with their father, this Court’s Order on Moton to Address Plamtitt™s

Parenting Time dated August 18, 2023 15 hereby vacated;

Page | of 2
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That the Family Counseling by Michacl Wheaton and the
Children’s Individual Counseling with Melanie Tomo shall contimie as scheduled by the
coumselors;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That both Joe LeFors and Krista LeFors are both ordered to
follow the recommendations of the Counselors;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That Krista LeFors shall encourage the children to
cooperate with the Family Counselor in the reunification plan to improve their relationship with
their Father, Joseph LeFors;

IT Is FURTHER ORDERED That Jozeph LeFors’ motion for sanclions agamst Krista
LeFors is hereby dented;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That the Children's Counselor and the Farmly Counselor
shall submit a progress report to the Court and Counsel within thirty (30) days {on or before
Januery 31, 2023); and

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That this Court shall conduct & 2% hour hearma on
parenting tme on Tuesday, February 6, 2024, from 9:00 am. to 11:30 a.m. m Courtroom No. |

of the Meade County Courthouse in Sturgis, SID.

1/4/2024 10:29:18 AM BY THE COURT: =
Altesl:
Karson, Stephany
Clerk/Deputy
— Honorable Fotu M,
Circuit Court Judge
Page 2 of 2
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STATE OF 50UTH DAKOTA ] iN CIRCUIT COURT

) 88.
COUNTY OF MEADE ) FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
JOSEPH DANIEL LeFORS, ) FILE #46DTV19-000008
)
Plaintiff. )
; COURT ORDER DISCONTINUING
Vs, ) FAMILY THERAPY AND SCHEDULING
) FATHER'S PARENTING TIME
KRISTA MAE LeFORS, )
)
Defendant. )

— -

A Court Hearing was held at 9:00 a.m, on Tuesday, February 6, 2024, before the
Honorable John H. Fitzgerald, Circuit Court Judge, at the Meade County Courthouse in Sturgis,
South Dakota. Plamtiff Joseph LeFors personally appeared with his attorney, Hollie L. Smith.
Defendant Knsta LeFors personally appeared with her attorney, Debra D). Watson. The Courl
took judicial notice of the court file, considered the reports and testimony of the children’s
therapist, Melanie Tomo, and the family therapist, Michael Wheaton, the in camera meeting with
the parties’ teenage children, Kyden and Kaelyn, and the argument of counzel, Based thereon,
the Court finds that it is in the best interests of the children to grant the following relict:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED That Krista will drop the children off at the restaurant to
have dinner with their father twice a week for approximately one hour from 6:00 p.m. to 7:00
p.m., or thereabouts, on Tuesday and Wednesday of each week beginming Tuesday, February 13,
2024, with the first dinner at Olive Garden restaurant. The schedule of dinners are as follows:

February 13: Olive Garden

February 14: (Qdoba at Rushmore Crossing
February 20: Olive Garden

Page 1 of 2
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February 21:  Culvers at Rushmore Crossing

February 27: (Qdoba at Rushmore Crossing

February 28: Texas Roadhouse

March 4: Culvers at Rushmore Crossing

March 7: Olive Garden

March 12: (Qdoba at Rushmore Crossing

March 13:  Culvers at Rushmore Crossing;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That Krista shall transport both children to the restaurant,
encourage the children to attend dinner, leave the vicimity and then return an hour later to retrieve
the children;

IT IS FURTHER ORDEERED That the parenting time 2hall only inclode Joseph and his
two children, Kyden and Kaelyn;

IT I8 FURTHER ORDERED That the family reunification counseling shall immediately
terminate; and

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED That a Review Hearitg shall be held at 9:15 am. on March

19, 2024, to review the progress and determine any changes to father’s parenting time. One hour

has been set aside for the hearing,

212612024 B:40:06 AM BY THE COURT:

Aftest:

Karson, Stephany

Clerk/Deputy
John H. Fitzperal
Circuit Court Judpge

Page 2 of 2
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Codified Laws

Homa = -
e > Codifiedlaws > 25 > 4A4 » 5 PREVIOUS NEXT

Go To:(1-1-1) or Google Ssarch QqQ,

PRINTER FRIENDLY

15-4A-5. Sanctions for violation of custody or visitation decree.

If the court finds that any party has willfully violated or willfully failed to comply with any
provisions of a custody or visitation decree, the court shall impose appropriate sanctions to punish the
offender or to compel the offender to comply with the terms of the custody or visitation decree,

The court may enter an grder clarifying the rights and responsibilities of the parents and the court's
order. The court may order one or more of the following sanctions:
(1) To require the offender to provide the other party with make up time with the child equal to the
time missed with the child, due to the offender’s noncompliance;
{2) To require the offender to pay, to the other party, court costs and reasomable atforney's fees
incumed as a result of the noncomphance;
{3} To require the offender to pay a civil penalty of not more than the sum of one thousand dollars;
(4) To require the offender to participate satisfactorily in counseling or parent education classes;
(5)  To require the offender to post bond or other security with the court conditional upor fisture
compliance with the terms of the custody or visitation decree or any ancillary court order;
{6) To impose a jail sentence on the offender of not more than three days; or
(7} In the event of an aggravated violation or multiple violations, the court may modify the existing
visitation or custody situation, or both of any minor child.
The provisions of this section do not prohibit the court from imposing any other sanction appropriate to
the facts and circumstances of the case.

Source: SL 1994, ch 195, § 5; SL 2008, ch 125, § 1; SL 2018, ch 155, § 3.

25-4A-5.1, Copy of § 25-4A-5 attached to vrder for parenting fime.
Any order of the court for parenting time shall have attached a copy of § 25-4A-5.

Source: SL 2018, ch 155, § 1.
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STATE OF SOUTH DARKOTA b IN CIRCUIT COURT

) 88
COUMNTY OF MEADE ] FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
JOSEPH DANIEL LEFORS.
STV 19000008
Plaantift,
V3 FINIMNGS OF FACT AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER
FOR SANCTIONS, ATTORNEY S FEES
ERISTA MAE LEFORS, AND PARENTING TIME
Deefendant,

A Motions Hearing was held on May 10, 2024 at 9:04 am. before the Honorable John
Fitzgerald, Circunt Court Judge, at the Meade County Courthouse in Sturgis, South Dakota.
Plamntiff. Joseph LeFors, personally appeared and with his attomey, Hollie L. 8mith. Defendant,
krista LeFors, personally appeared and with her attorney, Kelly Sanderson. The Court
considered the testimony of both parties. Melanie Tomo, the pleadings on file and the entire
record, and based upon such, the Court hereby enters the following Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law and Order regarding the same:

1. That any finding of Fact more appropriately considered a conclusion of law should be
considered as such for purposes ol the record.

2, That pursuant to SICL & 25-4A.5, if the court finds that any party has willfully violated
or willfully failed to comply with any provisions of a custedy or visitation decree, the court shall
mmpose appropriale sactions 1o punish the offender or 1o compel the ofTender to comply with the
terms of the custody or visitation decree.

The court may enter an order clarifying the rights and responsibilities of the parents and the
court's arder. The court may order one or more of the following samctions:

{1} To require the offender to provide the other party with make up time with the child

equal to the time missed with the child, due to the offender's noncompliance;

{2) Torequre the offender to pay, to the other party, court costs and reasonable

aftorney's fees incurred as a result of the noncompliance:

Page 1 of 4 LeFors v. LeFors
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{3y Torequire the offender to pay a civil penalty of not more than the sum of one
thousand dollars:

{(4) To require the offender to participate satisfactorily in counseling or parent education
classes;

(5) Torequire the offender to post bond or other secunity with the court conditional
upon future compliance with the terms of the custody or visitation decree or any
ancillary court order:

{6y To impose a jail sentence on the offender of not more than three days: or

{7y Inthe event of an aggravated violation or multiple violations, the court may modify
the existing visitation or custody situation, or both of any minor child.

The provisions of this section do not prohibit the court from imposing any other sanction

appropriate to the tacts and circumstances ol the case.

3. That there was a valid Order entered by this Court on February 26, 2024 wherein Father
would be entitled to parenting time with the children for one hour on April 1. 2, 8, 10 at certain
restaurants. The children, or at least the yvoumgest child, was 1o have dinner with Father For one
lwour on each of those designated dates, Ms. Lefors had knowledge of the Count’s Order and had
the ability to comply with the same,

4, The Court heard the festimony of hoth parties and determined the credibility of cach
witness. The Father showed up to have dinmer at the respective restaurants each week, and for a
majority of the visitations, the youngest daughter refused to even go inside the restaurant to have
ameal with her Father, Father then would follow the duughter outside where he would try to
have a conversation with her on a bench or table, but she refused to engage at all with him.

5. There was testimony relating to a scheduled visitation where there was some confusion or
misinformation about the dates and where parenting time would be following the April 10" date.
The Court finds that there was simply a miscommunication in scheduling. Despite this, the Count
finds Mother™s testimony to be disingenuous for her to be critical of Father not showing up to
one or two of the dinners, given what had occurred on the prior occasions.

6. The Court finds afler heanng testimony from the Father, that his level of frustration at
this point in the litigation 15 warranted based upon the children’s refusal to engage with
visitations. The only remedy or recourse that the Father has to receive parenting time and have a

relationship with his cluldren is to seek court intervention. Consistent with 8.1). Codified Laws §
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25-5-T.0, “[e]ach parent sharing jomt legal custody of their child shall foster the other parent's
relationship with the child™.

7. The Court having considered the credibility of the witnesses at the evidentiary hearing
and in light of the history of this case, the Court finds that Mother certainly has the ability to
comply with the Order and has not made efTorts sufTicient enough o encourage parenting tome o
occur. The Court determines that in light of the testimony, affidavits and facts presented in this
case, Mother has not encouraged the relationship and visntations to the degree expected of her as
a parent. The Court finds that her conduct constitutes a willful failure to comply with the Order.

8, The Mother has the opportunity to comply with the Order and encourage these visitations
a5 she 15 the primary parent and the child lives with her primarily all of the time.

9, The youngest daughter 15 a very bright and mtelligent voung lady. If the Court were to
believe that Mother has done what is expected of her as parent in this situation, then the Court
could not also believe that she would not be able to discourage her danghter from getting
mvolved m the temptations that exist in life and 1 think that Mother has done that.

1. The Court heard testimony relating 1o the children’s desire to change their name. The
Court finds that the Mother is not encouraging a relationship with their Father when she is not
discharging the daughter from being in a track meet using the name of Knudson instead of
Lefors. It is reasonable that the Father is concemed that he shows up to the children's events and
lus danghter & participating under a difterent name than his name and the daughter has no right
to be doing that,

11, Mather is fully capable of encouraging the chifdren to meet with her Father and she has
failed 1o do it o the degree required by law. The Court recalls that Mother testified 1o being a
daddy’s girl, and so Mother is very well equipped to encourage a relationship of some sort with
Father and the daughter. and she has not done that.

12, It s not lost on the Court that the expectation for this parenting time was that of a gradual
parenting plan wherein the meals and visitations would be expanded over time with Father. The
Court believes that the one-hour designated meal times 13 not a difficult visitation and the Court
considers that under these findings. Mother did not encourage the daughter to =it down and do a
very simple task which was to sit with her Father at dinner for one hour and engage in

Conversation.
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13. In light of the findings above, the Court consistent with SDCL § 25-4A-5, sanctions
Mother 5500.00 for each of the April occasions. for a total of 52,000.00. In addition. Father shall
be awarded 52,0000 in attorney’s fees and costs in having to seek count imervention for her
noncompliance with the Order, This shall be designated as a money judgment in favor of Father
and against Mother.

14, The Court reiterates that sanctions and attorney’s fees against the Mother could increase
and get worse if there 12 continued noncompliance.

135, As for ongoing parenting time, beginning the week of May 3, 2024, Father shall have
parenting time with the children twice per week on Tuesdays and Wednesdays tor one hour at
Olive Garden and Culvers, with the parties altemating the restaurants, This parenting time shall
continue this amrangement for a period of 20 days. Due fo Kaclyn LeFors having a hanguet
dinner on the 28" and that Father would like her to participate, Father's dinner will be
rescheduoled to a make-up day,

16, The Court, however, reiterates that track and other extracurmicular activitics come second
to Father's parenting time. absent an agreement otherwise.

17. Father will be out of town June % through June 159, 2024, and makeup time will be
granted, The parties shall communicate directly on schaduling the proper make-up time for
parenting fime.

18. Mr. Lefors shall have Kaelvn on June 16. 2024 for Father's Dav for ong hour.

GM1T/2024 3:16:00 PM
BY THE COURT: FR s

HONORABLE JOHN
Circuit Court Judge
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STATE OF SCUTH DAKOTA

COUNTY OF MEADE

.

JOSEPH D. LEFORS,
Plaintiff,
Vs,
KRISTA M. LEFORS,
Defendant.

I

IN CIRCUIT COURT

FOURTH JUDICIAL CIFCUTT

In Camera Froceedings With
Both Children

46DTV19-8

BEFORE: THE HOMORAEIE JOHN FITZGERALD
Circuit Court Judge
Sturgis, South Dakota
February €, 2024 at 9:00 a.m.

(These proceedings were audio recorded.)
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(WHEREUPCON, the following proceedings were audio
recorded via computer in chambers with the Court, Court
Feporter, and Kyden LeFors and Kaelyn LeFors, pressnt:)
THE COURT: My name is Joln Fitzgerald and T'm a circuit
court Judge, but before T was a Judge, T was the state's
attorney in Deadwood where I served up there for a mumber
of years, that's what T did. I'wve got three growm children
and then I have six grandchildren. Tammy is a court
reporter and my assistant and apparently she's met with you
guys once before.

COURT REFORTER:  Yep.

THE COURT: And I kind of know your mom and dad just from
court, but I've just heard about you guys, but I've never
met you. S0 let me see, Kyden, 15 that how 1t's
pronounced?

EXYDEN: Kyden.

THE COURT: Kyden, okay. Spell 1t, Eyden.

FXDEN: E=Y=D=E=N.

THE COURT: Kyden. What's your middle initial, Kyden?
KYDEN: Michael.

THE COURT: Michael. And when are you going to turn 187
KYDEN: July 2nd.

THE COURT: ©h, wow. Pretty soon. And your name?
FAFTYN: HKaelyn.

THE COURT: KRaelyn?
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FAELYM: TYep.

THE COURT: EKaelyn, what's your middle name?

FAELYN: Mae.

THE, COURT: Mae?

FAELYN: Starts with an M.

THE COURT: And when's your birthday?

FAFLYN: May 20, 2009,

THE COURT: ¢<h, it's coming up?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: May's my favorite month.

FAELYN: Same.

THE COURT: I= it?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Is 1t because your birthday is then or just ——
FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT FEPCETEER: Well, and her made middle name is Maes
LoD,

FAFLYN: TUm=huh.

THE COURT: ©Ch, yeah, that's right.

KARLYN: Um—huh.

THE COURT: Is that a coincidence or is that --
KAETLYN: Well, T don't actually know, but my mom has a
middle name Mae and I think my grandma does too =o...
THE COURT: Is Mae?

HAELYN: Yeah.
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THE COURT: ©h, that's pretiy cool,

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: So, Kyden, what grade in school are you in?
KEYDEN: 12th grade.

THE COURT: What — where do you go to school?

KYDEN: Douglas High School.

THE COURT: Which one?

EYDEN: Douglas High School.

THE COURT: ©h, Douglas. I know where that's at. It's up
on the base, isn't i1t, or close to the base=7?

EAELYN: It's close o the base, yveah.

THE COURT: How about you, Kaelyn?

FAELYN: T go to the same school, but I'm a freshman.
THE COURT: ©h. And, EKyden, what do you want to do for a
living when you get cut of school?

EXYDEN: Probably work stocking shelves and...

THE COURT: Okay. Do yvou have a Job now?

FYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Where at?

KYDEN: At Timmons.

THE COURT: What is Timmons?

KYDEN: The grocery store that's there,

THE COURT: Grocery store that's in where?

EXYDEN: TIn Box Elder.

THE COURT: In Box Flder. Okay, that's what I thought.
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Kaelyn, how about you, do you work?

EAETYN: No.

THE COURT: Okay. What do you want to do when you get
older?

FAELYN: I den't know. T probably want to be a
veterinarian.

THE COURT: A wveterinarian?

EARTYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Well, Tammny, tell them about your hushand.
THE COURT FEPCRTER: My husband is a weterinarian.
THE COURT: Did you know that?

KAELYN: No.

THE COURT: Big animals, small animals, or all animals?
EARTYN: All of them.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Good.

THE COURT: All of them?

KAELYN: Umr—huh.

THE COURT: Do you see that big animal?

FAETYN: Yeah.

THE COURT REPCRTER: The judge has buffalo.

THE COURT: Yeah, that's mine.

FAELYN: Ch.

THE COURT: I just tock that last winter.

FAELYN: OCh.

THE COURT REPCRTER: They're big.
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THE CJURT: That's a bull. I don't know how veterinarians
work on animals that big, but I guess they do.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: They do. They're big and scary.
THE COURT: So you must love animals?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Reminds me of my granddaughter Permy.
She loves animals. She has two rabbits.

FEAFELYN: 8o do I.

THE COURT REPCRTER: You have two rabbits?

THE COURT: You hawve rabbits? You're kidding.

EAFLYN: HNo, I do.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Cool.

THE COURT: Wow. Well, Penny would lewe that.

THE COURT REPCRTER: What are your rabbits' names?
FAELYN: Hops and Baby.

THE COURT: Boys ot girls, or do you know?

KAELYN: Boy and a girl.

THE COURT: Boy and a girl. Where do you guys live at?
FAELYN: Antelope ridge.

THE COURT: Where?

EYDEN: Antelope Ridge.

KAELYN: It's Antelope Ridge.

THE COURT: ©Ckay. Where's that at?

FAFLYN: Down Tower Road.

THE COURT: Out by the base?
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EYDEN:; Yeah, it's right next to the base. It used to
be ==

KAELYN: It used to ke on the bhase.

KEYDEN: It used to be part of the base.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: It's old base housing that they turned
into ——

FAELYMN: TYeah.

THE COURT: <h, I've probably seen it.

FAELYN: Yeah, you probably have.

THE COURT: Is it pretty — I mean, is it a big
development, like a lot of houses or just a few?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Ch, it is?

EYDEN: It's got quite a few.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Like apartments or houses?

KRELYN: Houses.

THE COURT: So, Kyden, how long have you lived there?
EYDEN: I would say since maybe, I beliewve, 2021.

THE COURT: ©Ch, a couple years?

FAELYN: Yesh, I don't ewven know how many years, but it's
been a. lot.

THE COURT: But before that didn't you live on the base or
close to the base?

FAERLYMN: TYeah, we lived on base.

THE COURT: So how long have you lived in and around, we'll
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say the base?

EX¥DEN: T believe like almost like --

KAELYMN: Ten years.

EYDEN: T think like even maybe 13 years.

THE COURT: OCkay. Most of your livea?

KAELYN: Yeah.

FYDEN: Um=lhuh.

THE COURT: EHKaelyn, where were you born?

FAELYMN: Tdaho.

THE COURT: Whoa'! How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: Yeah, Idaho.

THE COURT: Same place, Idaho?

FAELYN: TUm-huh.

KYDEN: Um-huh,

THE COURT: Was vour dad on a base or scmething, or why
ware you guys in Idaho?

KAELYN: I'm pretty sure he was in the military.
THE COURT: In the malitary?

FAETYN: And then we got moved here when T was one.
THE COURT: So that's probably why you're in Idaho?
FRAELYN: TUm~huh.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: Yeah, do you know the name of that
base? Isn't it & different kind of neme?

FAFLYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: Was your dad in the Air Force?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©kay. Are you close enocugh at Antelope Ridge
to hear those big old jets taking off and landing?
EAFELYN: Sometimes.

THE COURT: Sometimes?

KAELYN: Yeah.

FEYDEN: T heard the one crashing.

EARTYN: Oh, yeah, we heard the ——

THE COURT: ©h, I heard about that on the news.

FYDEN: T could hear what scunded like bomb shells going
TE.

THE COURT: Yeah, that was just recently.

FYDEN: Um=huh.

THE COURT REPCORTER: That's kind of scary.

THE COURT: Well, Kaelyn, if you're going to be a
veterinarian, you'll have to do really well at school and
go to school for a long time.

FAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Are you coamitted to doing that?

KAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: OCkay.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Do you like science a lot?

KAELYN: MNo, I hate science.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: OCops.

THE COURT: You'll have to learn to like that a little bBit.
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FAFLYN: TYeah, well, I like science on animals. I don't
like any other kind of science though.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Like biclogy, you like biclogy
probably?

KRELYN: Yeah. I don't understand any other kind of
sclence.

THE COURT: ©Okay. HNow at Antelope Ridge, do you live in an
apartment, a duplex, a single family house? T mean, how do
you get to have your rabbits out there?

EYDEN: Tt'as a four --

THE COURT: Four?

FYDEN: —-- house. It's got a house and then a house and
then a house and then a house.

THE COURT: Like a four plex?

FAELYN: Yeah.

ENDEMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. And s¢ you have a backyard then, or do
you keep the rabbits inside?

FAELYN: We keep the rabbits insides, but we also have a
dog.

THE COURT: Ch.

HAETYN: So, yeah, we have a backyard, but it's not like a
really big backyard.

THE COURT: How long hawve you had the rabbits?

FAELYN: That's a good cquestion. 1 think they're going to
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bhe four. So I think we've had them for three years.

THE COURT: Wow. So I was telling my granddaughter Penny
that I had rabbkits. This was a few years ago. As an adult
I had rabbits, and the first question she asked me is, and
she was really like suspicious looking, she says, "And do
your eat them?" I said, "Moo, I wouldn't eat rabbits. They
were pets." But she's really an animal locwer, sc she was
concerned that — but that wasn't true. I just really like
rabbits myself, and I hawve grandkids, but I think ewven
before the grandkids, T just liked to raise rabbits because
we lived cut of town. They're really a cool animal.
FAELYN: Um-huh, I loved — I've always loved bunnies for
1ike a wvery lohg time.

THE COURT: Yes. How about you, Kyden, do you like — do
you have animals, or is it Just your sister?

EXYDEN: T have a dog.

THE COURT: What's your dog's name?

BXDEMN: Coa.

THE COURT: Coa?

KYDEN: Um-huh, We call him Coa Blue because he's got blue
eyes.

THE COURT: What kind?

KYDEN: He's a Husky.

THE COURT: ©h, those are pretty dogs.

FAELYN: Um-huh.
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THE COURT: <Ch, Tammy and I hawve this case, it wasn't long
ago, where these pecple that were fighting in a divorce
over their dog, Puckey. It was —— the hearing lasted
several hours.

THE COURT FEPCETER: Puckey was cute though.

THE COURT: Very interesting. Very interesting. So what
else do you like to do besides animals, Kaelyn?

EARTYN: T do sports.

THE COURT: What kind of sports?

FAELYN: Cross country, cheerleading, and track.

THE COURT BEPCRETER: What sport do you do cheerleading for?
Foothall?

FAFLYN: Basketball.

THE COURT: Baskethall?

FAELYN: Umhuh.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: That's a lot.

THE COURT: What's the name of the team? I've been in
Douglas's gym before.

FAELYN: That's a good question. I think it's just
Douglas. I don't really —

THE COURT: Does Douglas hawve like a symbol like --
FAFELYN: Well, we have like a Patriot.

THE COURT: ©h, Patriots, okay. How about you, Kyden, are
you in any sports?

EXYDEN: Mo,
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THE COURT: What do vou do besides working, or does that
keep you busy encugh?

KYDEMN: That keeps me busy enough.

THE COURT: How much are you working? Like do you work
20 hours or just the weekends, or how —

KYDEN: Two and a half hours every wesk.

THE COURT: When?

EYDEN: From 2:30 te 5 o'clock.

THE COURT: And Timmeohs 1s right there in Box Elder, is
that right?

EYDEN: Unm-huh.

THE COURT: ©kay. Where do you guys like to eat?
FAETYN: Olive garden.

THE COURT: You too? How much do you like Qlive Garden?
FAELYN: A lot. I lowe pasta.

THE COURT: You lowve pasta. Tell me about what you usually
get there at Olive Garden.

FAFLYN: Tt depends. Sometimes I always share with my mom,
but sometimes I'll get like a kids meal which has
spaghetti.

THE COURT: I've had it. BAnd do you get the meat balls
with it?

KAELYN: No.

THE COURT: MNo, Jjust the pasta?

FAELYN: Yeah, 1t fills me up enough.
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THE CJJRT: Yeah. How often do you get to go there?
KAFLYN: MNot a lot.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: T get the one soup, the potato one.

FRAELYN: The Zuppa?

KYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: The what?

EAELYN: Zuppa.

EXDEN: The Zuppa, the potato zoup cne.

THE COURT: It must be Ttalian or samnething, huoh?

EYDEN: And I get a cheese pasta. Yeah, the raviolis or
scne sort of —

THE COURT: ©Ch, that's good. Making me hungry.

THE COURT REPCRTER: I Inow, me too. I want a breadstick
really bad now.

THE COURT: Do you guys get like -- doen't they have like
unlimited salad too?

FAELYMN: Yeah.

FYDEN: TYeah.

THE COURT: You get all the salad you want and usually
breadsticks too so you can f£fill up on that?

FAELYIN: Yeah.

THE COURT: All right. How about fast food, where do you
like to eat fast food at? McDonald's? Burger King? Taco

places? Kaslyn?
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FAELYN: I don't really like — T like fast focd, but like
I don't at the same time. I'd probably pick like
McDonald's. And then I can't remsmber t it's called,
but it's a Mexican restaurant.

THE COURT: Which Mexican restaurant?

KAELYN: T don't remember what it's called.

THE COURT: Where's it at?

EAFTYN: TIt's by the mall.

F¥DEN: 1It's the one that's by that hotel.

FAETYN: Yeah, it's by the hotel. T don't --

THE COURT: By the mall?

FEYDEN: Yeah, so the mall, vou go up this way on the road
that goes to the mall and then the reataurant is right here
with a parking lot and there's a hotel.

FAELYN: Yeah.

EXYDEN: And then there's a road that goes that way.
KAELYN: I don't remember names of rcads and stuff all the
way over there.

THE. COURT BEPCRTER: Is it Qdoba?

KAELYMN: HNo.

EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: What kind of food do you like at the Mexican
restaurants?

KAELYN: Enchiladas.

EXYDEN: Enchiladas.
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THE COURT: ©h, really? I like those toc. Is that your
favorite meal, Kyden, 13 the enchiladas, or is it --
EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: -- Olive Garden?

KYDEN: It depends on. I like them all.

THE COURT: You like them all. When's the last time you
went to Olive Garden?

EYDEN: I believe a month ago.

THE COURT: Whe did you go with?

EYDEN: ©Our mom.

THE COURT: Where does mom work? Krista, right?

FAELYN; Yeah, I don't know. It's some like mail place.
FYDEN: Um=huh.

THE COURT: What town?

FAELYN: I think it's —-

EXYDEN: Tt's between Rapid City and Box Elder.

FAELYN: Yeah, I don't really know.

THE COURT: Okay. Do you see that big plant?

FAETYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: That's an Aloe Vera and the story about that
one is is that T just brought it in here like a week ago
and 1t was all turning pale because 1t had been 1n a place
where it wasn't as well heated and it was apparently not
getting enocugh light and it tuwrned green just ocver the

weekend, so anywavs...
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So Olive Garden is both of your favorite places?
EAFLYN: Um-huh.
THE COURT: Okay. And when was the last time you were
there, Kaelyn?
FAELYN: The same time Kyden was.
THE CCURT: A menth ago?
FAFLYN: 7Yesh, something like that.
THE COURT: With mom?
FAELYMN: Yeah.
THE COURT: All raight. And then Kaelyn likes McDonald's
and then Kyden's fawvorite fast food place is a taco place
but we can't remember the name of it where you get
enchiladas?
EYDEN: It's various. I could eat at McDonald's, or it
Just depends on —
THE COURT: But you do like Mexican food? And are you
particular about what taco place you go to, or how about
Taco Johns, Taco Bell?
FAELYN: TI'wve never been to Taco Johns.,
THE COURT: ©h, you never have? That's pretty good food.
EAELYN: No.
THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?
KYDEN: 1I'd go to Tace Bell.
THE COURT: Taco Bell. A1l right, so then is everything

goling okay at home, HKaslyn?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: Doing okay in school?

FAELYN: I hawe all As.

THE COURT: ©h, that's -— wouw.

FAELYN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: That's impressive. Kyden, iz everything golng
all right with you at home?

EYDEN: Yeah. My grades are As and Bs. T have an F in
math because talking on the phone and seeing Joe makes me
stressed and I canmot concentrate.

THE COURT: ©h. You talk to ham on the phone? You're
talking about your dad? You call him Joe or dad?

FAELYN: Joe.

EYDEN: I call him Joe.

THE COURT: Okay.

EXYDEN: But the only thing T say to him is "good-bye, Jos."
More of a — I don't really care to talk to him because I
don't want to talk to him.

THE COURT: Because of stuff in the past?

KYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: Have you ever heard that expression about scpe
things fram the past should just stay in the past?

KAELYN: TYesah, I've heard that before.

EXYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: You'wve heard that? Where did you hear that,
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Kaelymn?

KAELYN: Prokably a movie or something.

THE COURT: <h. Do you think that's true sometimes?
KAELYN: Sometimes, yeah.

THE COURT: 7You have a notebook too?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: What's in your notebook?

EARTYN: All my stuff.

THE COURT: Well, what kind of stuff? 5chool stuff?
FAFLYN: Mo, 1it's like about Joe.

THE COURT: Okay.

FAELYN: Well, it's like notes and so like I can read it
and then like everything comes back to me I gquess.

THE COURT: Oh, okay.

FAELYN: Do you want to hear everything?

THE COURT: If you want to read some of it to me, but is it
about like mom and dad kind of stuff?

EAFLYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you think scme of that stuff should stay in
the past?

KARLYMN: Yes.

THE COURT: How come?

FAELYN: Because like — I don't know.

THE COURT: Well, sometimes memories that aren't pleasant

den't comjure U pleasant thoughts and so sometimes it's
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just better to not always focus on scme of the stuff in the
past.

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. Kyden, what do you think about that?
KYDEN: I -just don't want to see him because of the things
he's done to me.

THE COURT: Well, yeah, but he i1s your dad, Kyden. He'll
always be your dad. Do you think that pecple can make
mistakes in their past?

FYDEN: Tt depends.

THE COURT: Hawve you ever made any mistakes?

KEYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: And what -- do you ever learn from them?
Bacause, I mean, I've made them iIn the past and sanetimes I
think I get waluable lessons from them.

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: How about — Kaeslyn, you'd agree?

FAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: That sometimes you make mistakes and you learn
from them?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Ckay. Kyden?

EYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: You do? Because people do make mistakes, you

knew, and they can change. Do you think that's true,
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Kaelymn?

KAELYN: Some people can, yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. What makes them change?

FAELYN: I don't knou.

FKYDEN: Their brain.

THE COURT: Well, do you — what, Kyden?

FAELYN: Their brain.

THE COURT: oOkay. Do you think it takes a commitment
scmetimes that people change because they conmit, they say
to themselwves IT'm going to change and I'm going to take
actions to changes and I'm going to believe that I can
change?

FYDEN: Um=huh.

THE COUFRT: How about you, HKaslyn?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: So, Tammy, have anything you want to add?
THE COURT REPCRTER: I don't think so.

THE COURT: Okay. Got any gquestions for me, Kaelyn?
FAETYN: T don't think T have any gquesticns.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: HNot any questicons?

E¥YDEN: No.

THE COURT: Well, let's talk a little bit about your dad,

Kyden. You have a notebook there and does that have
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different things that have happened between you and —
well, yeu call him Joe -- betiwreen you and Joe, is that
right?

EYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Do you think that some of those things could
stay in the past and that you could at least get to an
understanding to see him and maybe have a dinner with him?
EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: How come?

FYDEN: Because he abused me. He would grab me by the back
of my neck and he would force me to the grouned. He would
then yell at me and call me names.

THE COURT: ©Okay. When did that last happen though, Kyden?
EYDEN: When he was still with us.

THE COURT: Baecause I think this divorce has been going on
since about 2018 or "19, is that about right?

KAELYMN: It's been like five years.

THE COURT: Five years. All right. Same question to you,
Faslyn?

KAELYN: What was the question?

THE COURT: Well, can you put some of what happened in the
past with your dad?

KAELYN: HNo.

THE COURT: It's just going to be samething that's -- you

can't forgive him?
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FAFLYM: No.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Explain why.

KAELYN: Because he abused me and he's with my aunt.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Because he's -- all right, so that makes
the family dynamics difficult?

KAELYMN: Um—huh.

THE COURT: Explain.

HAELYN: Because it like confuses my cousins and they think
that we're siblings because their mom is married to Joe and
they act different when they're with their mom so...

THE COURT: Yeah, but I mean how about just meeting with
your dad that wouldn't invelve the cousins?

FAFTYN: T don't want to meet with him. T don't want
anything to do with him.

THE COURT: When's the last time — well, you went to
counseling sessions with him with -- was it Mr. Wheaton?
KAELYN: “Yeah.

THE COURT: At his office. When was the last time that
want on?

KAELYN: Wednesday.

THE COURT: Last Wednesday?

FAELYIN: Yeah.

THE COURT: How did it go?

FAFLYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: Did vyou talk to your dad?
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FAFLYM: No.

THE COURT: How come?

KAELYN: Because I don't want anything to do with him.
THE COURT: He doesn't want to have anything to do with
you?

FAELYN: No, he definitely wants something do with me
because he doesn't stop like trying to get counseling and
stuff for us.

THE COURT: He — okay. You have kind of a soft wvoice.
FAFLYN: Yeah, I was sick, so 1t's like --

THE COURT: He wants to have stuff to do with you or he
does not want to?

FAELYN: He does, but T don't want anything to do with him.
THE COURT: ©Okay. But you'll always be his daughter.
FAELYN: Yeah, I know that.

THE COURT: And you don't think that he's deserving of,
well, forgiving him for same of the things that he's done
in the past?

KAELYN: HNo.

THE COURT: Have you done things that you would want to
hawve pecple forgive you about or not?

KAETYN: Yes, but I've never abused somebody. 2Bbuse 13
kind of hard te forgive.

THE COURT: Yeah. But he'll always be your dad.

HAELYN: Yeah.
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THE CJURT: And he has a right to ask — go shead, Tammy.
THE COURT FEPCETER: Well, have you gquys ever heard of
somebody hurting saneone's family member and it's horrible
for this family because this person hurt their family
metber, but somehow they eventually forgive that person?
Hawve you guys ever seen that?

FAELYMN: TYeah.

THE COURT FEPCETER: I mean, that's pretty amazing, isn't
1t?

FAFLYN: TUm-huh.

THE COURT: What do you think, Kaslyn?

KAELYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: Well, if you're getting stralght Rs, you're
doing pretty well in school?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: And so you have adjusted to whatever situation
you found yourself in pretty well, haven't you?

FAFTLYN: T guess.

THE COURT: Well, not everyone gets straight As, do they?
KAELYMN: HNo.

THE COURT: Are you in like the top of your class at
school?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: And you must realize that you have to do that

to achisve your goals?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: Well, that's a plus. B5So what happened at the
counseling? I mean, did your dad drink in the past?
ERELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Did he drink when you met with him at
the counseling office?

FAFLYN: Mot that T know of.

EYDEN: HNot that T know of.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Do you know what 1t amells like,
alcohol?

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Diad you smell anything like that?

FAETYN: T wasn't close enough.

EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: Well, sometimes ——- because I've seen that you
can smell it for a long distance away, 3¢ I think that he
wasn't drinking when he showed up at the counseling
S8331011.

FAETYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Are you afraid of him?

EARELYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Why are you afraid of him?

KAELYN: Because he abused us,

THE COURT: But that was like -- when was the last time

that happoened? Was that five years ago?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©Okay. And if you're in a public setting --
like what if he was te take you to Olive Garden, you'd be
in a public setting eating at a restaurant. Nothing's
goityg to happen there. Wouldn't you agree?

FAELYN: No.

THE COURT: You wouldn't agree with that?

ERELYN: No.

THE COURT: How come?

FAFLYN: Because I still don't feel comfortable or safe.
THE COURT: Explain that. Because it just seems like how
would you feel uncomfortable when you're in a public area?
FAFTYN: Because Joe's there.

THE COURT: Huh?

FAELYN: Because Joe 13 there.

THE COURT: Yeah, no, I know, know that, but. ..

KYDEN: He could still call us names.

THE COURT: Yeah, but when's the last time, Kyden, that
he's called you a nhame?

KAELYN: Right before he left,

THE COURT: ©Okay. But we're still talking kind of fiwve
years ago, right, Kyden? Do you really think he'd call you
8 hame noW, even in a restaurant?

EAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: But don't you think that he really wants to
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spend scme time with you?

EXDEN: No.

THE COURT: Why do you think that he's asking the court to
spend time with you? Kyden?

FYDEN: I den't khow, probably to abuse me more or call me
namss because at wvisitation, Joe would try to — when we
would walk away from him, he would try to get in my head by
making me scared and he told me that I would have to move
out when I turned 18 and live on my own.

THE COURT: Was he angry when he said that?

EYDEN: HNo, he was more [inaudible).

THE COURT: But now you know that's not true because you
don't even live with him obwviously; you live with mom.
KYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: How about you, Kaelyn?

FRELYN: What?

THE COURT: Can you forgive him at all?

FLELYN: MNo.

THE COURT: Newer?

FAELYN: Newver,

THE COURT FEPCRTER: What if you guys went to Cliwve Garden
and he didn't call you a name and he didn't abuse you,
would you go again?

FAELYN: No.

THE COURT: Well, what would you do if the roles were
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reversed and you were Joe, your dad, and you really loved
your daughter and your daughter was telling you that you
made mistakes five years ago, how would you ever get the
situation remedied.

KYDEN: Get help and take responsibility.,

KAELYN: I would like take my — get help, take
responsibility from the beginning, and if he still wanted
nothing to do with me, then whatever.

THE COURT: Yeah, but do you understand that you only get
so many kids when you're growm up?

FAELYN: Yep.

THE COURT: You know, and you can't just go get new cnes.
FAELYN: Well, he kind of did.

THE COUERT: No. Bioclogically you're his offspring.
FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Right?

KAELYN: “Yeah.

THE COURT: These other kids are =- are they cousins to
you?

KAELYMN: Yeah.

EYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: OCkay. They're not his biological kids so he
doean't get to get scme new cnes. But, Kyden, I think vyou
said -- you said take responsibility?

EYDEN: Umn-—huh,
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THE CJURT: What else?

EXYDEN: Get help.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Well, for what? Like drinking?

KYDEN: Yeah, and being abusiwve.

THE COURT: ©Okay. »And if he did that?

KYDEN: And if he doesn't —— or if then we still don't have
anything to do with him, then he would then hawve to accept
the fact.

THE COURT: Well, but I mean, that's almost —— Kyden,
that's almost an impossibility there. I mean, it's like
you get help, you don't drink, you accept responsibility
and then you don't get anywhere because then the child
says, well, I still don't want toe have anything to do with
YOU, S50...

FAELYN: It's a little too late now,

THE COURT: Huh?

KAELYMN: My wolce is dying.

THE COURT: Yeah.

FAETYN: Tt's a little too late now. You should have got
help from the beginning.

THE COURT: Well, people make mistakes.

FAELYN: I know.

THE COURT: Pecple ask for forgiveness and they try to move

on and sanetimes they commit to making changes in their

lives. Hawve you ever seen anyone change, really change?
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FAELYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Who?

KAELYN: Well, like not in person, but like in movies
people change.

THE COURT: Um-huh, Well, I think in real life people do
change.

FAELYMN: TYeah.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

FYDEN: It depends.

THE COURT: %Yeah. Well, that's true. But you believe it's
true that people do chare?

FYDEN: Sometimes. It depends on the person.

THE COURT: Well, where would you feel the most camfortable
and the most secure Co meet with your dad, Joe?

FAELYN: Nowhere.

THE COURT: Well, of all of the places, what strikes you as
the place?

THE COURT BEPCRTER: Like you have to pick, let's just say
you have to pick a place, what would you pick?

FAELYN: I can't pick one.

THE COURT: You can't?

FAELYIN: No.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Or you won't?

FAFLYN: I won't.

THE COURT: Well, do you think you make my Job =sasier?
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AELYMN;: Yeah, I would.

THE COURT: Kyden, how about you?

EYDEN: I'd hawve to agree I wouldn't deo that.

THE COURT: So then what do you expect Joe to do?
FAELYN: Leave us alone,

THE COURT: But, yvou know, he has obligations too.
FAELYN: I lnow.

THE COURT: What kind of cbligations do you think he has?
FAELYN: Like what do you mean?

THE COURT: Well, what kind of obligations does your dad
have Lo you? Does — well, I'11 help yvou out,
Financially, do you think he has financial obligations?
FAFTLYN: To us?

THE COURT: To ywou, Lo the children. When you have
children, do you think fathers have responsibilities to pay
for —

KAELYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

FYDEN: Um—huh.

THE COURT: Do you think he's doing that?

EAELYN: No.

THE COURT: Wwhy, what makes you say that?

KAELYN: Because mom doesn't have a lot of money.

THE COURT: Right. Do you blame him for that?

ERELYN: Well, he's the one that's not paying.

App. 041




—

THE COURT: Okay. What's he not paying?

KAELYN: Child suppert.

THE COURT: Okay. 50 do you thaink that that would go a
ways towards making you more receptive to spending some
time with him if he was living up to his financial
obligation?

FAELYN: NMo.

THE COURT: Well, then how can he win?

FAELYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: I mean, you expect him to pay what he owes for
SURpOre?

FAELYN: Yep.

THE COURT: But then in return do you think that he should
be entitled to visitation or —

FAELYN: HNo.

THE COURT: HNo, okay. What makes you feel that way, just
because you got mistreated in the past?

FAFLYN: Yeah, because I don't feel safe with him, nor do I
feel comfortable with him.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Now Eyden has articulated, you know, he
said to me that he was abusive towards him.

FAELYN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: What did he do to you to make you feel that
way'?

FAELYN: He mastly abused my mom and Kyden.

App. 042




—

THE CJURT: Ckay.

KAELYN: He would slap me in the back.

THE COURT: How many times did he slap you?

FAETLYN: T don't know how many times.

THE COURT: Well, more than ten?

KAELYN: T don't think more than ten.

THE COURT: More than fiwve?

EARTYN: Probably.

THE COURT: Did you de anything -- and I'm not saying that
anycne deserves to be spanked, but T mean were you doing
anything that caused that in —-

KAELYN: No.

THE COURT: =-- his opinion or your opinion?

KRELYN: It was like the middle of my back is where he'd
slap me and sometimes I'd end up with a mark.

THE COURT: But you said this only happened between five
and ten times in your whole life?

FAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Did he apologize for that?

FAELYN: No, he acted like it newver happened.

THE COURT: So what would you like me to do as the judge in
this case? HKaslyn?

KAELYN: I don't want anything to do with Joe 30 I don't
want visitaticn or anything with him.

THE COURT: So you want me to just tell him he can't ever
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see you again?

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE CCOURT: What if he says no?

FAELYN: I don't knou.

THE COURT: Kyden, what do you want me to tell your dad?

KYDEN: That we don't want to see him.

THE COURT: TYeah. And what if he says, well, that's not

good encugh, T think T have a right as Kyden's dad to spend

same time with him?

FYDEN: Well, IT'm almost 18.

THE COURT: Yeah, I know that. I think you said your

birthday is July Znd. Kyden, can you think of anything?
Well, I always believe in coampromise, that, you know,

people need to find scame Kind of a middle ground in a lot

of things. Kyden, do you think that's true?

ENDEN: Um-luh.

THE COURT: How about wvou, Kaslyn?

FAFLYN: TYeah.

THE COURT: And that judges don't always make declsions

that ewveryone's happy with.

FAFLYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Do you think that's true?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: Umn-—huh,
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THE CJURT: Do you think you have to cbhey a judge when they
issue orders in a lawful way in a court proceeding?

EAELYN: ‘Yeah.

THE COURT: Kaelyn, huh?

FAELYN: I'we been doing that.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Well, good for you. Kyden?

FYDEN: Um=lhuh.

THE COURT: Tammy, any other gquestions?

THE COURT REPCRTER: I don't think se.

THE COURT: Guys, have anything you want to say to me?
EAELYN: T den't think so.

THE COURT: Well, it's been a pleasure for me to get to
meet you because T hear about you guys all the time in this
case that's beeh goling on.

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Ad so it's really a positive for me to get to
see you and put a name and a face together., Kyden, it's
the same with you, I'wve heard about you and a lot about you
both and it's been a pleasure for me to get to meet you ared
it really helps me to understand the situation better.
FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: HNow 1t doesn't mean I do everything that
everybody's pleased with, but it helps me, and like I =aid,
I'we got 3ix grandchildren, we hawve five granddsughters and

we have one grandson, so I understand, you know, kind of
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what it's like to grow up these days.

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Hawve you qgquys got cell phones?

KAETLYN: Well, we do, but they only work on the Internet.
THE COURT: ©Ch, okay. Kyden, how about you?

KYDEN: They're old ones.

THE COURT: You have a cell phone?

EARTYN: Tt's just like mane. They're old.

THE COURT: Internet cnly?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

EYDEN: Unm-huh.

THE COURT: So are you commmnicating over like Facebook
Messenger?

KAELYN: No.

KYDEN: Email.

FRELYN: Email.

THE COURT: ©kay. But on this phone, can you get a call?
Could scmebody call you on it and go, "Hey, Kaelyn?"
FAETYN: T den't think so.

KYDEN: T don't think so.

THE COURT: OCkay. Because I think some of those Facebook
messages, there are different programs where you can
camnmnicate owver phones owver the Internet.

EAETYMN: Yep.

THE COURT: Well, 1s there anything, you know, besides
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phones that you wish you had?

KAFLYN: T don't think so.

THE COURT: Is a phone big deal for you? Well, tell me the
truth. I'wve got a granddaughter and I just was visiting
with her yesterday and she's going to be 13 and it's all
about telephones. Is that true for you because you're
older than her?

HAELYN: Mot really. I like running.

THE COURT: You like running?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Well, good for you. Do most of the kids your
age hawve phones though?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: You do not have a phone?

FAELYMN: Nope.

THE COURT: Kyden, same guestion to you, most of the — you
hawve a phone but apparently it only works over the
Internet?

KAELYN: TYes.

THE COURT: All right,

EYDEN: Yeah, most all the kids in my grade have a phone.
THE COURT: Well, I don't know 1f T'll ever get to meet
with you guys again, but it's been a pleasure to get to
meet you, Kyden and Kaelyn. 2And you know, pursue these

goals that you have because you've got to work at things
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like that, you know, you just have to work at it, be
comitted towards obtaining vour goals in life and take
acticn.

FAELYMN: Yeah.

EYDEN: Un-huh.

THE COURT: I think you already know that. So Tammy,
anything else?

THE COURT FEPCRETER: Nope, I think T'm goocd. Thanks, you
guys.

THE COURT: All raight. Thanks, guys. We'll walk you back
out there.

(The audio recording was concluded. )
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STATE OF SOUTH DRKOTA
b 8 CERTTFICATE OF
TEANSCEIBEFR

el g g™

COUNTY QOF MEADE

I, TAMMY STCOLLF, RPFR, Court Reporter, hereby certify
that the foregoing padges 1 through 39 were transcribad from
an audiotape to the best of my knowledge and ability.

Dated at Sturgis, South Dakota, this 21st day of

August, Z2024.

/5/ Tammy Stolle

TAMMY STOLLE, RER

Official Court Reporter

My Commission Expires: 2/2/28
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.
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Defendant.
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1 MS. SANDERSCN: Your Honor, I would like to call Ms. Torno
2 and I'd also like to call my client, but we're rumming cut
3 of time.
4 THE COURT: Well, we can run owver and just at 10 o'elock
5 it's an estate hearing that says it's 15 minutes., So at
A 10 o'cleck, I'll hawe to take another hearing, but I'd like
7 to get this concluded this momning, =0 go ahead.
B MS. SANDERSCH: T agree. Your Honor, I'd call Ms. Melamie
o Torno.

METANTE TOENG,
called as a witness, bkeing first duly sworn, testified as
follows:
13 DIFECT EXAMITATICH
14 BY M5. SANDERSON:
15 | @ Please state your name, your true and correct name for the

1 record.

=

1 A Melanie Torne.

ol

And, Ms. Tormo, hawve you appeared in front of this Court

14 before?

‘0 | A Yes, I hawe.

21 MS. SANDERSCII: Your Honor, I would ask that the Court take
22 judicial notice that Ms., Torno has previously been

23 gqualified az an expert.

24 THE COURT: Any objection, Ms. Smith?

25 M3, SMTTH: HNo.
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THE COURT: Will do.

(BY M3. SANDERSCN; Arse you currently providing counseling
saervices [or Kaslyn Lefors?

Yes.

Howt often are you seeing her?

Since the last court hearing, it was regquested that I see
Kaelyn, and I requested to wait until there were several
visits that had occurred, and then since that time I have
seen her once.

Okay. In your last session with Kaelyn, when did that
Deeur?

Last week.

Okay. And in that session, what method did you use with
her?

Just a normal talk therapy. We used some interventicns of
thought challenging, attempts to thought replacements, and
Just walking through her thoughts and feelings of various
things.

Okay., BAnd what was your focus of the last session?

The focus of the last seszion was regarding the dinners and
the parenting time with her dad and as well as she's now
doing them without the older brother.

Okay. How would you dezcribe Kaelyn?

A very serious perscn, stubborn, determined. She's very

focussed on certain things that she would like. She's a
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very intelligent young girl.

Okay. Do you feel that Kaelyn would be easily swaved by
scmecne else?

Mo,

Okay. Do you feel that she's comfortable with you?

Tes.

Do you feel that she's being coached by anyone?

In my observation, no.

Have you witnessed anything to suggest that mother 1s
currently trying to alienate father?

I have not.

And hawve you witnessed anything that suggests that mother
ig trying to encourage the relationship?

S0 oh the last sessicon, I did have a check-1n to Just get
an update of how things were going, 1f there's anything
that was new. T always have those conversations in front
of — with the child present, that way sverything iz out in
the open and it's not anything that's hidden and it's more
of atn interactive comversation that allows for just sane
updates; wvisits are occurring, visits aren't occurring,
Just if there's anything that's different that needs to be
discussed, and then the child is then individually —— we
discuss those items individually with the child; not with
the parents, just with the child.

And has Kaslyn discussed her feelings about her father with
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you?

Yes.

What are they currently?

They've been the same as they'we been for the last five
years, and she's adamant that she doss not want to have a
relationship.

And how strongly does she make this opinion?

At the last session, she has informed me that if she has to
go to wislits twice a week or however many tTimes for the
next three years, then she'll continue to do that and say
nothing.

Has she expressed any positive feelings towards these
visits with her father?

No.

Do you believe that there is anything that mother can be
doing differently to encourage this relationship?

I don't think it has anything to do with the mother, I
think it has te do with the relationship kbetween the father
and the child, and the child's expectation of dad taking
accountability of the relationship and repairing the things
within that relationship.

Okay. Has Kaelyn expressed that she feels forced to have
these visits?

Yes.

Okay. Do you feel that that's helpful for her?
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I don't think it's helpful for the relationship.

Okay. Has Kaelyn edpressed to you that she's upset with
dad about her aunt being at events with him?

That has been discussed maybe once or twice out of all of
the sessicns I have had with her, but that is not the
primary focus.

Okay. Do you believe that these visits as currently
ordered are detrimental to their relationship?

I'wve said this in this court before, I'm a firm believer
that children need to hawve relationships with both sets of
parents, or both parents, but the current state of this
relationship 1s making it wvery difficult.

What parenting time arrangement do you believe iz in
Eaelyn's best 1nterest?

I'm not sure if I — if that would be a good guesticn for
me to ask or not. I'm —— as the child's therapist, not as
a custody evaluator in this case.

Okay. &And in your opinion, 1s there anything that you want
to suggest that be done to help improve Kaslyn's
relationship with her father?

So what T beliewve that needs to happen is that the core
issues —— the issues that are unresolved, they ocourred
when she was really young —— seven, eight years old —
those are still unreseclwed. That is what is impacting this

relationship, and Kaelyn feels like her dad has not dene
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1 anything to change anything about those situaticns or to

2 take accountability for that and that is the number one

3 thing that is impacting the relaticnship.

4 MS. SANDERSCH: ©Okay. Thank you. T have no further
5 questions.

B THE COURT: Ms. Smath.

7 M5. SMITH: Thank you, Your Honor.

B CROSS ERAMINATION

]

BY M5. SMITH:

£ Ms. Torne, your opinions in this case hawe been wvastly
different than what Dr. Perrencud had found back sewveral
years age, correct?

15 | A That's correct.

14 2 2and he had believed that the kids were subject Co severe

allenation. Do you recall that?

on

i | A Yep.

1 © And he actually was one who met with both parents and the

=

children?

ol

At that time.
And that was back in 20217

I'm not sure.

o P o0 P

Have you reviewed any court filings in preparation of
& today's hearing?

I hawve not.

I
=1

°5 | @ Okay. So you didn't review Ms. lLefors' affidavit?

App. 070
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So I was — I received it, and as Mr. Lefors was

>

2 testifying, I briefly glanced at it.

3 | @ You'res not aware of the fact that mother was trying to

4 change Kaelyn's last name?

E | AR BSo I was aware that Kaslyn wanted the name change, that was
B what was reported to me and that was what —— that is what

7 was discussed at the last counseling session.

E | @ And then mother had accepted and wanted to do what Kaelyn

o wanted to do?

10 | A What had been discussed with me is that -- what I was

11 informed is that the older brother is almost 18 years old

and is choosing to then change his name legally. He was

ki

not present during this session, so I'm hearing this fram

secondhand knowledge, and that Kaelyn was thinking about

[1="

her track —— she set a school geoal that — or sorry, a

en

ik school record that she was very proud of and that she was

=

1 looking at this as college opportunities for scholarships

and thinking about when she is 18 she would like to change

-
m

14 her name and to be able to have the name reflected in her
) high school.

21 | @ In your sessicns did you atbempt to change her opinion as
2F Lo ——

23 | A BSo that's not my Job. My job is to help her to process

24 what she's feeling and to understand why, and then guestion

25 is that a good choice for her or is that not a good choice
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and what are the consequences either way.

Right. And because that -- patrt of that responsibility to
influence and not necessarily change feelings, but that's
part of the parent's job, right, to influence and guide
their kida in the right way?

So generally speaking, yes, parents should guide their
children. But my role in this is not to work with the
parents. My role in this case is just the child's
therapist.

And at the last hearing, you did not make any
recommendations as to parenting tims moving forward?

I did not because T — as I've =zald from the very first
time I've ever teatified in this case over many years, they
need to — the core issues need Lo be addressed, that 1s
the only way that this relationship is going to be
repaired.

Your sessions with Kaelyn are how long?

They are between 53 minutes to 60 minutes.

And typically in your sessions, you den't start off right
out of the gate with same of the harder discussions, right,
you get the flow going?

It depends. Scometimes Kaelyn 1s ready to come in and wants
to talk about them right away. Sometimes it's how's
school, how's track, those types of things. But Kaelyn is

a very serious child and she does — and she's pretty

App. 072
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direct, so if there's something that is bethering her, she
usually i3 pretty guick to get to 1it.
MS. SMITH: Nothing else, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Do you have any redirect?
MS. SANDERSCIN: Just one question, Your Honor.

REDTRECT EXAMINATION
BY IM5. SANDERSCH:
Did you ever observe mother encouraging this name change?
I did not.
MS5. SANDERSCN: 0Okay. No further guesticns.
THE COURT: Anyvthing further, Ms. Smith?
Ms. SMITH: No.
THE COURT: ©Ckay. The witness can step dowm. We probably
should take about a ten-minute recess for this other case.
It may not take that long, but we'wve been going for an
hour, then we'll come back.
M. SMITH: Your Honor, I do have to bhe back in Rapid
fairly scon. I'm not sure 1f the Court needs to hear from
Ms. Iefors.
THE COURT: Well, I don't want to stop -- you can step
dowm. T don't want to preohibit Ms. Iefors from testifying,
but T realize we had only an hour. T definitely wanted to
Judge the credibility and the demeancr of Mr. Lefors and
I've had that cpportunity. That was important to me.

But let's take a short recess. Sanetimes these astate

App. 073
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It did not.

So to your understanding there's no reascn why he shouldn't
have received these text messages?

Correct.

MS. SANDERESCI: Your Honor, I'd move to admit both 1 and 2.
THE COURT: Any objection?

M5. SMITH: No cbjectiom.

THE COURT: Recelwved.

(BY MS. SANDERSON) What did you chserve about Kaslyn
following dad not showing up at these visits?

When I picked her up, she just kind of got in the car. 3She
let me know that he wasn't there, and then she was pretty
silent cn the way back.

Okay. Do you think that this negatively inpacted thelr
relaticnship further?

She did not state. I think it could, but I think there's a
lot more to it than this incident.

Hawve you ever reached out to Joe regarding additional
visits with Kaelyn?

I did. T texted him on Sunday asking i1f he wanted her
Monday and Wednesday of this week, and T did not get a
response back.

Okay. So since this order has gone inte place, when you
are transporting Kaelyn, what do you typically talk sbout

in the car on the way to visits?

App. 074
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A We talk about where we're going. I tell her that she needs

te talk to her dad. Culver's, she really likes the ice
cream, 3o I tell her even if she's not going to eat to gset
an ice cream with him. You know, to listen to what he's
got to =ay, that she nseds to tell him how she feals, You
knows, they can't fix it without, you know, him knowing.
Scmetimes she'll listen to me. Sometimes she'll just turn
her head and look out the window, but — and then like
Olive Garden, we'll talk about her favorite food, you know,
like you can tell him or if you want me to, I can text him,
you mow, and — but. ..

Okay. Do you feel that there i1s anything that you can ke
doing more than what you're currently doing to encourage
the relationship?

No.

Okay. We've heard testimony earlier about being at that
booster meeting. Did you purposely try to keep Kaslyn away
from dad?

1 did not.

Ckay. Did you request that that other child go and get
Kaslyn's food?

I did not.

Ckay. And then what's marked as Exhibit 3 up there was
also attached to your affidavit. Is this a jourmal that

you have kept?

App. 075
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1 A It is.

2 | @ Okay. And so do you Just jot down notes every time that
3 you make an attempt to encourage the relationship?

4 | & Yep. After she would walk away, I would write it down so
5 she didn't see what T was doing.

& | @ Why did you not give this to counsel before today, or

7 before the affidavit? Were you supposed to?

E | A Not that I'm aware of.
2 | @ Okay. Did you purposely keep this journal away from dad?
A DNo.
Q Okay., And 1T yvou would have known, would you have prosrided
it weekly?
15 A TYes.

14 Q Okay. And going forward, 1f the Court requires that of

you, will you comply?

on

1& A TYes.

=

1 Q Okay. 30 let's go through what this couwrt order requires

ol

of you. The first prowvision of this requires that dad have

14 those visits for one hour twice a week. Have you
A transported Kaelyn to every wisit?

.

Okay. And have you retrieved her from every vasit?

Yes,

Lo B R« B

The next provision reguires that she attend dinner and that

25 you encourage that. Do you feel that you have encouraged?

App. 076
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1 A TYes,

2 | @ When you talk about past happy memories, what's your

3 purpese of bringing in those happy memories?

4 A For her to remember and not be so hateful about it.

E | @ ©Okay. And when you talk about those happy memories, does

B it ever get through to her that she could be happy again in
7 the future with dad?

E | A No.

2nd then as far as when you go to drop her off, have there

)
o

been times where you hawve seen her walk away from dad
Immnediately?
I have nct seen her walk away from dad.

15 | @ ©Okay. And if you would have seen that, what would you have

14 done?
15 | & I would have drove away.
1e | Q@ And is that because of the court order?
17 | A Yes.
12 | @ Do you feel that you had the ability to stop and have any
14 interacticnhs with her during his hour?
. A No.

21 @ And so let's talk about the other attempts that you hawve
22 made to encourage the relationship, Have you worked with
23 Ms. Torno to come up with ideas to help better this

24 relationship?

25 A Yeau.

App. 077
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And have you implemented them?

Yes.

And have they been successful?

Mo,

Okay. Do you feel that there's anything else that you can
do to convince your daughter that she should have this
relationship?

I demn't.

Okay. Do you feel that you fully cooperated with the
Court's order?

I do.

Okay. And then do you — as far as the last name goes,
let's talk about that a little bit. Did you tell Kaeslyn
that she could change her name?

No.

Okay. Do you currently use Lefors for all of your names?

I do.

Okay. Did you ewer tell her track coach that you were the
one that wanted the name changed?

No .

How did the name change come about?

Haslyn asked the coach about 1t who then had her go to the
athletic director about it. He told her he would look into
it. The following day, I assume the athletic director

talked to the coach, but the coach went up to Kaslyn and

App. 078
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References to the settled record will be cited as "SR" followed by a page number
and, where relevant, a particular line, paragraph, or finding. References to Findings of
Fact will be cited as "FF". and references to Conclusions of Law will be cited as "CL".
References to documents in the Appendix will be cited as "App” tollowed by a page
number. The Trial Court's June 17, 2024 order which 15 the subject of this appeal will be
referred to as the "Order”. References to the transenpt will be cited as “TT following by
the page number, Plaintiff Appellee will be referred to as "Father” or “loseph™, and

Defendant/ Appellant will be referred to as "hMother” or “Krista™,

Krista appeals the Honorable John Fitzgerald's Order signed on June 17, 2024,
MNotwe of Entry was filed on June 18, 2024, knsta served the Notice of Appeal on July
22, 2024, The Order executed is a final order of the Circuit Court and is appealable as a
matter of right, pursuant to SDCL § 15-26A-3 and SDCL § 15-26A-7,

WAIVER OF ORAL ARGUMENT

Joseph waives oral argument for purposes of this appeal.
STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES AND AUTHORITIES
I. Whether The Circuit Court Erred In Holding Krista In Contempt OF The
Parenting Time Order Without the Requisite Motion, AfMidavie, And Order To
Show Caunse,
The Circont Court issued sanctions against Krista for willfully violating the
custody order pursuant to SDCL § 25-4A-5.

kel "L:



Hiller v, Hiller, 20015 51 58, 866 N.W,2d 210

BDCL § 23-44-5
I1. Whether The Circuit Court Erred In Finding That Krista Could Control
Their 15-Year-Odd Daughter’s Actions During Father's Parenting Time.

The Circuit Court held that Krista as the primary parent did not encourage the
child to attend parenting time despite her refusal to attend the same.
Relevant Law:

Furestenberg v. Fuestenberp, 2004 8D 57,9 8

Price v. Price, 2000 5D 64, 1§ 3940

Filler v, Hiller, 2015 8D 58, 66 N.W 2d 210
M. Whether The Circait Court Erred In Finding That The 15-Year-Old
Danghter's Refusal To Eat Dinner With Her Father Was A Willful Violation

The Circut Court held that Erista had the ability to control and encourage
parenting time between the child and Joseph and the child’s refusal to attend the same
was evidence of her willful violation.

clevi W

SDCL § 23-44-5

Hiller v. Hiller, 2015 8§13 58, 866 W.W.2d 910
IV, Whether The Circoit Court Abused Its Discretion in Assessing Sanctions of
5500 For Parenting Time.

The Circuit Court held that Krista was sanctioned 5300 for each parenting time that was
unsuccessful for a total sanction of 82,000,

Relevant Law:

SDCL § 25-4A-5



V. Whether The Circuit Court Abused Its Discretion in Assessing Krista with
52,000 OF Attorney™s Fees,
The Circuit Court awarded Jozeph 52,000 in reasonable attorney fees for Krista™s
willful violation of the custody order.
Relevant Law:
SDCL § 15-17-38
Hiller v. Hiller, 2015 SD 58, 866 N.W.2d 910
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the third appeal invelving the parties and the first addressimg the issues of
enstody and parenting time. Joseph initiated a divoree action in January 2019, at which
time he requested joint legal and phvsical custody of the children. (SRK 7). Ower the past
five years, costody, visitation, and Toseph’s relatomship with the children have been
extenzsively litigated!,

A two-day divorce tnal was held m June 2020, On Apnl 8, 2021, Judge Krull
msued Findingz of Fact and Conclusions of Law, awarding joint legal custody to both
parties, with Knista receiving primary physical custody. (SR 813).

For purposes of this specific appeal, JToseph filed a reguest for sanctions agamnst
Krista for violating custody orders on November 30, 2023, (S8R 3474). A hearing to

address the same ook place on December 21, 2023 with the circuit court issuing an Order

* For purposes of a concise and brief statement of the case, many of the evidentiary
hearings and subsequent orders that occurred are specifically omitted from reference. As
a matter of judicial notice, approximately 11 court hearings addressing custody and
parenting time took place between the 2020 divorce trial and the filing of this appeal, in
addition to several hearngs held m 2019,



on January 4, 2024 instructing the partics to participate in remunciation counscling. (SR
3000,

A hearing took place on February 6, 2024, 1o address family counseling and
Joseph’s parenting time. The circuit court conducted in-camera interviews with both
children. (App. 010-049), Judge Fitzgerald subsequently issued an order discontinuing
family therapy and scheduling parenting time for Joseph. (SR 3974).

Joseph tiled an affidavit on March 18, 2024, providing an update to the cowrt as to
the ongoing unsuccessful parenting time since its February 6, 2024 hearing which
reiterated his request for sanctions against Knsta, (SR 4069). On March 19, 2024, the
eireuit court again held a status hearing to address the progress of parenting time. On
March 26, 2024, the circuit court held s order for sanctions agamst Krista in abeyance to
allow her additional opportunty to encourage visitation the children to have visitation
with Joseph. (SR 4076).

OCm April 18, 2024, Joseph filed an affidavit once again requesting sanctions
against Krista for failing to encourage Kaelyn to participate in parenting time. (SR 4151).
knsta filed a responsive affidavit on May 9, 2024, (SR 4170). A hearing on Joseph's
request for sanctions was held on May 10, 2024, with both parties testifying, along with
therapist, Melanie Tomo. Following the hearing, the circuit courl issued Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law, and an Order for Sanctions, Attorney s Fees. and Parenting Time.
(SR 4309). The order sanctionad krista 32000 for missed parenting time and awarded

Joseph $2,000 in attormey s Tees. /d,



The parties were marmied on Juine 4, 2002, and separated on or about January 7,
2019, (SR 7). During the marriage. Krista and Joseph had two children: Kyvden Michael
Lefors, born July 2, 20006, and Kaelyn Mae Lefors, bom May 29 2009 fd. At the time of
the parties” separation, Kyden and Kaelyn were approximately 12 and 9 vears old,
respectively,

As early as Apnil 2019, Joseph began asserting that Krista was alienating the
children and withholding visitation from him. (SR 53} Over the course of the litigation,
the alienation worsened, driven in large part Krista's dislike of Joseph's romantic
relationship, whom he later married along with Krista’s allegations of unsubstantiated
abuse, (TT 58). The last meaningful parenting time Joseph was able to exercise occurred
m 2019 (SR 3474). Since that time, Knsta’s alienation has resulied in Joseph having no
meaningful relationship with either child, despite his repeated request for court
intervention for nearly five years,

In June 2021, the circuit court appointed clinical psvchologist Dr, Perrenoud 1o
conduct reunification counscling with the family. (SR 998). Dr. Perrenoud issued
nuinerous letters to the circuit court that sumimanized his attempted efTorts for
reunification and his unequivocal finding that alienation had occurred by Krista. {App.
150 - 036). Dr. Perrenoud further recommended a change of primary custody due 1o the
seriousness of the alienation. fd. The letters described Rrsta as hurt and vengetul. all
while portraying hersell as the “victim,” whereas Joeseph attempted 1o maintain
relationships with both of his children. Jd. The children and Krista disapproved of

Joseph™s relationship and refused 1o resume a relationship with him as long a i



continued. /. Expert D, Perrenoud belicved the children had been misinformed about
their father, mcluding false claims regarding his aleohol use, violence towards their
mother, and being a potential threat to the children. /& Although Krista appeared to
comply by bringing the children to appointments, the psychologist suspected she covertly
encouraged the children’s alienation from their father. T

Dr. Perrenowd recommended that krista take a firmer stance with the children to
ensure they spent time with their tather, Id, He further believed that time spent with
Jazeph could belp the children form a more realistic and unbiazed opinion of him. {d. It
was concluded that the children’s unwillingness to give their father an opportunity
reflected the alienation they had experienced. /d. In addition to Dr. Perrenond’s opinions,
therapists Tamara Ulmer, and Michael Wheaton, both had similar findings with respect to
alienation and lack of effort portrayed by Krista to foster a positive relationship. { App.
057-065),

Despite Joseph's efforts to address the alienation through coumseling and court
mtervention krista was never sanctioned or punizhed tor her role in diminishing the
children’s relationship with Joseph until the tnal court's findings subject to this appeal,
three vears subsequent 1o Dr. Perrenond’s findings.

Krista repeatedly made false elaims that the children were afraid of Joseph and
that was the reason for the children’s refusal (o attend parenting time. However, the
eircuit court issuwed multiple orders finding that Joseph posed no threat or harm 1o his
children and in Fact the record more clearly abigns with efforts of the court and counselors

to provide Joseph with more visitation. (SR 998: 2154).



In December 2023, the circuit court appointed therapists Melanie Torno and
Michael Wheaton to facilitate parenting tine and reunification. When these efforts Tuled.
the eircuit coun entered an order on February 26, 2024, discontinuing family therapy and
scheduling parenting time for Joseph. (3R 3974). The order required Krista to drop the
children off at Olive Garden or Culver’s twice a week on Tuesdays and Wednesdays
from 6:00) to 7:00 p.m. for one-hour dinners with Joseph. fd. This arrangement tollowed
recommendations from the therapists to begm visits in a public setting for short durations,
with the intent to gradually and aggressively expand the parenting time over time, fd

A review hearing was held on March 19, 2024, during which Kyden was released
from any obligation to participate in parenting time with Joseph. despite not tuming 1%
until July 2024, However, on March 26, 2024, the circuit court held an order for
sanclions against Knsta m abevance to provide her vet another opportumity to comply
with the custody order and encourage parenting time to occur before executing on the
Order, (SR 4076).

After the parenting time was not being encouraged with Kaelyn, Joseph requested
the cowrt to enforce its order and 1ssue its sanctions against Krista, (SR 4151). Knista
submitted a responsive affidavit on May 9, 2024, acknowledging that while she dropped
Kazlyn off at the designated restauramts, Kaelyn refused 1o participate in parenting time.
(SR 4170 Instead, Kaelyn would sit outside the restaurant, refise 1o eat dinner with
Joseph. or leave the area entirely. (SR 4309). It is Krista’s position that she was in
substantial comphance with the court's order by transporting the davghter to parenting
time that she ultmmately had no control over whether Kaelyn participated and that she is a

“atrong-willed™” child. (SR 41700, Krsta claimed she has no control over her daughter's



feelings. fd, She further alleged that it was not her responsibility to repair the relationship
between Kaelyn and her father but it is somehow on Joseph to “show that he has made
positive changes in his life™, i@ This theme remained consistent throughout Krista's
testimony since 2019 through the May 9% hearing (TT 37). She continued to portray
herself as a victim while deflecting any responsibility for the daughter's negative feelings
toward her father, (SK 41700, Krista further claimed that Joseph's persistent efforts to
enforce parenting time were actually hurtful and had a detramental impact on her own
relationship with the children. /.

The circuit court determined that in light of the entire record and history of the
case, it was not convinced that Krista had done enough to encourage meaningful
parenting time to occur. The circuitl court provided Krista with amble opportunity to
comply (after holding its prior Order in abeyvance which included a sanction of $300 for
each parenting time that did not occur), (8K 4076). The Court further criticized krista
and considered her to be disingenuous for being entical of Joseph's nonattendance to
parenting time due to scheduling conflicts. (81 4309). It is particularly concerning that
krista went so far as to request her fees for Joseph’s absence during parenting time,
despite the clear misconumumication regarding the parenting schedule. (SR 41703

The Court acknowledged Joseph's frustration due to the children’s refusal to
engage in visiations and concluded that his only recolrse was o seek court intervention.
(5K 4309). The Court found that krista. as the primary parent, had the ability to facilitate

the visitations but Failed to do 50 to the expected degres.®

* As of the date of this appeal. as a matter of judicial notice, Krista continiies to appeal
the sanctions 1ssued against her with the most recent being filed on November 22, 2024

K



Further, the circwt court noted that Kaclyn was capahle of participating in the
visitations and that Krista, given her own experience as a "daddy’s girl." should have been
more supporiive in fostering the relationship. (SR 4309), The circuit court highlighted
krista’s lack of encowragement for the children’s relationship with their Father, including
an incident where the daughter participated in a track meet under a different last name,
which further ratsed concerns about knista’s direct role in discouraging the relationship.
Id.

The eircuit court carefully considered the evidence and testimony presented, and
its findings regarding Knsta's failure to comply with the court's orders are supported by
the record. The Court determined that krista, despite having the ability to encourage the
children's relationship with Joseph. willfully failed to do so. The Court’s decision to
sanclion krista was based on a thorough assessment of the record and authonty of SDCL
& 25-4A-5, There was no abuse of discretion in its findings or in the sanctions imposed,
Therefore, the trial court’s decision should be affinmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Matters of judicial discrefion, such as an award of attomey fees or the court's
remedy for contempt, are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Brosnan v. Brosean, 2013
8.0 R1, 9 12, 340 N.W.2d 240, 246 (attomey fees);, Sazama v. State ex rel. Muilenberg,
2007 8.0 17, 19 729 N.W . 2d 335, 340 (contempt). An abuse of discretion "is a
fundamental error of judgment. a choice outside the range of permissible choices, a

decision, which, on full consideration, is arbatrary and umreasonable.” Thrrman v CUNA

and December 20, 2024 relatmg to limdimgs ssued by the trial court tor her Eulure to
comply with parenting time orders. { App. 066-0659).

o



Mut, fns. Sac'v, 2013 8.1>. 63,9 11, 836 N.W.2d 611, 616, Findings of fact are reviewed
for clear emmor and will only be overturned "when we are definitely and formly convinced
a mistake has been made,” Lakota Cmne Homes, Tne, v Rondall, 2004 3.0, 16,79, 673
NW.2d 437, 440; Hiller v. Hiller, 2018 8.D. 74, 919,

This standard of review reflects both the primacy of the court's fact-finding role
and the Court’s inclination to reverse only those findings that are clearly
erroncous. See MeCollam v, Cahill, 2000 8.D. 34_96, 766 NW.24 171, 174. In this
regard, “[t]he credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be accorded their testimony, and
the weight of the evidence must be determined by the circuit court and we give due
regard to the circwt court’s opportunity to observe the witnesses and the evidence” fd
Hiller v. Hiller, 2008 8.2, 74,9 22.

ARGUMENT
L. The Cirenit C'ourt Properly Exercised Its Authority to Issue Sanctions Against
Maother Under SDCL § 25-4A-5 Without Strict Procedural Formalities,

Krista contendz that reversal 2 warranted due to Jozeph’s failure to file a formal
motion for contempt and personally serve an Order to Bhow Cavse, However, such
procedural requirements are not applicable under SDCL § 23-4A-3 which operates
mdependently of the law of contempt. Joseph™s affidavit specificallv sought sanctions
pursuant to the relevant statute, rather than a finding of contempt. (SR 4151). Unlike
contempt proceedings, the statule permits the imposition of sanctions. including attomey
fees, without the procedural formalities required for civil contempt. Knista’s argumen
confuses the distinet provedural frameworks tor contempt and sanctions under SIXCL §

23=4A-3.
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Civil contempt 15 designed to compel compliance with court orders for the benefit
of an opposing party. The elements of contempt include the existence of an order,
knowledge of that order, ability to comply. and willful disobedience. Hiller v, Hiller.
2015 5.1D. 38, 9 13, B66 N W.2d 210, 914, In contrast, SDCL § 25-4A-5 specifically
allows sanctions as a means of punishing a party for willtully violating or failing to
comply with custody or visitation provisions, . The sanction statute outlines several
sanctions that a court may impose for noncompliance with custody or visitation decrees.
These sanctions include make-up time with the child, payvment of court costs and attormey
fees, civil penalties, participation im counseling or education classes, posting bond, jail
sentences, and modification of custody or visitation arrangements. [d, The statute also
allows the court to impose any other appropriate sanctions based on the case's facts and
circumstances. Jo Thus, while contempt and sanctions may overlap factually and are
wtilized to compel compliance with custody orders, the procedural requirementz for
contempt are not strictly applicable in this case.

Krista asserts that by failing to abide by the contempt service requirements, his
recavery should be barred. This is further despite her ongoing notice and opportumty to
participate in the litigation. Joseph tiled numerows affidavits requesting sanctions be
mmposed which provided her adequate notice of the allegations and were all properly
served through her attomey. Krista filed responses to each allegation and the muost
relevant being the atfidavit that she filed on May 9, 2024, (SR 4170). Krista proceedad 1o
subsequently participate in the evidentiary hearing defending the requést For sanctions.
MNowhere in Krista's responsive pleading did she assert the alleged insufficient filings or

service upon her, or that the same somehow prejudiced her in her defense. She simply



objects to not being served a formal Order to Show Cause, albeil not a contempt
proceeding. Krista's full participation in the hearing withowt objection and failure to
plead the procedural deficiencies in her responsive pleading constituied a waiver,
Cresterling v. Olesterfing, 334 N.W.2d 735 (8.D. 1984).

Krista contends that the circuit courts findings included elements akin to
contempt and therefore. it proceeds that the court and parties are bound by the procedural
requirements for contempt. Again, to the contrary, Joseph plead his request as a sanction
under SDCL § 25-4A-5 and the circuit court cited the sanction statute directly in its
findings. The circuit court's thorough findings regarding notice, opportunity and willFul
eonduct merely solidify the court’s decision, These findings do not invalidate the
mposition of sanctions under SDCL § 25-9A-5 as the law provides some overlap in the
burden and language necessary o establish elements of contempt, as well as sanctions.

In conclusion, the circuit court’s authority to impose sanctions under 8DCL § 25-
4A-5 15 not contingent on the procedural requirements of contempt. Knsta’s arguments
regarding procedural deficiencies lack merit, as she was provided notice, an opportumity
o respond and defend the allegations made against her, The sanctions imposed by the
trial court were appropriate with the record before it and were not an abuse of discretion
I1. The Circuit Court Properly Found Mother's Actions to Be Willful and That She
Retained the Ability to Enforce Parenting Time.

krista argues that the circwt court abused iis discretion by disregarding the minor
child’s expressed preference to not aftend parenting time with her father, She asserts that
the circuit court's order fmls to explicitly address the child’s preference or identity facts

outweighing i, thus warranting reversal. However, this argument i= not logical and
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ignores the absolute discretion given to trial courts m enforcing custody orders and
matters that involving visiation.

As the trier of fact, the circuit count interviewed the children, observed witnesses,
and was in the best position to determine the relevance and weight of the child’s
preference. Ofson v. Olzon, 438 N.W.2d 544, 547 (8.D. 1989).

The court’s decision i& supported by a comprehensive record spanning five vears
of custody litigation, invoelving multiple counselors. psychologists, and numeraous
evidentiary hearings. The majority of the proceedings were initiated by Joseph in an
effort to address the harm cansed by Knista’s alienation and to attempt to rebuild a
meaningful relationship with his children. These heanngs addressed reunification
therapv, counseling, phone calls and Krista's ongoing interference with Joseph'™s
parenting, time. When the court issued i1s sanctions order on June 17, 2024, it had
carefully considered the substantial record before it

Contrary to Knista's assertion, the law docs not require the circuit court to defer to
an adolescent’s preference in parenting time matters. While a court may consider a
child’s preference if the child is of sufficient age to form an intelligent preference, it is
not bound to prioritize that preference over the child’s best interests. Hathaway v,
Bergheim, 2002 8D T8, 9§ A, Fuestenberg v, Frestenberg, 2004 8D 57, 9 8. In cases like
this, where the record demonstrates a history of alienation and a lack of good faith ¢ffort
to encourage parenting time. a child’s expressed preference cannot be atforded significant

weight'. The best-interest standard remains paramount, Even at age 135, a child may not

1 Krista contends that the circuit court disregarded the testimony of counselor Melanie
Tormo. However, trial courts are afforded broad discretion to accept or reject expert
testimony 1 custody deternmnations. This discretion 3 grounded in the principle that tral

13



always understand what 1= in their best mterest. Price v. Price, 2000 51 64, 1Y 39440,
While there are practical difficulties in compelling a teenager to comply with a parenting
plan, Krista was still obligated to make reasonable, good-faith efforis to ensure
compliance and the circuit court did not believe she was doing enough to satisfy her
parental obligations given the entirety of the record.

Courts have consistently held that a parent 8 not a “powerless bystander™ in the
decisions and actions of a child, Instead, the parent has an obligation to take affirmative
steps 1o encourage compliance with visitation orders and parents have an obligation to
attempd to overcome the child's resistance to visitation. Dwean v Cook, 2007 COA 51,9
22, 413 P.3d 246, 251, In re Marriage of Marez, 2004 M'T 333, 9 28340 P.3d 520, 527
{Mont, 20143 (quoting Tn re Marriage of Rideows, 150 Wn.2d 337, 77 P.3d 1174, 1182
{Wash. 20033). knista’s e¢fforts fell short of these obligations. The record reflects a
consigtent pattern of alienation and a failure to encourage parenting time with loseph.

The circuit court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law establish that Krista,
as the primary parent, who had spent 1002 of the time with the children could comply
with the custody order and encourage parenting time with the Father. Specifically, the
cireuit court found:

7. The Court having considered the credibility of the witnesses at the

evidentiary hearing and in light of the history of this case, the Court finds

that Mother certainly has the ability to comply with the Order and has not

made efforts sutficient enough to encourage parenting time to oceur, The

Court determines that in light of the testimony. atlidavits and facts
pre=sented i this case, Mother has not encouraged the relationship and

courts are in the best position to assess the credibility and weight of testimony, including
that of expert witnesses, Moreover, findings of fact will not be set aside inless they are
clearly erroneous, with due regard given to the trial court’s ability to evaluate the
credibility of witnesses. Cronse v Crouse, 1996 8D 95,9 6.
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visitations Lo the degree expected of her as a parent. The Court finds that
her conduct constitites a willful fallure to comply with the Order.

8. The Mother has the opportunity to comply with the Order and

encourage these visitations as she is the primary parent and the child lives

with her primarily all of the time.

9. The voungest daughter 15 a very bright and ntelligent voumg lady. 1T the

Court were o believe that Mother has done what is expected of her as

parent in this situation, then the Court could not also believe that she

would not ba able to disconrage her danghter from getting involved in the

temiptations that exist in life and I think that Mother has done thal.

11. Mother 1s fully capable of encouraging the children to meet with their

Father and she has failed to do it to the degree required by law. The Court

recalls that Mother testified to being a daddy's girl, and so Mother 15 very

well equipped to encourage a relationship of some sort with Father and the

daughter, and she has not done that

(SR 4309

The circnil court further noted that Krista’s argument that she lacked control over
her daughter. Kaelvn, was contradicted by the evidence. Kaelvn is a high-achieving,
straight- A student with no behavioral 1ssues, The court explicithy found that Krista had
the ability to discourage negative influences in Kaelyn's life and could. similarly.
encourage parenting time with Joseph if she chose to do so. (SR 4309),

Diespite this. Krista has maimained that her obligations under the custody order
were limited to transporting Kaelyvn to and from parenting time, without regard to
whether kazlyn participates in the visits, The eircuil court repeatedly found Knsta’s
testimeny regarding her efforts to encourage parenting time to be not credible and even
noted them to be “disingenuous”™. (TT 61). The sanctions were not imposed because
Krista was “unable” to control Kaclyn, as she asserts. Rather, they were a direct response

to her refusal to fulfill her legal and parental obligation to encourage a relationship

between Kaclyn and her father, Despite Knsta’s claims of “substantial compliance™ with

15



the custody orders, the circuit court found ample evidence of her willful noncompliance.
Her fulure to meaningfully encourage parenting time justified the count’s imposition of
sanctions.

I The Circuit Cowrt Acted Within Its Discretion in Sanctioning Mother 35040 for
Each Unsuccessful Parenting Time.

Krista contends that the circuit court abused s discretion by failing to consider
the child’s best interest when mmposing the sanctions and without further explanation for
the reasonableness of the 5500 amownt. However, the court acted well within s statutory
authonty under SDCL § 25-4A-5, which provides broad discretion to impose “any other
sanction appropriate to the facts and circumstances of the case”

The sanctions were designad to encourage a parent like Krista to comply with
court-ordered parenting ime. The 5300 sanction visitation was reasonable, especially
considering the court™s authority to impose harsher sanctions including civil fines of up to
31,001 for similar violations and jail time. fd.

Krista’s argument that the court failed to azaess the reasonableness of the amount
15 unpersuasive. As with the award of attomeys” fees under SDCLE 25-4A-5, the statule
does not require the circuit court to evaluate a party's financial condition, such as relative
worth, income, or liguidity, when imposing sanctions against a parent. The focus instead
i on the appropriaténess of the sanction in light of the specific circumstances of the case.

The circuit court noted that the court orderad visitation was a simple and
straighiforward task—a one-hour meal where the daughter could engage in conversation
with her tather. (TT 66). Krista’s refusal to facilitate even this minimal interaction was

central to the court’s decision to impose sanctions.
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The circuil court’s 3506 per missed visitation sanction was reasonable, supported
by the record, and well within its discretion under SDCL § 25-4A-5. The court
appropriately considered the best interest of the child and tailored its sanctions to
encourage compliance while addressing Krista's repeated noncompliance. In light of
Jozeph’s years of missed parenting time, the 52,000 sanction was within the circuit
court's discretion and, from Joseph's perspective. a modest remedy compared to the
significant loss of his relationship with his children.

IV. The Circuit Court Properly Awarded Attorneyvs’ Fees to Father for Mother's
Willful Violations.

Krista also challenges the cireuit court’s award of attorneys” fees, arguing that it
lacked proper justification, However, SDCL. § 25-4A-5 explicitly authonzes trial courts
Lo impose sanctions, including attormeys” fees. Tor wallful vielations or noncompliance
with custody or vizitation orders,

Unlike general statutes such as SIICL § 13-17-38, which require a two-step
analysis for awarding attornevs” fees, 8DCL § 25-4A-5 operates independently and
mposes no such procedural requirement. Further, the frial cowrt 15 not required to analyze
the parties relative net worth or financial siuation.

This case is widely similar to Hifler, where the record supported the decision o
exercise ils discretion and sanction the former husband 54,082 for his faillure to comply
with the terms of the visitation order because the courl was tiol required Lo engage ina
standard, multi-factored assessment relating 1o the necessity of an award since i1 awarded
attorney fees as a specitio sanction to punish the hushand for lis willtul noncomphance

with a visitation order. Hiller v Hiller, 2018 8D 74, 919 N.W.2d 548, 2018 8.0, LEXIS
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128 (5.0, 2018). Further provided in /ifller on the issue of attomey s fees further
supports the circuit court's authority in this case:

The text of SDCL § 25-4A-5 allows the sanction of attomey fees Tor the
express purpose of "punish[ing] the offender].]" Therefore, a circuit
court’s findings relating 1o necessity are sufficient o long as they
adequately support the determination that the offending "party hos
willfully violated or willtully failed to comply with any provisions of a
custody or visttation decree].|" See id. Even though this discrete statutory
authority to sanction or punizh a party is. strictlv speaking, unconnected to
the law of contempt, the elements of civil comtempt feature overlapping
factual considerations, Here, for mstance, the circut cowrt's contempt
finding that James willfully "failed to comply” with the court's visitation
order necessanly satisfies SDCL § 25-4A-5'5 statutory requirement of
willful violation or noncomplhiance with the provisions of a visitation
order.

Mevertheless, lames asserls the attorney fees award i infirm because the
cirewit court "did not give any analysis or give the required consideration
to the financial imformation of each party.” However, given the specific
purpoae underlying the statutory authoriy of SDCL § 23-4A-3_ an inguiry
mio 4 party's relative worth, income, or liquidity 15 not required or relevant
to this analysis. This approach is consistent with other cases in which we
have uphald an award of attorney tees as a sanction imposed pursuant to
statunes or rules, Seg, ¢g, Colomi v, Colowd, 2017 5.1, 66,9 10, 903
MW.W.2d 743, 748 {affimming attomey fees award pursuant to SDCL § 15-
6-3T(a)4)A) where circuit court's findings "sufficiently justified the
imposed sanctions"), Hobart v, Ferebee, 2000 5.D, 101, % 28, 776 N.W.2d
67, 75 (atfirming attorney fees award for frivolous or malicious filing
under DL § 15-17-31 where circuit court's findings detailed conduet of
party who persisted in advancing legal arguments that had been previously
rejected).

OF course, an attorney Fees award under SDCL § 25-4A-5 2% must still be
reasonable. In addition to our precedent that requires this determimation,
the text of SIDCL § 25-4A-5(2) limits an attomey fees award 1o
"reazonable attorney’s fees incurred as a result of the noncompliance|.]”
Here. the court was keenly aware of the complex and contentious pature of
this case, It considered the "significant managemaent of the
communications[,]” the "deep history of the dispute[,]" the necessity for an
ongoing review of the relationship, the "It gious nature of the parties”.
Hiller v. Hiller, 2018 8.1, 74, 99 28-30. 919 N.W .2d 548. 556.
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The circnil court’s findings in this case support its decision to award attomeys”
fees and are analogous 1o Filler. The record reflects over five years of contentious
litigation driven largely by Krista's continued refusal to comply and foster a positive
relatiomship. In light of the profracted litigation and the substantial effort required to
enforce Joseph's limited paremting time. the attorneys” fees award was reasonable and
directly attributable to knista’s willful violations.

CONCLUSION

Jozeph respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law and Order For Sanctions, Attomeys Fees and Parenting Time dated
Jung 17, 2024,

Dated this 2! day of January, 2025.
CLAYBORNE, LOOS & SABERS, LLFP

& Hoflie I Smith

HOLLIE L. SMITH

Avtormeys for the AppelleePlaintiff
2834 Jackson Blvd., Suite 201

PO Box 9129

Rapid City, SD 577099129

{605) 721-1517
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STATE OF SCUTH DAKOTA

COUNTY OF MEADE

.

JOSEPH D. LEFORS,
Plaintiff,
Vs,
KRISTA M. LEFORS,
Defendant.

I

IN CIRCUIT COURT

FOURTH JUDICIAL CIFCUTT

In Camera Froceedings With
Both Children

46DTV19-8

BEFORE: THE HOMORAEIE JOHN FITZGERALD
Circuit Court Judge
Sturgis, South Dakota
February €, 2024 at 9:00 a.m.

(These proceedings were audio recorded.)
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(WHEREUPCON, the following proceedings were audio
recorded via computer in chambers with the Court, Court
Feporter, and Kyden LeFors and Kaelyn LeFors, pressnt:)
THE COURT: My name is Joln Fitzgerald and T'm a circuit
court Judge, but before T was a Judge, T was the state's
attorney in Deadwood where I served up there for a mumber
of years, that's what T did. I'wve got three growm children
and then I have six grandchildren. Tammy is a court
reporter and my assistant and apparently she's met with you
guys once before.

COURT REFORTER:  Yep.

THE COURT: And I kind of know your mom and dad just from
court, but I've just heard about you guys, but I've never
met you. S0 let me see, Kyden, 15 that how 1t's
pronounced?

EXYDEN: Kyden.

THE COURT: Kyden, okay. Spell 1t, Eyden.

FXDEN: E=Y=D=E=N.

THE COURT: Kyden. What's your middle initial, Kyden?
KYDEN: Michael.

THE COURT: Michael. And when are you going to turn 187
KYDEN: July 2nd.

THE COURT: ©h, wow. Pretty soon. And your name?
FAFTYN: HKaelyn.

THE COURT: KRaelyn?
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FAELYM: TYep.

THE COURT: EKaelyn, what's your middle name?

FAELYN: Mae.

THE, COURT: Mae?

FAELYN: Starts with an M.

THE COURT: And when's your birthday?

FAFLYN: May 20, 2009,

THE COURT: ¢<h, it's coming up?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: May's my favorite month.

FAELYN: Same.

THE COURT: I= it?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Is 1t because your birthday is then or just ——
FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT FEPCETEER: Well, and her made middle name is Maes
LoD,

FAFLYN: TUm=huh.

THE COURT: ©Ch, yeah, that's right.

KARLYN: Um—huh.

THE COURT: Is that a coincidence or is that --
KAETLYN: Well, T don't actually know, but my mom has a
middle name Mae and I think my grandma does too =o...
THE COURT: Is Mae?

HAELYN: Yeah.
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THE COURT: ©h, that's pretiy cool,

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: So, Kyden, what grade in school are you in?
KEYDEN: 12th grade.

THE COURT: What — where do you go to school?

KYDEN: Douglas High School.

THE COURT: Which one?

EYDEN: Douglas High School.

THE COURT: ©h, Douglas. I know where that's at. It's up
on the base, isn't i1t, or close to the base=7?

EAELYN: It's close o the base, yveah.

THE COURT: How about you, Kaelyn?

FAELYN: T go to the same school, but I'm a freshman.
THE COURT: ©h. And, EKyden, what do you want to do for a
living when you get cut of school?

EXYDEN: Probably work stocking shelves and...

THE COURT: Okay. Do yvou have a Job now?

FYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Where at?

KYDEN: At Timmons.

THE COURT: What is Timmons?

KYDEN: The grocery store that's there,

THE COURT: Grocery store that's in where?

EXYDEN: TIn Box Elder.

THE COURT: In Box Flder. Okay, that's what I thought.
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Kaelyn, how about you, do you work?

EAETYN: No.

THE COURT: Okay. What do you want to do when you get
older?

FAELYN: I den't know. T probably want to be a
veterinarian.

THE COURT: A wveterinarian?

EARTYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Well, Tammny, tell them about your hushand.
THE COURT FEPCRTER: My husband is a weterinarian.
THE COURT: Did you know that?

KAELYN: No.

THE COURT: Big animals, small animals, or all animals?
EARTYN: All of them.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Good.

THE COURT: All of them?

KAELYN: Umr—huh.

THE COURT: Do you see that big animal?

FAETYN: Yeah.

THE COURT REPCRTER: The judge has buffalo.

THE COURT: Yeah, that's mine.

FAELYN: Ch.

THE COURT: I just tock that last winter.

FAELYN: OCh.

THE COURT REPCRTER: They're big.
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THE CJURT: That's a bull. I don't know how veterinarians
work on animals that big, but I guess they do.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: They do. They're big and scary.
THE COURT: So you must love animals?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Reminds me of my granddaughter Permy.
She loves animals. She has two rabbits.

FEAFELYN: 8o do I.

THE COURT REPCRTER: You have two rabbits?

THE COURT: You hawve rabbits? You're kidding.

EAFLYN: HNo, I do.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Cool.

THE COURT: Wow. Well, Penny would lewe that.

THE COURT REPCRTER: What are your rabbits' names?
FAELYN: Hops and Baby.

THE COURT: Boys ot girls, or do you know?

KAELYN: Boy and a girl.

THE COURT: Boy and a girl. Where do you guys live at?
FAELYN: Antelope ridge.

THE COURT: Where?

EYDEN: Antelope Ridge.

KAELYN: It's Antelope Ridge.

THE COURT: ©Ckay. Where's that at?

FAFLYN: Down Tower Road.

THE COURT: Out by the base?
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EYDEN:; Yeah, it's right next to the base. It used to
be ==

KAELYN: It used to ke on the bhase.

KEYDEN: It used to be part of the base.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: It's old base housing that they turned
into ——

FAELYMN: TYeah.

THE COURT: <h, I've probably seen it.

FAELYN: Yeah, you probably have.

THE COURT: Is it pretty — I mean, is it a big
development, like a lot of houses or just a few?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Ch, it is?

EYDEN: It's got quite a few.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Like apartments or houses?

KRELYN: Houses.

THE COURT: So, Kyden, how long have you lived there?
EYDEN: I would say since maybe, I beliewve, 2021.

THE COURT: ©Ch, a couple years?

FAELYN: Yesh, I don't ewven know how many years, but it's
been a. lot.

THE COURT: But before that didn't you live on the base or
close to the base?

FAERLYMN: TYeah, we lived on base.

THE COURT: So how long have you lived in and around, we'll
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say the base?

EX¥DEN: T believe like almost like --

KAELYMN: Ten years.

EYDEN: T think like even maybe 13 years.

THE COURT: OCkay. Most of your livea?

KAELYN: Yeah.

FYDEN: Um=lhuh.

THE COURT: EHKaelyn, where were you born?

FAELYMN: Tdaho.

THE COURT: Whoa'! How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: Yeah, Idaho.

THE COURT: Same place, Idaho?

FAELYN: TUm-huh.

KYDEN: Um-huh,

THE COURT: Was vour dad on a base or scmething, or why
ware you guys in Idaho?

KAELYN: I'm pretty sure he was in the military.
THE COURT: In the malitary?

FAETYN: And then we got moved here when T was one.
THE COURT: So that's probably why you're in Idaho?
FRAELYN: TUm~huh.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: Yeah, do you know the name of that
base? Isn't it & different kind of neme?

FAFLYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: Was your dad in the Air Force?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©kay. Are you close enocugh at Antelope Ridge
to hear those big old jets taking off and landing?
EAFELYN: Sometimes.

THE COURT: Sometimes?

KAELYN: Yeah.

FEYDEN: T heard the one crashing.

EARTYN: Oh, yeah, we heard the ——

THE COURT: ©h, I heard about that on the news.

FYDEN: T could hear what scunded like bomb shells going
TE.

THE COURT: Yeah, that was just recently.

FYDEN: Um=huh.

THE COURT REPCORTER: That's kind of scary.

THE COURT: Well, Kaelyn, if you're going to be a
veterinarian, you'll have to do really well at school and
go to school for a long time.

FAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Are you coamitted to doing that?

KAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: OCkay.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Do you like science a lot?

KAELYN: MNo, I hate science.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: OCops.

THE COURT: You'll have to learn to like that a little bBit.
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FAFLYN: TYeah, well, I like science on animals. I don't
like any other kind of science though.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Like biclogy, you like biclogy
probably?

KRELYN: Yeah. I don't understand any other kind of
sclence.

THE COURT: ©Okay. HNow at Antelope Ridge, do you live in an
apartment, a duplex, a single family house? T mean, how do
you get to have your rabbits out there?

EYDEN: Tt'as a four --

THE COURT: Four?

FYDEN: —-- house. It's got a house and then a house and
then a house and then a house.

THE COURT: Like a four plex?

FAELYN: Yeah.

ENDEMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. And s¢ you have a backyard then, or do
you keep the rabbits inside?

FAELYN: We keep the rabbits insides, but we also have a
dog.

THE COURT: Ch.

HAETYN: So, yeah, we have a backyard, but it's not like a
really big backyard.

THE COURT: How long hawve you had the rabbits?

FAELYN: That's a good cquestion. 1 think they're going to
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bhe four. So I think we've had them for three years.

THE COURT: Wow. So I was telling my granddaughter Penny
that I had rabbkits. This was a few years ago. As an adult
I had rabbits, and the first question she asked me is, and
she was really like suspicious looking, she says, "And do
your eat them?" I said, "Moo, I wouldn't eat rabbits. They
were pets." But she's really an animal locwer, sc she was
concerned that — but that wasn't true. I just really like
rabbits myself, and I hawve grandkids, but I think ewven
before the grandkids, T just liked to raise rabbits because
we lived cut of town. They're really a cool animal.
FAELYN: Um-huh, I loved — I've always loved bunnies for
1ike a wvery lohg time.

THE COURT: Yes. How about you, Kyden, do you like — do
you have animals, or is it Just your sister?

EXYDEN: T have a dog.

THE COURT: What's your dog's name?

BXDEMN: Coa.

THE COURT: Coa?

KYDEN: Um-huh, We call him Coa Blue because he's got blue
eyes.

THE COURT: What kind?

KYDEN: He's a Husky.

THE COURT: ©h, those are pretty dogs.

FAELYN: Um-huh.
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THE COURT: <Ch, Tammy and I hawve this case, it wasn't long
ago, where these pecple that were fighting in a divorce
over their dog, Puckey. It was —— the hearing lasted
several hours.

THE COURT FEPCETER: Puckey was cute though.

THE COURT: Very interesting. Very interesting. So what
else do you like to do besides animals, Kaelyn?

EARTYN: T do sports.

THE COURT: What kind of sports?

FAELYN: Cross country, cheerleading, and track.

THE COURT BEPCRETER: What sport do you do cheerleading for?
Foothall?

FAFLYN: Basketball.

THE COURT: Baskethall?

FAELYN: Umhuh.

THE COURT FEPCRTER: That's a lot.

THE COURT: What's the name of the team? I've been in
Douglas's gym before.

FAELYN: That's a good question. I think it's just
Douglas. I don't really —

THE COURT: Does Douglas hawve like a symbol like --
FAFELYN: Well, we have like a Patriot.

THE COURT: ©h, Patriots, okay. How about you, Kyden, are
you in any sports?

EXYDEN: Mo,
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THE COURT: What do vou do besides working, or does that
keep you busy encugh?

KYDEMN: That keeps me busy enough.

THE COURT: How much are you working? Like do you work
20 hours or just the weekends, or how —

KYDEN: Two and a half hours every wesk.

THE COURT: When?

EYDEN: From 2:30 te 5 o'clock.

THE COURT: And Timmeohs 1s right there in Box Elder, is
that right?

EYDEN: Unm-huh.

THE COURT: ©kay. Where do you guys like to eat?
FAETYN: Olive garden.

THE COURT: You too? How much do you like Qlive Garden?
FAELYN: A lot. I lowe pasta.

THE COURT: You lowve pasta. Tell me about what you usually
get there at Olive Garden.

FAFLYN: Tt depends. Sometimes I always share with my mom,
but sometimes I'll get like a kids meal which has
spaghetti.

THE COURT: I've had it. BAnd do you get the meat balls
with it?

KAELYN: No.

THE COURT: MNo, Jjust the pasta?

FAELYN: Yeah, 1t fills me up enough.
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THE CJJRT: Yeah. How often do you get to go there?
KAFLYN: MNot a lot.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: T get the one soup, the potato one.

FRAELYN: The Zuppa?

KYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: The what?

EAELYN: Zuppa.

EXDEN: The Zuppa, the potato zoup cne.

THE COURT: It must be Ttalian or samnething, huoh?

EYDEN: And I get a cheese pasta. Yeah, the raviolis or
scne sort of —

THE COURT: ©Ch, that's good. Making me hungry.

THE COURT REPCRTER: I Inow, me too. I want a breadstick
really bad now.

THE COURT: Do you guys get like -- doen't they have like
unlimited salad too?

FAELYMN: Yeah.

FYDEN: TYeah.

THE COURT: You get all the salad you want and usually
breadsticks too so you can f£fill up on that?

FAELYIN: Yeah.

THE COURT: All right. How about fast food, where do you
like to eat fast food at? McDonald's? Burger King? Taco

places? Kaslyn?
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FAELYN: I don't really like — T like fast focd, but like
I don't at the same time. I'd probably pick like
McDonald's. And then I can't remsmber t it's called,
but it's a Mexican restaurant.

THE COURT: Which Mexican restaurant?

KAELYN: T don't remember what it's called.

THE COURT: Where's it at?

EAFTYN: TIt's by the mall.

F¥DEN: 1It's the one that's by that hotel.

FAETYN: Yeah, it's by the hotel. T don't --

THE COURT: By the mall?

FEYDEN: Yeah, so the mall, vou go up this way on the road
that goes to the mall and then the reataurant is right here
with a parking lot and there's a hotel.

FAELYN: Yeah.

EXYDEN: And then there's a road that goes that way.
KAELYN: I don't remember names of rcads and stuff all the
way over there.

THE. COURT BEPCRTER: Is it Qdoba?

KAELYMN: HNo.

EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: What kind of food do you like at the Mexican
restaurants?

KAELYN: Enchiladas.

EXYDEN: Enchiladas.
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THE COURT: ©h, really? I like those toc. Is that your
favorite meal, Kyden, 13 the enchiladas, or is it --
EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: -- Olive Garden?

KYDEN: It depends on. I like them all.

THE COURT: You like them all. When's the last time you
went to Olive Garden?

EYDEN: I believe a month ago.

THE COURT: Whe did you go with?

EYDEN: ©Our mom.

THE COURT: Where does mom work? Krista, right?

FAELYN; Yeah, I don't know. It's some like mail place.
FYDEN: Um=huh.

THE COURT: What town?

FAELYN: I think it's —-

EXYDEN: Tt's between Rapid City and Box Elder.

FAELYN: Yeah, I don't really know.

THE COURT: Okay. Do you see that big plant?

FAETYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: That's an Aloe Vera and the story about that
one is is that T just brought it in here like a week ago
and 1t was all turning pale because 1t had been 1n a place
where it wasn't as well heated and it was apparently not
getting enocugh light and it tuwrned green just ocver the

weekend, so anywavs...
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So Olive Garden is both of your favorite places?
EAFLYN: Um-huh.
THE COURT: Okay. And when was the last time you were
there, Kaelyn?
FAELYN: The same time Kyden was.
THE CCURT: A menth ago?
FAFLYN: 7Yesh, something like that.
THE COURT: With mom?
FAELYMN: Yeah.
THE COURT: All raight. And then Kaelyn likes McDonald's
and then Kyden's fawvorite fast food place is a taco place
but we can't remember the name of it where you get
enchiladas?
EYDEN: It's various. I could eat at McDonald's, or it
Just depends on —
THE COURT: But you do like Mexican food? And are you
particular about what taco place you go to, or how about
Taco Johns, Taco Bell?
FAELYN: TI'wve never been to Taco Johns.,
THE COURT: ©h, you never have? That's pretty good food.
EAELYN: No.
THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?
KYDEN: 1I'd go to Tace Bell.
THE COURT: Taco Bell. A1l right, so then is everything

goling okay at home, HKaslyn?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: Doing okay in school?

FAELYN: I hawe all As.

THE COURT: ©h, that's -— wouw.

FAELYN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: That's impressive. Kyden, iz everything golng
all right with you at home?

EYDEN: Yeah. My grades are As and Bs. T have an F in
math because talking on the phone and seeing Joe makes me
stressed and I canmot concentrate.

THE COURT: ©h. You talk to ham on the phone? You're
talking about your dad? You call him Joe or dad?

FAELYN: Joe.

EYDEN: I call him Joe.

THE COURT: Okay.

EXYDEN: But the only thing T say to him is "good-bye, Jos."
More of a — I don't really care to talk to him because I
don't want to talk to him.

THE COURT: Because of stuff in the past?

KYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: Have you ever heard that expression about scpe
things fram the past should just stay in the past?

KAELYN: TYesah, I've heard that before.

EXYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: You'wve heard that? Where did you hear that,
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Kaelymn?

KAELYN: Prokably a movie or something.

THE COURT: <h. Do you think that's true sometimes?
KAELYN: Sometimes, yeah.

THE COURT: 7You have a notebook too?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: What's in your notebook?

EARTYN: All my stuff.

THE COURT: Well, what kind of stuff? 5chool stuff?
FAFLYN: Mo, 1it's like about Joe.

THE COURT: Okay.

FAELYN: Well, it's like notes and so like I can read it
and then like everything comes back to me I gquess.

THE COURT: Oh, okay.

FAELYN: Do you want to hear everything?

THE COURT: If you want to read some of it to me, but is it
about like mom and dad kind of stuff?

EAFLYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you think scme of that stuff should stay in
the past?

KARLYMN: Yes.

THE COURT: How come?

FAELYN: Because like — I don't know.

THE COURT: Well, sometimes memories that aren't pleasant

den't comjure U pleasant thoughts and so sometimes it's
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just better to not always focus on scme of the stuff in the
past.

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. Kyden, what do you think about that?
KYDEN: I -just don't want to see him because of the things
he's done to me.

THE COURT: Well, yeah, but he i1s your dad, Kyden. He'll
always be your dad. Do you think that pecple can make
mistakes in their past?

FYDEN: Tt depends.

THE COURT: Hawve you ever made any mistakes?

KEYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: And what -- do you ever learn from them?
Bacause, I mean, I've made them iIn the past and sanetimes I
think I get waluable lessons from them.

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: How about — Kaeslyn, you'd agree?

FAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: That sometimes you make mistakes and you learn
from them?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Ckay. Kyden?

EYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: You do? Because people do make mistakes, you

knew, and they can change. Do you think that's true,
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Kaelymn?

KAELYN: Some people can, yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. What makes them change?

FAELYN: I don't knou.

FKYDEN: Their brain.

THE COURT: Well, do you — what, Kyden?

FAELYN: Their brain.

THE COURT: oOkay. Do you think it takes a commitment
scmetimes that people change because they conmit, they say
to themselwves IT'm going to change and I'm going to take
actions to changes and I'm going to believe that I can
change?

FYDEN: Um=huh.

THE COUFRT: How about you, HKaslyn?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: So, Tammy, have anything you want to add?
THE COURT REPCRTER: I don't think so.

THE COURT: Okay. Got any gquestions for me, Kaelyn?
FAETYN: T don't think T have any gquesticns.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: HNot any questicons?

E¥YDEN: No.

THE COURT: Well, let's talk a little bit about your dad,

Kyden. You have a notebook there and does that have
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different things that have happened between you and —
well, yeu call him Joe -- betiwreen you and Joe, is that
right?

EYDEN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Do you think that some of those things could
stay in the past and that you could at least get to an
understanding to see him and maybe have a dinner with him?
EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: How come?

FYDEN: Because he abused me. He would grab me by the back
of my neck and he would force me to the grouned. He would
then yell at me and call me names.

THE COURT: ©Okay. When did that last happen though, Kyden?
EYDEN: When he was still with us.

THE COURT: Baecause I think this divorce has been going on
since about 2018 or "19, is that about right?

KAELYMN: It's been like five years.

THE COURT: Five years. All right. Same question to you,
Faslyn?

KAELYN: What was the question?

THE COURT: Well, can you put some of what happened in the
past with your dad?

KAELYN: HNo.

THE COURT: It's just going to be samething that's -- you

can't forgive him?
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FAFLYM: No.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Explain why.

KAELYN: Because he abused me and he's with my aunt.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Because he's -- all right, so that makes
the family dynamics difficult?

KAELYMN: Um—huh.

THE COURT: Explain.

HAELYN: Because it like confuses my cousins and they think
that we're siblings because their mom is married to Joe and
they act different when they're with their mom so...

THE COURT: Yeah, but I mean how about just meeting with
your dad that wouldn't invelve the cousins?

FAFTYN: T don't want to meet with him. T don't want
anything to do with him.

THE COURT: When's the last time — well, you went to
counseling sessions with him with -- was it Mr. Wheaton?
KAELYN: “Yeah.

THE COURT: At his office. When was the last time that
want on?

KAELYN: Wednesday.

THE COURT: Last Wednesday?

FAELYIN: Yeah.

THE COURT: How did it go?

FAFLYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: Did vyou talk to your dad?
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FAFLYM: No.

THE COURT: How come?

KAELYN: Because I don't want anything to do with him.
THE COURT: He doesn't want to have anything to do with
you?

FAELYN: No, he definitely wants something do with me
because he doesn't stop like trying to get counseling and
stuff for us.

THE COURT: He — okay. You have kind of a soft wvoice.
FAFLYN: Yeah, I was sick, so 1t's like --

THE COURT: He wants to have stuff to do with you or he
does not want to?

FAELYN: He does, but T don't want anything to do with him.
THE COURT: ©Okay. But you'll always be his daughter.
FAELYN: Yeah, I know that.

THE COURT: And you don't think that he's deserving of,
well, forgiving him for same of the things that he's done
in the past?

KAELYN: HNo.

THE COURT: Have you done things that you would want to
hawve pecple forgive you about or not?

KAETYN: Yes, but I've never abused somebody. 2Bbuse 13
kind of hard te forgive.

THE COURT: Yeah. But he'll always be your dad.

HAELYN: Yeah.
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THE CJURT: And he has a right to ask — go shead, Tammy.
THE COURT FEPCETER: Well, have you gquys ever heard of
somebody hurting saneone's family member and it's horrible
for this family because this person hurt their family
metber, but somehow they eventually forgive that person?
Hawve you guys ever seen that?

FAELYMN: TYeah.

THE COURT FEPCETER: I mean, that's pretty amazing, isn't
1t?

FAFLYN: TUm-huh.

THE COURT: What do you think, Kaslyn?

KAELYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: Well, if you're getting stralght Rs, you're
doing pretty well in school?

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: And so you have adjusted to whatever situation
you found yourself in pretty well, haven't you?

FAFTLYN: T guess.

THE COURT: Well, not everyone gets straight As, do they?
KAELYMN: HNo.

THE COURT: Are you in like the top of your class at
school?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: And you must realize that you have to do that

to achisve your goals?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: Well, that's a plus. B5So what happened at the
counseling? I mean, did your dad drink in the past?
ERELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Did he drink when you met with him at
the counseling office?

FAFLYN: Mot that T know of.

EYDEN: HNot that T know of.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Do you know what 1t amells like,
alcohol?

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Diad you smell anything like that?

FAETYN: T wasn't close enough.

EYDEN: HNo.

THE COURT: Well, sometimes ——- because I've seen that you
can smell it for a long distance away, 3¢ I think that he
wasn't drinking when he showed up at the counseling
S8331011.

FAETYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Are you afraid of him?

EARELYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Why are you afraid of him?

KAELYN: Because he abused us,

THE COURT: But that was like -- when was the last time

that happoened? Was that five years ago?
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KAELYM: Yeah.

THE COURT: ©Okay. And if you're in a public setting --
like what if he was te take you to Olive Garden, you'd be
in a public setting eating at a restaurant. Nothing's
goityg to happen there. Wouldn't you agree?

FAELYN: No.

THE COURT: You wouldn't agree with that?

ERELYN: No.

THE COURT: How come?

FAFLYN: Because I still don't feel comfortable or safe.
THE COURT: Explain that. Because it just seems like how
would you feel uncomfortable when you're in a public area?
FAFTYN: Because Joe's there.

THE COURT: Huh?

FAELYN: Because Joe 13 there.

THE COURT: Yeah, no, I know, know that, but. ..

KYDEN: He could still call us names.

THE COURT: Yeah, but when's the last time, Kyden, that
he's called you a nhame?

KAELYN: Right before he left,

THE COURT: ©Okay. But we're still talking kind of fiwve
years ago, right, Kyden? Do you really think he'd call you
8 hame noW, even in a restaurant?

EAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: But don't you think that he really wants to
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spend scme time with you?

EXDEN: No.

THE COURT: Why do you think that he's asking the court to
spend time with you? Kyden?

FYDEN: I den't khow, probably to abuse me more or call me
namss because at wvisitation, Joe would try to — when we
would walk away from him, he would try to get in my head by
making me scared and he told me that I would have to move
out when I turned 18 and live on my own.

THE COURT: Was he angry when he said that?

EYDEN: HNo, he was more [inaudible).

THE COURT: But now you know that's not true because you
don't even live with him obwviously; you live with mom.
KYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: How about you, Kaelyn?

FRELYN: What?

THE COURT: Can you forgive him at all?

FLELYN: MNo.

THE COURT: Newer?

FAELYN: Newver,

THE COURT FEPCRTER: What if you guys went to Cliwve Garden
and he didn't call you a name and he didn't abuse you,
would you go again?

FAELYN: No.

THE COURT: Well, what would you do if the roles were
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reversed and you were Joe, your dad, and you really loved
your daughter and your daughter was telling you that you
made mistakes five years ago, how would you ever get the
situation remedied.

KYDEN: Get help and take responsibility.,

KAELYN: I would like take my — get help, take
responsibility from the beginning, and if he still wanted
nothing to do with me, then whatever.

THE COURT: Yeah, but do you understand that you only get
so many kids when you're growm up?

FAELYN: Yep.

THE COURT: You know, and you can't just go get new cnes.
FAELYN: Well, he kind of did.

THE COUERT: No. Bioclogically you're his offspring.
FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Right?

KAELYN: “Yeah.

THE COURT: These other kids are =- are they cousins to
you?

KAELYMN: Yeah.

EYDEN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: OCkay. They're not his biological kids so he
doean't get to get scme new cnes. But, Kyden, I think vyou
said -- you said take responsibility?

EYDEN: Umn-—huh,
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THE CJURT: What else?

EXYDEN: Get help.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Well, for what? Like drinking?

KYDEN: Yeah, and being abusiwve.

THE COURT: ©Okay. »And if he did that?

KYDEN: And if he doesn't —— or if then we still don't have
anything to do with him, then he would then hawve to accept
the fact.

THE COURT: Well, but I mean, that's almost —— Kyden,
that's almost an impossibility there. I mean, it's like
you get help, you don't drink, you accept responsibility
and then you don't get anywhere because then the child
says, well, I still don't want toe have anything to do with
YOU, S50...

FAELYN: It's a little too late now,

THE COURT: Huh?

KAELYMN: My wolce is dying.

THE COURT: Yeah.

FAETYN: Tt's a little too late now. You should have got
help from the beginning.

THE COURT: Well, people make mistakes.

FAELYN: I know.

THE COURT: Pecple ask for forgiveness and they try to move

on and sanetimes they commit to making changes in their

lives. Hawve you ever seen anyone change, really change?
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FAELYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Who?

KAELYN: Well, like not in person, but like in movies
people change.

THE COURT: Um-huh, Well, I think in real life people do
change.

FAELYMN: TYeah.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

FYDEN: It depends.

THE COURT: %Yeah. Well, that's true. But you believe it's
true that people do chare?

FYDEN: Sometimes. It depends on the person.

THE COURT: Well, where would you feel the most camfortable
and the most secure Co meet with your dad, Joe?

FAELYN: Nowhere.

THE COURT: Well, of all of the places, what strikes you as
the place?

THE COURT BEPCRTER: Like you have to pick, let's just say
you have to pick a place, what would you pick?

FAELYN: I can't pick one.

THE COURT: You can't?

FAELYIN: No.

THE COURT REPCRTER: Or you won't?

FAFLYN: I won't.

THE COURT: Well, do you think you make my Job =sasier?
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AELYMN;: Yeah, I would.

THE COURT: Kyden, how about you?

EYDEN: I'd hawve to agree I wouldn't deo that.

THE COURT: So then what do you expect Joe to do?
FAELYN: Leave us alone,

THE COURT: But, yvou know, he has obligations too.
FAELYN: I lnow.

THE COURT: What kind of cbligations do you think he has?
FAELYN: Like what do you mean?

THE COURT: Well, what kind of obligations does your dad
have Lo you? Does — well, I'11 help yvou out,
Financially, do you think he has financial obligations?
FAFTLYN: To us?

THE COURT: To ywou, Lo the children. When you have
children, do you think fathers have responsibilities to pay
for —

KAELYN: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

FYDEN: Um—huh.

THE COURT: Do you think he's doing that?

EAELYN: No.

THE COURT: Wwhy, what makes you say that?

KAELYN: Because mom doesn't have a lot of money.

THE COURT: Right. Do you blame him for that?

ERELYN: Well, he's the one that's not paying.
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THE COURT: Okay. What's he not paying?

KAELYN: Child suppert.

THE COURT: Okay. 50 do you thaink that that would go a
ways towards making you more receptive to spending some
time with him if he was living up to his financial
obligation?

FAELYN: NMo.

THE COURT: Well, then how can he win?

FAELYN: I don't know.

THE COURT: I mean, you expect him to pay what he owes for
SURpOre?

FAELYN: Yep.

THE COURT: But then in return do you think that he should
be entitled to visitation or —

FAELYN: HNo.

THE COURT: HNo, okay. What makes you feel that way, just
because you got mistreated in the past?

FAFLYN: Yeah, because I don't feel safe with him, nor do I
feel comfortable with him.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Now Eyden has articulated, you know, he
said to me that he was abusive towards him.

FAELYN: Um-huh.

THE COURT: What did he do to you to make you feel that
way'?

FAELYN: He mastly abused my mom and Kyden.
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THE CJURT: Ckay.

KAELYN: He would slap me in the back.

THE COURT: How many times did he slap you?

FAETLYN: T don't know how many times.

THE COURT: Well, more than ten?

KAELYN: T don't think more than ten.

THE COURT: More than fiwve?

EARTYN: Probably.

THE COURT: Did you de anything -- and I'm not saying that
anycne deserves to be spanked, but T mean were you doing
anything that caused that in —-

KAELYN: No.

THE COURT: =-- his opinion or your opinion?

KRELYN: It was like the middle of my back is where he'd
slap me and sometimes I'd end up with a mark.

THE COURT: But you said this only happened between five
and ten times in your whole life?

FAELYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Did he apologize for that?

FAELYN: No, he acted like it newver happened.

THE COURT: So what would you like me to do as the judge in
this case? HKaslyn?

KAELYN: I don't want anything to do with Joe 30 I don't
want visitaticn or anything with him.

THE COURT: So you want me to just tell him he can't ever
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see you again?

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE CCOURT: What if he says no?

FAELYN: I don't knou.

THE COURT: Kyden, what do you want me to tell your dad?

KYDEN: That we don't want to see him.

THE COURT: TYeah. And what if he says, well, that's not

good encugh, T think T have a right as Kyden's dad to spend

same time with him?

FYDEN: Well, IT'm almost 18.

THE COURT: Yeah, I know that. I think you said your

birthday is July Znd. Kyden, can you think of anything?
Well, I always believe in coampromise, that, you know,

people need to find scame Kind of a middle ground in a lot

of things. Kyden, do you think that's true?

ENDEN: Um-luh.

THE COURT: How about wvou, Kaslyn?

FAFLYN: TYeah.

THE COURT: And that judges don't always make declsions

that ewveryone's happy with.

FAFLYMN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Do you think that's true?

KAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: How about you, Kyden?

EYDEN: Umn-—huh,
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THE CJURT: Do you think you have to cbhey a judge when they
issue orders in a lawful way in a court proceeding?

EAELYN: ‘Yeah.

THE COURT: Kaelyn, huh?

FAELYN: I'we been doing that.

THE COURT: ©Okay. Well, good for you. Kyden?

FYDEN: Um=lhuh.

THE COURT: Tammy, any other gquestions?

THE COURT REPCRTER: I don't think se.

THE COURT: Guys, have anything you want to say to me?
EAELYN: T den't think so.

THE COURT: Well, it's been a pleasure for me to get to
meet you because T hear about you guys all the time in this
case that's beeh goling on.

FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Ad so it's really a positive for me to get to
see you and put a name and a face together., Kyden, it's
the same with you, I'wve heard about you and a lot about you
both and it's been a pleasure for me to get to meet you ared
it really helps me to understand the situation better.
FAELYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: HNow 1t doesn't mean I do everything that
everybody's pleased with, but it helps me, and like I =aid,
I'we got 3ix grandchildren, we hawve five granddsughters and

we have one grandson, so I understand, you know, kind of
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what it's like to grow up these days.

EAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Hawve you qgquys got cell phones?

KAETLYN: Well, we do, but they only work on the Internet.
THE COURT: ©Ch, okay. Kyden, how about you?

KYDEN: They're old ones.

THE COURT: You have a cell phone?

EARTYN: Tt's just like mane. They're old.

THE COURT: Internet cnly?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

EYDEN: Unm-huh.

THE COURT: So are you commmnicating over like Facebook
Messenger?

KAELYN: No.

KYDEN: Email.

FRELYN: Email.

THE COURT: ©kay. But on this phone, can you get a call?
Could scmebody call you on it and go, "Hey, Kaelyn?"
FAETYN: T den't think so.

KYDEN: T don't think so.

THE COURT: OCkay. Because I think some of those Facebook
messages, there are different programs where you can
camnmnicate owver phones owver the Internet.

EAETYMN: Yep.

THE COURT: Well, 1s there anything, you know, besides
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phones that you wish you had?

KAFLYN: T don't think so.

THE COURT: Is a phone big deal for you? Well, tell me the
truth. I'wve got a granddaughter and I just was visiting
with her yesterday and she's going to be 13 and it's all
about telephones. Is that true for you because you're
older than her?

HAELYN: Mot really. I like running.

THE COURT: You like running?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: Well, good for you. Do most of the kids your
age hawve phones though?

FAFLYN: Yeah.

THE COURT: You do not have a phone?

FAELYMN: Nope.

THE COURT: Kyden, same guestion to you, most of the — you
hawve a phone but apparently it only works over the
Internet?

KAELYN: TYes.

THE COURT: All right,

EYDEN: Yeah, most all the kids in my grade have a phone.
THE COURT: Well, I don't know 1f T'll ever get to meet
with you guys again, but it's been a pleasure to get to
meet you, Kyden and Kaelyn. 2And you know, pursue these

goals that you have because you've got to work at things
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like that, you know, you just have to work at it, be
comitted towards obtaining vour goals in life and take
acticn.

FAELYMN: Yeah.

EYDEN: Un-huh.

THE COURT: I think you already know that. So Tammy,
anything else?

THE COURT FEPCRETER: Nope, I think T'm goocd. Thanks, you
guys.

THE COURT: All raight. Thanks, guys. We'll walk you back
out there.

(The audio recording was concluded. )
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STATE OF SOUTH DRKOTA
b 8 CERTTFICATE OF
TEANSCEIBEFR

el g g™

COUNTY QOF MEADE

I, TAMMY STCOLLF, RPFR, Court Reporter, hereby certify
that the foregoing padges 1 through 39 were transcribad from
an audiotape to the best of my knowledge and ability.

Dated at Sturgis, South Dakota, this 21st day of

August, Z2024.

/5/ Tammy Stolle

TAMMY STOLLE, RER

Official Court Reporter

My Commission Expires: 2/2/28
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March 2, 2021

Haollie Smith

Clayborne, Loos, and Sabers

2834 Jackson Boulevard, Suite 201
Rapid City, 8D 57702

Re: Joseph LeFors, in the interest of Kyden LeFors, DOB: 07.02.06, and Kaelvn LeFors (11)
Drear Attormey Smith:

Joseph LeFors, the father to Kyden and Kaelyn LeFors, and I twice regarding wanting his
children, Kyden and Kzelyn, to retum to counseling. Mr. LeFors came to me with his concern as
[ had s2en his son, Kyden, in late 2011. His goal is 1o have his sons and daughter be more
positively involved with him during his vistationfparenting time with them. He belizves the
children will not return to counseling uniess it i= under a Court order, The children had been in
counseling until September 2020, when their counselor closed her counseling practice because of
her military deployment. Unfortunately, there is essentially no communication between these
parents, They have participated in some legal mediation. These parents wanted 10 yndergo a
custody study, but this has been Enancially prohibitive,

Mr. LeFors states that prior 10 his separation from the children®s mother he had & positive
relationship with Kyden and Kaelyn, The children’s parents, Joseph and Krista, remain
separated since July 2019 and have shared custody. The children ond their father are to have
visits two times & week, They have exchanges &t the Box Eider Police Depariment parking lot.
Mr. LeFors makes a case that the children may be influenced by parental alienation from him.
Although their mother brings them to the visits, the children sometimes refuse to gt ot of the
vehicle, Other times they leave the vehicle but walk away from their father and at mosi say one
santence to him. They walk approximately six blocks and their mother picks them up. Most
recently he tried to just walk with them and they still evaded him. Krista is chserved to not
encourgges the children to enpage with their father and make the most of their visitation time.

Some of the other indications of possible parental alienation by the children's mother are that it
appears she told the children false reasons for why Joseph separmted from her and there have
bean false allegations of abuse. The children might belizve their father is dangerous. [t is
reasenable that it would be in the children’s best interest to have them come to counseling to
identify their reasons for not being involved with their father during their visitation time and how

Eand Comespesilens ix

Fapehological Associabes of the Black Hills, LLC
1818 W, Fulbon Sk, Saite 200
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to improwve this time together, If that counseling were to be with me, it would be my plan to
involve thoir mother regarding her position on the separation and visitations and meet with the
children together and individually regarding their positions on visitation and their baliefs and
feelings towards their father.

Mr. LeFors will discuss with you presenting this matter to the Court. Please contact mo should
you peed any edditional information. Thank you tor your consideration of this request.

Respectfully,

@

LT Hi

= 7 11 il H
Licensed Psychologist
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Seplemnber 3, 2021

Honorable Kevin J. Krull
Fourth Judicial Clreuit Courl
PO Box 939

Sturgis, 3D 37783

Ro:  Daniel LeFors v. Krista Mae LeFors, File Mo, 46 DIV, 198
Degr Judpe Krull;

I have been authorized and requested to update the Court regarding Joe LeFors® efforts to
increase his parenting time with his children, Kyden (15) and Kaelyn (12). | initially met with
Mr. LeFors and had a bricfer mesting with Krista LeFors regarding thelr perspectives on this
current fumily problem. I then met with the children together but without thelr mother, On
August 5th we had our first visit in which the children were to meet in my office with their
father. Itis significant that Kyden, who has Autism Spectrum Disorder, largely follows his sister
and mother's lead, Kaeelyn has said she has no intention of re-establishing a relationship with her
father, 2o there is no need 1o cooperate with counseling. In our first visit with their father,
Kaglyn and Kyden left the office and building when [ went to get their father to joln us and
tefissed to meet with him. The next week they did remain in the office and we had a visit with
the children saying nothing. On the third and fourth visits the childrenrefused to enter the office
and Kaclyn again left the building, In the third visit we met with Kyden in the waiting room, as
ke hed remained in the building. The children are saying very little in their visits. Other than the
children being in the seme room with their father, which they have not done for some time, we
have not mede any progress.

This iz obviously & very complicated family issue, Itinvolves not only this family of four but the
children’s aunt, uncle, and cousins. Ms. LeFors is hurt and vengeful. Mr, LeFors is trying to
have both his relatjonship with Courtney and a reletionship with his children, His children (as
well as their maother) are of the opinion that his reletionship with Courtney is wrong and they will
not resume a relationship with him if he continues his relationship with Courtney.

It is my opinion that the children have been lied o about their father's alcohol use being
problematic, that he was often viclent towards their mother, and that he is a physical threat to the
children, The children claim when they “visit" their father they think it possible he would try o
harm them, even with a weapon,

S Tormmpordensy b
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To her credit, Krista LaFors has brought the childeen to each of their sppointments and conveys
wanting the children to have a relationship with their father, As ordered, Mr. LeFors began his
visitation time in August. The children immediately run off from him, He regulerly makes his
phone calls and if the children speak to him it is largely to say they will not speak to him.

It is my opinion thet Joseph is making a true effoet to tey 1o re-esiablish his relationship with his
children. They are clearly not giving him an opportunity, Most children are verytolerant of
their parents’ flaws and extend many opportunities to & faulty parent to prove themss hves,
Knzlyn and Kyden not being willing to do this reflects the alicnation they are subject to. [am of
the opindon that Ms. LeFors is trving to look compliant on the surface and undemeath it all has
piven messages to the children that they are nol to re-establish a relationship with their father,
Everthe victim, she tries to convey herself as powerless to make the children make an unwented
effort with thelr father. She needs to be fnn with them aboul the nesd to stay present and spend
time, even five minutes, with their father.

Working with this family has exceeded my strength and skills, end 1 am not sure 1 have much
more io offer them. My recommendations are that consideration be given to the visits taking
place ot United Families where the children, 17 they get [nslde, cannot so easily run from their
father. Joe will try writing mare fo the children to see ifthey will begin communicating this
way. [ will include their mother in the vigits af the office. Krista needs to be firm with the
children that they will spend time with their father. | believe that if the children do spend some
time with him it will help them develop a more realistic opinion of him and hopefully overcome
their current biased opinion.

Respectfully,

Licensed Psychologist
G Drebra D, Watzon, Attomey al Law
Hollie Smith, Attomey al Law
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November 3, 2021 RECEIVED

NOV 05 2021
Honorable Kevin J. Krull
Fourth Judicial Circuit Court
P.0, Box 939
Sturigis, 81 57785

Re: Joseph LeFors v, Krista Maz 1.eFors, File No. 46 DIV, 19-8
Dear Judge Brall:

I am writing to update the Court regarding my involvement with Joseph LoFors and his chiidren, Kyden
and Kaelyn, since the lest hearing in September 2021, | have not seen Kyden or Kaelyn or Ms. LeFors
since September 2, 2021, Krista LeFors cancelled the children’ s appointment with me on September 23",
When I later asked her by telephone for her plans sbout rescheduling the children, she indicated she
needed to clarify with her attorney if these were necessary, Her question was whether the visitations at
United Families were equivalent to the children's counseling because it involved them being with their
father. 1 explained my understanding that sesing their father at United Families would be considered a
parenting time visitation. 1 thought otharwise meeting with me, which often would include their father,
was considerad counseling. Ms. LeFors has never rescheduled the childran,

I have had two mestings with Joseph LeFoss, largely for him to provide updates of his visitation/parenting
time with Kyden and Kaelyn. Unfortunately, thay are not making any effortto engage with their father in
npdltnfumungmmt and aceommodations by the United Families staff. The United Families summary
notes that in the first ten visits the children new they could refose to be in the same room with their
father, The visit could end and their mother could pick them up. To date the most successfil parenting
time hos besn when Mr. LeFors walks with them from the Box Elder polise atntlm parking Lot to their
home u'ﬂn:y by to evade him. Mr, LeFors continues to have email communieation with Kuelyn in spite
of her continuing to be quite critical of her father and stating she wants no involvement with him.

I see no indications that there are any efforts to reduce the parental alienation that has occuned. It B my
recommendation that Ms. LeFors be involved and in the room during both the panenting time visils and
counseling visits, However, she should not be presence once the phone call between Joe and cither child
has begun, The parents need permission to not follow the Court Orders so rigidly that it is counter-

Llr.'-msﬂﬂ I’a-:.-'dm.nglsr
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Paychologhcal Associates of the Rladc Hills, L1.C
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September 1, 2022
Honorable Kevin L Krull
Fourth Judicial Circuit Court
PO, Box 939
S, 80 57785

Re:  Joseph LeFors v, Krista Mae LeFors, in the Interest of Kyden and Kaelyn LeFors,
File No, 46 DIV, 19-8

Dear Judge Krull:

[ am writing again the update the Court and other parties regarding my counseling with the LeFors
Famnily.- 1 ia!-Ewm;n: on June 30, 2022 and indicatéd that | was closing my office in Rapid City and
Wﬂfkmg only in Custer: I made a referral to Rapid City Counseling as Ithink they are the one, prwldar
ﬂ:.uLﬂmld work' wrﬂnhm, difficult family. 31:-& kept his intial gppointmed m’ﬁ. tiich the parent p

$150 out of pocketfor an initial Lr:!r.hea!ﬂw. visit to.Sereen their fit fi:rrﬂu-hrsx:hﬂglhﬂ'n Krista

tefitsad th have-an initial appoinkment, stating Jt is. tma.fﬁ::rdahie 1 agree wuhha LaFors that: th1s =
excuse is not valld a.m:l another excuze to not engage in further counseling and show that the childfen

are a priority. T believe the family’s insurance would cover additional visits if aceepted into counseling.

The other matter that my last letter addressed was the meeting point for the beginning of parenting
time. Krista would not meet Joe at McDonald's to exchange the children. Upon my recommendation,
loe agreed to meet Krista at WaTiki rather then McDonald's to facilitate the beginning of visits.

Kaelyn has hegun crpss- gountry after school. Kyden is not in after-school activities, Krista does not
bring him to WaTiki at 4:00 p.m. Krista has insisted Joe meet the children af Douglad Middle School et
4:45 p.m. to begin their parenting ime. Their visits continue with the children still walking home,
trying to elude and not communicate with their father. With a late start and shorter walk, Joe has much
leaa time to spend with them. While in some regpects thizs may be a more convenient place for the
exchange, it is not Krista's position to deem where the visits begin and that the time can be shorter.

Krista makes frequent references to Joe that he is not co-parenting with her. However, she makes this
sceusation out of convenience and is herself not making efforts to facilitate Joe's ime with the
children. 1 believe that it hes become her lifestyle to create obstacles to Joe reestablishing &
relationship with his children. She acts as though she will not be held accountable. In contrest, Toe
continues to work hard at having betler visits with the children. He has been open to and tried my
recommendations. Krista continues to tell the children their father is morally wrong to be with
Cowurtney and is danperons.

Gead Corewapondesin oy

Ps-;q'-:hulrushll Apsociales of the Black HElls, 1LLO
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Krista also indicated to Joe he needed to text her in order to have the next scheduled visit. This ssems
like an unnecessary level of effort to control the situation. At times, she does not have the children

dressed properly for the weather or appropriate footwear for the long walking that they choose to do
during parenting time.

| make the following recommmendations. With a2 new Judge, that the Court exert more control and
consequences for violaton of Orders. The familics satablish therapy with Rapid City Counseling or
another provider. Ma. LeFors must make up Joe's missed parensing time. 1 have recommended to Mr,
LeFors that he have a third-party substance-use assessment and assessment of whether his leve] of
anger and risk of being violent is problematic, as Ms. LeFors claims. 1t i3 my opinion these
assagsments will retlect that Joe does not have thess pmblm I also re::cnnmmd that hath parents
receive personality testing, such as the Minnesota M tory-3 (MMPI-3) and
Millon: Clinical Multiaxial Inventopy-IV (MCMI-IV) anﬁ d':m thara-sul’r.ﬂ- he pr:mﬂad to their future

counselor. Mr. LeFors has already agreed to doing these assessments. Ms. LeFors should not make the
effort to observe when Joe is picked up for his ride to his vehicle at the end of the visitation time. The

children are then home safely and not in his care. Ms. LeFors" ongeing alienation of the children from
their father still warrants congideration of a reversal of the eurrent primary custody,

Respectfully,

T ——

P]:L.I!l

LII:-E[I.Bﬂd Pa:.rr:hu]ngtﬂt

(-] Debra Watson, Attormey at Law
Hollie Smith, Attomey at Law
Kristw LeFors
Jogeph LeFors
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COUNSELING SERVICES

September 22, 2023

Honorable Judge Tohn H. Fitzgerald
Forth Judicial Circuit Court

PO Box 939

Sturgis, S 577RS

Re: LeFors v. LeFors, Reunification Counseling (Case: 45DIV1%-000008)
Dear Honorable Judge Fitzgerald:

As directed in the Order On Maotion To Address Plaintiff's Parenting Time dated 08/18/2023, 1
have been asked to attempt to facilitate reunification coungeling between Joséph LeFors and his
two children; Kyden LeFors (dob: 07/02/2006) and Kailyn LeFors (dob: 05/29/2009). The
following is a smmmary of this effort to date,

On August 28, 2023 I met with the two children and their mother, Krista. Knisia attended at the
begimning of the session and the end but the majority of the session was just the two chilidren.
Kaelyn did most of the talking and acts mature for age. Both children were reasonably
cooperative with Kyden providing short answers when addressed directly. Both children
expressed that they did not want a relationship with their father. They claimed that “Joe,” as they
call their father, had abused Kyden and their mother physically before the marital separation
severd] years ago. They dascribed the abuse to Kyden as grabbing the back of his neck and
holding him dewn, [ worked with the children to identify the readblocks to a relationship with
their father and they settled on three.

1. Father's relationship with their sunt {(Mother's brother’s ex-wifi),
2. Father's alcohol use.
3. Fathes's abuse towiard Kyden and mom (Krista).

Based on the concems about aboge this therapist then setap an appoi ntment with the children’s
father, Joseph LeFors, alone for the next session to toy to assess risk and his willingness to
address the above concerns. This appointment was held on August 30, Joseph acknowledges
having drank aleohol but denies any problem with aleohal or use of aleshol around visitation
with the kids. Joseph elaims that when he would put his hand on the back of Eyden's neck it was
to help him calm down when he was dysregulated, He acknowledges that heis in a relationship
with the person that the children identify as their aunt but does not believe this is a problem since

Journey Counsefing Services, LLC Phona: BO5-088-813
2525 W Main 5t Ste 214 Fax: 805-988 -84
Rapid Ciky, SD STH2-24308 wheowt Journeycounselingservices.com
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she is no longer in a relationship with their uncle, He has no intention of ending that relationship.
He did indicate that he was willing to talk to the kids about these things and listen to their
feclings about it all. This therapist also had no indication that he would be a threat to the children
in session, so we planned to meet together with the children next.

O September 6 & session was held with JToseph and Kaelyn, This therapist chose to just have
Kaelyn meet with Joseph this session since she was the leader of communication and I wanted to
work on the individual relstionships betvieen the kids and their father as a starting point to see
how they would respond to each other, She initially would not come into the office and after
briefly opening the door and seeing him in the waiting area stood outside. This therapist had
Joseph enter the meeting room then talked to her outside to convines her to come In and give me
a chance to help them. She was cooperative and interaetive in the session, We were able to
address all three roadblocks, though no resolution was attained or really expected &t this point.
They discussed their different perspectives on what Eashyn believes was abuse of her mother and
Joseph describes as an incident of her mother blocking the door and then falling when he pushed
through the door to leave the house. Regarding the aleohol use, they discussed this and Kaelyn's
concerns that she could smeall alcohol on his breath at the visits. He denied drinking before the
visits and elaims to have done breathalyzers after the acousations to prove he had not been
drinking. He acknowledged to her that has drank aleohol other times when not responsible for
the kids but denies that it has been a problem. Kaelyn did talk about wanting her father to come
back horme injtially after the separation and being mad at him for not trying harder to save the
family. She described him helping with the nighttime routines including bath and reading before
the separation. When asked what changed between when she wanted to have a relationship with
him and have him eome home and now not wanting anything to do with him, she pointed to
finding out about him baing in a relationship with her aunt, He disputes the timing of this.

The next appointment was scheduled for September 13 and was supposed to be with Foseph and
Eyden. Kyden came to the door of the office but refused to come into the office, repeated]y
stating that he did not want a relationship with his father, After about 10 minutes of talking to
him on the sidewalk this theraplst asked him about coming with his sister next week and he said
he would come with her but would not come in if his father was here,

An appointment was scheduled for September 18 for both children to meet with their father.
Again, they came up to the door and Kaelyn opened it briefly and indicated again that she did not
want a relafionship with her father and said something about being uncomfortable. They stood
outside the door of the office on the sidewalk and this therapist talked to them for about 10
minutes. Shortly info this time this therapist asked their father to go fo his vehicls which he did.
Even after he was in his vehicle across the parking lot, they contitued to refiase to come into the
office to talk with this therapist I reassured them that 1 would not ask him to come back into the
office without ther permission, but nothing worked so this therapist went back into the office
and they went to their mother’s vehicle and left,

This iz a complicated and messy situation with a lot of disputed facts and a long history of court
interverntion. This therapist does not have all the history and is in no position to sott out the facts
of the case, [ am only able to report what I have observed to this point and what has been
reported or said to me by the parties. This therapist does not lmow what else to do at this point if

Fage 2 of 3
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the children are not going to be required to attend therapy or eooperate with parenting time.
Since the father has had litte to no time with the children in years and has very little influence
aver the children it seems that it would be ap to the mother to facilitate their cooperation with
counscling and visitation, While she has cooparated in bringing them to therapy it is not clear if
there is any effort toward or consequences for their refusal o cooperate. I the children are truly
seared of their father, then maybe an effort needs to be made to utilize a supervised visitation
setting with video where & third paaty can ensure their safety and record the nteractions to have
record of any concerns and evidence of any progréss, It is reported that in the past they have
refused to attend supervised visitation and were allowed to not see their father even in that
setting.

The next session is tentatively scheduled for October 4 with both children and their father, Since
there has been no consequence for the children’s refusal 1o cooperate with the court order it is
expected that they will again refiise to Join the session. This therapist may resort to trying again
to meet with them separate from their father to 2 if any progress can be made but otherwise this
therapist does not know what else to do. This therapist has discussed the case with Melanieo
Tomno, who has been the children’s therapist, and she said she believes that it is in the best
interest of the children to have a relationship with their father which this therapist also supporls
but without their cooparation in counseling or ay other time it is not clear how a relationship
can be facilitated. Any dircetion or assistance from the court would be appreciatad,

Sincerely,

yltihal B W exiFoy

Michael E. Wheaton, MA
LMFT, QMHP

Ce: Debra D. Watson, Hollie E. Smith, Krista LeFors, Joseph LeFors (all by email)

Page d of 3
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COUNSELING SERVICES

Febroary 3, 2024

Honorable Jedge John H. Fitzgerald
Forth Judicial Circuit Court

PO Box 939

Sturgis, S 37785

Re: LeFors v, LeFors, Rewnilication Counseling (Case: 468DTV 19-000008)
Deear Honorable Judge Fitzoerald:

As discusaed at the hearing on December 21, 20623, Melanis Torno and 1 (Michasl E. Wheaton)
have continued to attempt to facilitate reenification counseling betwsen Joseph LeFors and his
two children; Kyden LeFors (dolh: 07/02/2006) and Kailyn LeFors (dob; 05/29/2009). Bath
parcnts and the children were present for all schieduled appointments as requested,

There have been 3 meetings between the children and their father, with the planned 20 minutes
with Tormo to prep, then about 200 minotes with their father and [, followed by a debrief with
Toena. Thave ounly been present with the children for the time the children were with their father.

Oither than being present for the meetings, the children have continued 1o be lnrpaly
unicooperative. Even being resistant to simple requests by Torno like palling back a hopod or
placing cards on a pile when playing a card game, Over the past 4 or 3 years they have learned
that they can contral the interaction with their father in these situations by stonewalling and
refusing to mieract There have heen no consequences for this behawvior, so they have been able
to continee it and furiher the rupuce in the relationship. At ilvis time, the children have almost all
the power in the relationship, Their refusal to ingeract with their father prevents wiy positive
purrective experiences (o heal any past injuries in the relati onship.

It is this therapist's perspective that the one session that happened in the fall between Kaclynand
her father when she did interact was the only productive interaction that has oceumved. Since that
seasion the children have refased any meaningful interaction with their father and any progress
has been lost. This therapist does not undevstand what changed between that session when she
was willing Lo interact and discoss the issues to now stonewalling and refasing to engage. The
father believes that it is due to the mother’s inlerference with the therapy process. This therapist
has no way to prove il il is the ehildren under their own volition, or iF the mother is invol ved in
the change.

Journay Counsaling Sarvices, LLC Phone: BO5-008-213]
2625 W Main 5L, Sta 214 Fax 805-088-2141
Rapid City, 30 57702-2430 www journeycounselingservices.com



ourney

DM TELIRG SERVICER

Gither way, il seems thal the only way to change the experence between the children amd their
father i for them to have more line with him to cresle the opportunity for positive corrective
axperiences to offset the negative navrative that has been left largely unchallenged. This (herapist
has no ides how to enforce time between the children and their father. Uinless the court hag
reason to believe that the children's futher Is a danper to them it is generally accepted that it is
best for childeen to have a relationship with both parents, This & generally accepted to be true
even if the children don't, at the current fime, want such relationship, Unforlunately, after the
many years of separation feom the father this iz a much more challenging bridge to rebuild, One
option may be extended vigitation with the father where the children and their father have thine to
work oul their differences together and lzarn to cooperate.

[t is this therapist’s opinion that contioued therapy sessions are & waste of time and resources as
long as the children are allowed to stonewall and avoid interaction with their father, Themapy
could be beneficial if the children are required (o participate and interact with their father to
address past conceris and build new positive expericnees, It is nol clear to this therepist how to
et this cooperation, Meeting for less than an hour per week is not likely to create meaningfol
change in this situalion. At the same Hme, iFthis iz the only way tor the father o have contagl
with the children then it may be necessary even if they continus to refise to cooperate.

In eonclusion, I do not know what to recotmimend other than if the court believes that the father
should have a relatronship with his kids that it ia going o require more ttoee with the kids than
hag been provided thus far.

My session notes are enclosed/attached for vour review.

Sinceraly,
‘t‘;".ﬁ‘fﬁ'&:bffwl .-."{f r%f”/f‘é:;‘-"'- T

MMichnel E Wheaton, MA
LMFPT, QMHP

Ce: Debra D, Walson, Hollie E. Smilh, Melanie Toma, IKrista LeFors, Joseph LeFors (all by
email)

Faged of 2
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Bk W, Main 5 Buee 2, Rapid Ciry, 50 57700 Phowe o605711-8812, (6057721-80018

Muiing Address: PO Hoo 387 Baped Ciby, S0 37709
Tamara Ulmer, LESW. LPC-MH, OMHP

Mir. Lefors,

I am wiriting this letter of observation for you to use at your discretion, | began providing family therapy
to yourself and children on 24 March 2020, The family sessions began with telehealth communications
due to COVID-1% and to build rapport. The first face to face family session was held on 31 March 2020,
The second face 1o face Family session was Held on May 8, 2020, Third session via observation and
telehealth on 28 May 2020, The following is the aobservation of the family sessions:

Lestion 1

This session consisted of yourself, son, and daughter. | requested that the son not participated in
the family sessions due to his Dy of Autism and my not having any contact with him prior. | felt that |
needed to bulld more rappert with him prior to engaging him in family sessions. He was however
present and occupied with a therapy dog provided by this therapist. The daughter did participate in the
session, This was a session to establish a base line evaluation of the family functioning between father
and daughter. | requested that the mother drop her children off and then leave the area to reduce any
triangulation and bias, The mother agreed to bring the children but choose to remain in the parking lot
at the meeting site. During the session, the daughter reflected being afraid of her father. She indicated
that the father yells and hits her. Therapist inquired abaut the incidents of the verbal and physical
aggression. The daughter was unable to offer specifics, and when she did offer specifics, they were
vague and anchored with the statement of ™ | can’t remember when, but | was maybe gight or five," |
validated her statements and reinforced that she was safe with me. At which time | invited the father to
join the session, The daughter addressed the father directly, without fear and said to him that he
"necded to fix the Family and come home, She also indicated that she did not want to have anything to
do with him wntil he "got help.” When asked what help her father needs, she indicated that he needad
to stop drinking and come home. During this time, the father listened intently to the daughter and
reassured her that he loved her and that he wants to be a part of her lite. He also indicated that he has
not had a drink onoover a year, The father inguired how he could make their relationship better and
attempted once again to establish a connection, She was closed to this conversation, At this peint
therapist and daughter meet privately and explored her resistance. She indicated that the only way she
waould engage in a relationship with him is if he came home. When asked about her concerns of safety
she reflected that when he is home, she s not afraid. Therapist explored how she needs both parents in
her life for support and her response was " mammy needs support to and he needs to come home to fix

APP. DG2



it." This allowed for conversation about adult relationships and adult topics, Therapist discussed how
she should not be worried, concerned, or involved in the relationship of her parents, that her major
concern is to be a daughter to both and enjoy both, We then developed a plan for enhanced
connectedness, which the daughter came up with. Her plan was for her father to facetime her and her
brother every week on Weds at 430 pm,

Sestion 2

This sesston was for the father, Son, and Daughter. The mother once again was in the parking lot and
refused o beave citing that the children would not do the session unless she was there, The son refused
to participate in the session, simply reflected that he hated "loe” and was mad at him. Did not offer any
further explanation. The daughter indicated the same thing but wanted to give him a letter that she had
witken to him. Both children did not or could not offer any reason why they were angry. When therapist
ingpuired if any verbal, or physical aggression had ocourred they both indicated no. She requested that
the therapist not read the letter. | indicated that today's session we were going to do artwork and
because of that they did not have to say anything to the dad, They were quick to correct me with his
name. Despite the activity suggestion they both indicated not wanting to be there. | invited the father
ko join the session and requested that the son tell his father his refusal to attend session, The son
reflected word for word his reasoning to his father: "l hate Joe and am mad at him." The daughter
simply handed him the letter and said <he did not want to be around " Joe” untll he came home, and she
wias mad at him, Both children then proceeded to go o the parking lot where their mother was waiting,
Therapist continued session with the father and reinforced that it will take time to reengage, He was
clear about wanting a relationship with his children and felt as if their mother was preventing any
opportunity for that to happen, and the only way that would happen if he was to come home, He
described a toxic relationzhip in which his wife engaged in strategies that would harm his mental
wellbeing and potential career, After time the daughter decided to join the session indicating that she
wanted to do chalk art. She along with the therapist and her father prepared the stencil, chalk, and
found a location. The task for the art was to stencil out & word or phrase, &s we engaged in this activity
therapist notes that she, became mare willing to accept different stencil letters, chalk, and sponges from
her father. Therapist alzo notes that her phrase of "1 love mommy and her brother, while excluding her
father was a form of punishment to him. The fBther expressed be was glad she loved her mom and
brother, she replied with a yes. Time ran out of session she went to the car retrieved her phone to
photograph it. 5he did reflect that she was upset of not being able to finish it with the next line of "not
Joe.” Therapist validated her hurt with the family dynamic and reminded her of topics and relationships
of adults are between the adults.

Session 3

The session was conducted via telehealth with observation of the interaction of the children and
father at the predetermined pick up site, This was a request of Joe to therapist inorder to get a better
understanding of the interactions between them, and guidance of how to increase engagement. Upon
arrival I noted that the father and mother were in their perspective vehicles. The mother appeared to be
communicating with the children, The mother, son and daughter exited her vehicle aUwhich time she
gave them hugs, She got back in the car and left. The children walked over to the father's truck,
Therapist notes that the father said hello, to the children and there was no response. The daughter then
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began o do something on the telephone, Therapist encourage the fatber to offer the birthday card and
cupcake he got for the daughter. She did not accept or engage in communication as she was still on the
phone, After a few minutes the children left their father, Therapist encouraged the father to exit his
vehicle and once again attempt to give his presents to her and request that they get into the car. She
velled back no, &g he walked towards the children they began to run, He stopped, The son and daughter
looked back. The son had a smile on his face and the daughter seemed angry. The father got back in his
vehicle and began to follow them to ensure safety, At this time he requested that | continue to stay on
the phone with him. He offered his perspective and reflected his level of hurt and frustration that he is
unable to spend Bme with his children, When the children arrived home approximately 40 minutes later,
the father indicated that he sits in his car, while they wait in their drive way, Therapist suggested that he
kel his daughter be was sorry about not being able to go to her picknick on her birthday due to the
current circumstances. Joe reflected that sentiment and also indicated that he hopes to do something
special with them, After some time, he reflected to the children that he was net allowed to stay in front
of their home and needed to leave,

This therapist notes that there appears to be a high level of influence of the mother to the
children and that the child align with the mother wishes. Both children do not appear to be afraid of the
father and do not display and behaviors that would be indicative of abuse or neglect. For example, most
abused children tend to align with the abusive parent and show them over affection for fear of future
abuse. They may have constant worry that they are doing something wrong, They may have low self-
esteem and show a lack of interest in friends or activities.

This therapist has reinforced the importance of not having the children involved in the divores
process or what happens in the relationship as that can be detrimental to the family functioning.
Therapist indicates that the parents need to reinforce that each parent loves them, that they are glad
they get to spend time with the other parent, and to have fun. Each parent is also not to offer any
negative comments of information about the other parent,

Even though my invelverment with the father and children directly has just begun, | do not feel
that the children are in any danger from either parent. The children would benefit from visitation from
bath parties. It is this therapist apinion that the relationship between the children and mother is to
enrmesh, as the daughter has reflected feeling respansible for ber emotional wellbeing and is
determined to remove her affection for her Father until be comes home, The son appears to simply
parrot his sister's statements, Additionally, the family sessions are progressing in a predictable way and
the family would henefit from continued sessions, Finally, this therapist cannot offer any direction of
child custody issues as it i in this therapist opinion that a home evaluation be done to determing
custody agreement and arrangement. It is clear however that increased engagement between the father
and children is needed to enhance the overall family functioning
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Tarnara Ulmer LPC-MH, MS5W LCSW, OMHP

Doctorate candidate in Marriage and Family Thera py with specialization of military families and
emphasis of trauma
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STATE OF SOUTH DARKOTA b IN CIRCUIT COURT

COUNTY OF MEADE ; = FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
FILE MO, 461001V 19-8
JOSEPH LEFORS,
Plamtiff,
VE. NOTICE OF APPEAL
KRISTA LEFORS,
Defendant.

TO: PLAINTIFE, JOSEPH LEFORS, AND HIS ATTORNEY OF RECORD,
HOLLIE L. SMITH:

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that the Defendant, Krista
LeFors, appeals to the Supreme Court of South Dakota from the Circuit Court’s Order for
Sanctions Following Augost 12, 2024 and September 17, 2024 Hearing in the above-captioned
file, such Order having been filed in the office of the Clerk of Court within and for Meade
Countv, South Dakota, on the 24th day of October, 2024

Dated this 22* day of November, 2024,

SANDERSON LAW
iwf Kaltl S Sonderson

kelly I Sanderson

Attorney tor Defendant Appellant
1102 Junction Ave.

Sturgis, 8D 57785

{G05) T20-B000
kellviasandersomlaw ed. com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 22nd day of November, 2024, a true and

cortect copy of Notice of Appeal was served m the following manner upon the following person,

through Odyssey File & Serve:

Hollie Smuth

Attorney for Plaintiff? Appellee
2834 lackson Blvd., Ste. 201
PO Box 9129

Rapid City, 8D 57704

SANDERSON LAW

‘' Kelly J. Sanderson

Kelly J. S8anderson

Attorney for Delendant’ Appellant
1102 Junction Ave.

Sturgis, 8D 3TT85

(603) T20-R660
kellviadsandersonlawsd. com
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA b IN CIRCUTT COURT

COUNTY OF MEADE ; = FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
FILE NO. 4600V 19-8
JOSEPH LEFORS,
Plamtiff,
VE. NOTICE OF APPEAL
KRISTA LEFORS,
Defendant.

TO: PLAINTIFE, JOSEPH LEFORS, AND HIS ATTORNEY OF RECORD,
HOLLIE L. SMITH:

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that the Defendant, Krista
LeFors, appeals to the Supreme Court of South Dakota from the Circuit Court’s Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law, and Order Following October 24, 2024 Hearing m the above-captionad
file, such Order having been filed in the office of the Clerk of Court within and for Meade
County, South Dakota, on the 20th day of November, 2024,

Dated this 2{th day of December, 2024,

SANDERSON LAW
iwf Kaltl S Sonderson

kelly I Sanderson

Attorney tor Defendant Appellant
1102 Junction Ave.

Sturgis, 8D 57785

{G05) T20-B000
kellviasandersomlaw ed. com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 20th dav of December, 2024, a true and

correct copy of Netlee of Appeal was served in the following manner upon the following person,

through Cudyssey File & Serve:

Holliz Smith

Attorney for Plaintiff Appellee
2834 Jackson Bhvd,, Ste. 201
PO Box 9129

Rapid City, 8D 37709

SANDERSON LAW

mf ey JE I

Kelly I Sanderson

Attorney tor Delendant Appellant
1102 Junction Ave

Bturgis, 8 57783

(605) T20-8660
kellyviisandersonlaw sd. com
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IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE
STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA

Supreme Court Appeal No. 30766

JOSEPH D. LEFORS,
Plaintiff and Appellee,
V5.
KRISTA M. LEFORS,

Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MEADE COUNTY, SOUTH DAKOTA

THE HONORABLE JOHN FITZGERALD
CIRCUIT COURT IUDGE

APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF

Hollie L. Siith Kelly I Smnderson

Clavbome. Loos & Sabers, LLP Sanderson Law

P.O. Box 9129 1102 Junction Avenuoe

Rapid City, 8D 577049 Bturgis, 81 57785

{605) 721-1517 {6035) T20-R660
hamithi@clelavers met Eellviasandarsonlawed. com
Antorney For Plaintift Appellee Attorney For Defendant Appellant

Motice of Appeal filed July 22, 2024

Fibad: 232035 11:43 AM CET Suprems Court, State of South Dakata #30755
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Joseph has claimed that parental alienation has been occurring throughout these
proceedings. Dr. Perrenoud was appointed in this matter and did believe that alienation
was occurring by krista. During the same time that Dr. Perrenoud made his findings the
children's coumselor, Melamie Tomo, found that there was no evidence of Krsia
alienating the children from Joseph, SE 2212 and SR 2438, Ms, Tomo disagreed
completely with D, Perrenoud’s findings based off of her internctions with the children.
SR 2438, App. 082, Ms. Tomo found that the children would often become frusirated
with their mother becanse she was oo encouraging of their relationship with their Tather.
App. 045, Ms. Torno testified that Knsta never tried to sway her opinion which often
times will happen in situations of alienation. App. 083, During these hearings related to
alienation, Judge Kevin Krull was presiding over this file, On December 2, 2022 Judge
Krull issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order where he specilically
found that the children did not trust Dr. Perrenoud and would not speak to him because
they did not feel safe with him. SR 2593, App, 1H). Judge Krull found and concluded that
there was insufficient evidence to find alienation. App. 101. Judae Krull also found and
concluded that the relationship between Joseph and the children was damaged to the
point that it was almost beyond repair. Jd,

BEELY

1. The Circuit Court abused its discretion hy finding Krista had violated the
vizsitation order based off the miner child*s action,

Joseph's brief ignores thal Krista did comply with the Cowt Order by making the
minor child attend each visit and instead frames this as missed parenting time. When

in fact krista did comply with the Court Order. She took the child 1o the restaurant



twice cach week and left the arca, The Circunl Court similarly fmiled to recognize that
the visits did oceur and the minor child was present. Appellant’s Briel APP 076-074.
The Circuit Court is punishing Krista because Joseph did not like the outcome of how
his visits were going and did not hke that the minor child was unwilling to speak 1o
him. Krista has not willfully violated the Cowrt Order. She had the child at every
supper visil. What oceurred after she left was out of her control and should not result
i sanctions against her.

The Circunt Court Failed to consider the affirmative steps that Krista did take to try
to get the minor child to speak or eat with Joseph. “The parent has an obligation to
take affirmative steps to encourage compliance with visitation orders and parents
have an ohligation to attempt to overcome the child s resistance 1o visitation, ™ Dean
w Cook, 2017 COA 51, 22, 413 P.3d 246, 251, In re Marriage of Marez, 2014 MT
333, 9 2%, 340 P.3d 520, 527 (Mont. 20014) (quoting fr re AMarriage of Rideout, 150
Wino2d 337, 77T PAd 1174, 1182 (Wash, 2003)). The Circuit Court never inquired into
the steps that Joseph was taking to repamr his relationship with has daughter and
mstead placed all of the burden on Krista alone.

Krista provided a number of things that she did 1o try to help this relationship. See
Appellant’s Brief APP 050-062. Furthermore, the Court has been unwilling 1o give
her any guidance on what more she can do to help Joseph's relationship with their
daughter. The Circuit Court has ignored the professional guidance of Melanie Tormnoe
whao believes Joseph needs to take steps to better the relationship. fd. at (68, The
Court has failed to properly weigh the evidence betore it. Krista has been sanctioned

for doing exactly what the Court Order requires of her, Which is to drop the minor



child off at Culver’s or (Mive Garden and leave. The Court completely disregarded

the expert testimony of Melanie Tomo who found no evidence of alienation and has

found nothing to suggest that Krista is to blame for the relationship between Father
and child.
2, The Circuit Court abused its discretion by sanctioning Krista.

The hest mterests of the child remains the guiding principal in all cases revolving
around miner children. See Jensen v. Horfon, ZN.W . 3d 20 (8.D. 2024). The Court did not
make any findings related to how the sanction of S500 per visit would impact the minor
children. Krista is the mam provider for these children. Although the oldest son 1% now an
adult Krista supports him completely. The Circunt Court fanled to make any findings on
how these sanctions would impact the minor children and Krista’s ability to support them
which 15 i error.

Further the Court has imposed 3500 per visit which amounted to 82,000 total which is
over the 51,046} authorized by statute, The plain language of the statute reads “To require
the offender to pay a civil penalty of nol more than the sum of one thousand doellars:™
SDCL § 25-4A-5(3). It does not authorize the Court to award sanctions in excess of one

thousand dollars,

3, Sanctions for Atteorney Fees Must be Keasonable.

SDCL 25-4A-5 allows sanction of attorey fees for the “express purpose of punishing
the offender.” Hiller v, Hiller, 2018 5.1, 74, 9 28, 919 N.W.2d 348, 556 “Therefore, a
cirewt court's findings relating to necessity are sulficient so long as they adequately
support the determimation that the offending party has willfully vielated or willfully Failed

to comply with any provisions of a custody or visitation decree.” fd at 351, However,



even under this Statute, attomey fees must still be reasonable and must have been
metrred solely as a result of the noncomphance. See Id. at 551, Here the Circunt Court
made no findings related to the reasonableness of the attorney fees ordered. No Affidavit
of Attorney Fees nor an mvoioe was entered into evidence and as such the Circnit Court
had no evidence to support a finding of how these fees were incurred or to gauge their
reasomableness.

CONCLUSION

The Circurt Court has erred in imposing sanctions against Krista for the minor child’s
unwillingness to speak to Joseph. Krista has comphied with the Court Order. Krista
should not be sanctioned. The Circuit Court erred in sanctioning Krista more than the one
thowsand dollars allowed by statute and erred in awarding attorney fees withowt making
any finding related to the reasonableness of those fees. Krista respectfully requests that
this Court reverse the Order of the Circuit Court and vacate the award for sanctions and
remand this matter so that an order may be issued that = consistent with the best inlerests

of the mumor chald.
Dated this 3™ dav of February, 2025,

Respectfully submitted

SANDERSON LAW

by ) o=

kKelly 1. Sanderson

Attorney for Appellant/Defendant
1102 Junction Ave.

Bturgis, 80 3778S

(603) T20-Boad0
kellyviasandersonlawsd. com




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 3rd day of Februarv, 2025, she
electronically filed the foregoing documents with the Clerk of the Supreme Court via
Odyssey Electronic Filing System, and further certifies that the foregoing document was
also served via Odyssey Electrome Filing System and mailed via 1.8, Mail, postage
prepaid thereon to:

Holhe Smath
Claybome, Loos & Sabers, LLP
PO Box 9129
Ramd City. 5D 57709-9129

The undersigned further certifies that the eriginal copy of the Appellant’s Reply

Brief in the above-entitled action was mailed to the Clerk of the Supreme Court. 300 East
Capitol Avenue, Pierre, 81 57501, on the date written above.
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Kellv J. Sanderson
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Pursuant o SDCL 13-26A-66(b K 4), the undersigned hereby states that the
foregoing brief is typed m proportionally spaced typeface in Times New Roman 12-point
font. This brief is 4 pages in length, not including the Appendix. The word processor used

tor prepare this brief indicates there are 1102 words m the body of this brief.
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STATE OF SOUTH DRAKCTA IN CIRCUIT COURT

el g g™

CCOUNTY OF MEADE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIFCUTT

JOSEPH D. LEFCRS,

Plaintiff,
Motions Hearing

Vs,
46DTV15-8

FRISTA M. LEFORS,
Defendant.

I

BEFORE:  THE HONMORAELE KEVIN J. KRULL
Circuit Court Judge
Sturgis, South Daketa
March 3, 2022 at 1:30 p.m.

APFPERFAMNCES:
For the Plaintiff: Hollie L. Smith
Attormey at Law
2834 Jackson Boulevard, Suite Z01
Rapid City, South Dakota 57709
For the Defendant: Debra D, Watson

Attorney at Law
804 West Boulewvard
Fapid City, South Dakota 57701
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Filed on: 03/15/2022 MEADE County, South Dakota 460DNMN192-000008
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(WHEREUPON, the following proceedings were duly had:)
THE COURT: This is Divorce File 19-8. It's the Lefors
matter., The Flaintiff is here with Ms. Smith. The
Defendant is here with Ms. Watson. This is the time and
place set for basically a continued motions hearing.

The last hearing we had was on, I think it was
December 21st. We had another one scheduled for January
and then I believe Ms. Watson was 111, and so we
rescheduled for today. Now the attorneys may hawve to help
me a little bit about procedurally. The last testimony we
took was from Dr. Perrenoud, is that correct?

M3, WATSCN: That 1s correct.

THE COURT: OCkay, wvery good.

MS. SMITH: And my client for just a short —

THE COURT: ©Okay, all right. B2And that was — all right.
T4 this Ms. Torno here?

M3, WATSON: It is.

THE COURT: Okay. Ms. Smith, do you have other witnesses
to call today? I'm a little — I'm not sure whose turn it
is I guess is what I'm saying.

MB. SMOITH: Right. I beliewe it i1s Ma. Watson's witness,
Ms. Tormo, and then depending on time, 1f Ms. Lefors does
not testify, I do not plan on calling my client, but if she
does testify, I assume T will want to hawve my client

testify in rebuttal.
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THE CJURT: ©kay.

MS. SMOITH: But that's just sort of my position on that.
THE COURT: Any other witnesses besides anybody that's in
the courtroom right nocw?

MS. WATSCN: 7Yes, the plan is to have the children --

THE COURT: Right, okay.

MS. WATSCON: -- come up after scheool.

THE COURT: Sure, and approximately 3:45 is when they would
arrive?

M5. WATSON: That's what we're anticipating.

THE COURT: Okay. You know, I'wve only been doing this for
a litktle over two years. I have met with children in
camera. I'm wWwilling to do it in this case. T think I
would like to talk to them separately, not Just no
attormeys and anybody there, but talk to the scn and then
talk to the daughter separately. I will have my court
reporter in there. Well, I don't know, does either party
hawe a position == I'm not going to be in a room with the
door closed with a child alone, ckay, that's just my
personal policy. I have had my court reporter came in with
me when I'wve done this. I could hawve her be in therxre
making a record, or I could have her be in there just beling
inh there. Doesz either party — and I'll figure that out,
but does either party have any position on that?

M5, WATSON: Well, I guess my concern 15, and mavbe we can
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address this through the children's counselor if that —-
with Kyden's autism, I think he doesn't say a lot unless
his =zister's there. I mean, he's just not real talkative,
so he would be uncomfortable T think by himself, but T
don't know. I mean, I thank probably the counselor would
be cne to address that more than me, but —

THE COURT: Okay.

M3. WATSON: -—- that's what I understand. With his autism
he's just not wvery forthcoming when he's just left all by
himself.

THE COURT: Okay. Based cn what I know about this case,
because of Kyden's autism;, a lot of times he'll just kind
of go along with what his sister =aild, and if they're both
in there, my worry 1s that I may not hear from him, I may
hear him just parroting what hisz sister says, but maybe we
need to hear from Ma. Torno and then I'11 make a decision.
I'm sorry, Ms. Smith, do you have any position on any of
that?

MS. SMOITH: I think having the court reporter in the room,
not making a record, but at least having another female in
the room would be helpful, I think, regardless.

THE COURT: Yeah, okay. Well, 1f T did make a record, I
would seal it, and then if for some reason somebody wanted
to look at it, it would only be accessible by court ocrder.

M5, SMITH: And then if it's possible, I would like to talk

App 005




—

5]
e

to you in chambers pricr to the —— with just counsel if we
could, prior te the children being here.
THE COURT: Sure, sure, we can <o that.
MS. WATSCON: BAnd I don't disagree with you that Kyden
follows his sister's lead although she's several years
younger, and mayvbe you could wisit with him before her.
You know, they could be in the same room, but he could talk
first, I don't know. But you're right, I mean I do think
that with his autism he tends to follow his sister's lead.
I mean, I don't know what's the right answer, I guess.
THE COURT: Okay. Well, I'll just keep that in the back of
my mind and think about it as we go along. 8o, all right,
anything else we need to cover hefore we call our witness?
MS. WATSON: I have nothing further.
M5. SMITH: No.
THE COURT: ©Ckay. Go ahead, Ms. Watson.
MS. WATSON: Thank you. I1I'd call Melanie Torno.
THE COURT: Please come forward, ma'am.

MELANIE TORHO,
called as a witness, being first duly sworn, testified as
follows:
THE COURT: All right, and ma'am, you've testified in court
hefore, correct?
THE WITNESS: Correct.

THE COURT: All right, wery good. If you sit hers, you can
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hear this hum?
THE WITNESS3: Yes.
THE CCOURT: I have a little kit of a hearing disability, so
I'm going to ask you to speak right inteo that microphone,
okay?
THE WITNESS: COkay.
THE COURT: All right, se pull it closer to you. A1l
right, very good. Go ahead, Ms. Watscn.

DIRECT EXAMIMNATICN
BY MS5. WAT3:
Good afternooct.
Good afternocn.
Please state your name, spelling both your first and last
name.
Melanie Torno. M-E-L-A-N-I-E. Last name T-O-R-N-O.
And, Ms. Torne, you were subpoensed inte court teday, is
that right?
That's correct.
And tell the Court what your work address 1s.
My work address is 730 South Street, Rapid City, South
Dakota 500 -- or 57701.
And 1 you would summarize for the Court your post high
achool education.
I have my bachelor's degree with a double major in human

services and psychology from Black Hills State University.
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I alsc have my master's degree, my master's of science in
counseling and human resource development from Scuth Dakota
State University.

And what year did you get your bachelor's degree?

2001, and my master's was in 2004,

And are you licensed as a professional counselor in South
Dakota?

Yes, I received my LPC, T believe that that was in 2007, my
LEC-MH in 2015, and my OMHP in 2012, I believe.

5o you're licensed —- you've been a licensed professional
counselor, if my math is right, for about 15 years?
Correct.

And what does it take to becane a licensed profeasicnal
counselor in Scuth Daketa?

For my first license, it 1s about a two-year process of
seeing -- you have to accumilate arcund 2,000 hours and you
have to be supervised during that time pericd. You also
hawe to, prier to, I guess, collecting hours for licensure,
you also hawve to pass the NCC which 1s an exXaminaticn.

S0 what does NCC stand for?

Oh, wow, all the credentials. HNational Certified
Counselor, I believe. S0 1it's just a — 1t 1s a test that
15 used through the NBCC which is the National Board of, I
think, Credentialing Counselors.

And then you indicated that you alse have your COMVHP and
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that's Cualified Mental Health Professiconal?

Correct.

And what is entailed in getting that licensure?

For the CMHP, you actually hawve to have taken a class after
you have reached a certain status of licensure and then
you're eligible to take that class, and then you take a
multiple choice test and then you're granted your CMHP.

And you've had that license for the last ten years?
Correct.

And then you indicated that you hawve -- well, it locks like
you're a licensed professicnal counselor period, and then
you're a licensed professicnal counselor — mental health.
What's the difference?

Mental health is the — an LPC-MH is the highest license a
master's level can have in the State of Scuth Dakota. It
means you've had additional training. It also means you'wve
had additional supervision and you have had 3,000 hours of
direct ceontact with clients while being supervised.

And have you been employed as a professicnal counselor
during the past 15 years?

Yes, I worked both in Rapid City School Dastrict, as well
as Douglas School District as a family counselor, and then
I have mowved into my own private practice almost ten years
aga.

In additien to counseling, have you had training as a child
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custody evaluator?

Yeg, I am a -- 4th and 7th Circuit Court, I'm a court
agproved mediator, parent coordinator, as well as a custody
evaluator.

And what training was reguired in order to qualify you to
be a child custody evaluator?

I went through a twe-week custody evaluation training, and
then I also had some additional training supervised by, I
worked a lot with Dr. Simpson when he was still practicing
and so T shadowed some of his work and gained some
knowledge and experience that way as well before I went
into my owWnh.

And do you perform child custody evaluations?

I do.

And in additien to your counseling and your child custody
evaluations, have you also had training as a parenting
coordinator?

Yes.

And what is that training?

So I have received my training through AFCC as a parent
coordination, a series of trainings. I did that in
Chicago. And then I previcusly have been a member of AFCC
and T have gone to multiple trainings, whether it's on
custody evaluation, parent coordination, or mediation, or

Just all encorpassing the whole industry as a whole.
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And are you presently serving as a parenting cocordinator?
Yes.

What do the initials AFCC stand for?

Oh, my gosh, you're asking me the hard questions. I think
it's American Family of Con --

Conciliation ——

Yes.

-— Courts, or scmething like that?

Yes.

Yeah, okay.

I'm sorry, acronyms are much easier than saying the whole
name.

Exactly. 5o in addition to the counseling, child custedy
evaluation, and parent coordination, you indicate that you
also do mediation, right?

Correct.

And you are trained as a mediator?

Correct.

Whetre did you get that training?

I did that through a course in Chicago —— or not — sorry,
and this one was in Colorado, and I did it through
Mediators Without Borders. I did a 40-hour course just as
a general mediation training, and then I did a specialized
additicnal 40 hours of training that specialized in diwvorce

and custody i1ssues.
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Znd yvou also handle mediaticons?

Correct.

And are you also certified as a school counselor?

Yes, I hawe since — in the last sewveral years I hawe let
my certification lapse, but I was certified as a school
counselor as well.

IZnd hawe you worked as a school counselor?

I worked 1n the school districts for eight years, but my
official title was a family counselor.

What's the difference between a school counselor and a
family counselor?

School cowmselors typically will work more with —— in the
classroam oF do some career counseling, depending oh the
age level. My Job was specific to be the llalson between
the scheool and the home enviromment, as well as cutside
agencies, so I kind of played the middleman for that.

2o it scunds like most of your work during the past

15 years has inwvolwved children?

Correct.

What percentage of your work currently involves children?

55 to 60 percent, and that dees fluctuate just depending om

caseloads at the time.

Newi, Ms. Torno, have we covered your education and training

as it relates to your work with children?

Yoo,
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And did I request today you provide to me your curriculium
vitae?

Yes.

And did you do so7

I did.

MS. WATSON: May I approach the witness, Your Honor?

THE COURT: TYou may.

(BY MS. WATSON) Ms. Torno, I'm going to hand you what I've
marked as Defendant's Exhibkit A and ask i1f you recognize
that document?

Yes, I do.

And tell the Court what that is.

It is essentially my background of licensure certification
and specialized trainings and esployment to, I gusss, Jjust
indicate — and including my education, indicate everything
that T have been trained to do.

Is there anything — well, let me ask you this. Is
everything on your curriculum vitae true and correct?

Vs,

And is there anything additional that's accrued since you
provided that that you'd like to add to that?

Do,

MS. WATSON: I'd offer Defendant's Bxhibit A. A copy has
been provided to Ms. Smith.

MS. SMITH: No cbjection.
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THE CJURT: All right. A is received.

(BY M3. WATSCN) Now it appears that in additien to your
education and yvour licensure and your certifications that
we've jJust gone through that you've alsc had scme
specialized traiting?

Correct.

And those are set forth in your curriculum vitae?

Correct.

Now T want to talk about a few of those areas. One of the
areas that it indicates that you hawve specialized training
relates to divorce and custody issues. If you could Just
summarize for the Court what your training has been in that
regard.

In the diverce and custody areas have cbviously been the
trainings for mediation, parent coordination, and custody
evaluation. I have included a large majority of my CEUS
that are reguired of me kiannually. The majority of those
hawe always been geared towards custody and divorce issues,
whether 1t's attending refreshers on custody evaluation,
how to conduct them, specialized areas with domestic
violence, or I have attended mumltiple AFCC trainings for
three to four days at a time just to continue receiving the
newest and latest theories on how to address certain
issues, as well as to have collaboraticons with other

like-minded individuals who are in the same field to be
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able to discuss how to move forward in the most efficient
and T guess, productive manner in our industry.

Newr I didn't ask vou this, but in connection with your
licensing as & licensed professicnal counselor/qualified
mental health professional, are you required on an annual
basis or otherwise to continue your education?

Yes, we are required 40 CEUs biannually, and four of them
must be in some form of an ethics class.

And what 1s a CEU?

A continuing education unit.

And have you done that?

ies.

N you indicated also that you have specialized training
in physical and emotional abuse. Does that include
children?

Yes. I have -- I have gone through CBT trauma focussed
therapy. I have also received additiconal training through
EMDR. which is a technique that's been around for a while
but it's gaining more traction. It's to focus on different
types of anxiety. I primarily use EMDR with adults. You
can use it with children, but it is a specialty for trauma.
So I have done additional trainings that are related to any
type of trauma issue, whether it's child abuse, =zexual
abuse, danestic violence, various types of amxieties, so I

have received those trainings.
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And that kind of leads intc my next guestion. You indicate
that you've got specialized training in damestic violence?
Correct.

And what sort of training do you hawve in that field?

It would go along with some of the CEUs that I have
accumulated. What tends to happen is when you go into a
training for trauma, we go through many different areas.
Scme of it 1is sectioned out into child abuse, some into
domestic violence, 30 1t's an all-encompassing, so it goes
through each of the different types of trauma in that
modality.

You alsc indicated in your specialized training that you
have training in parental alienation, is that right?

Yes.

How do you describe parental alienation?

In layman's termmns -— I guess in layman's terms, the sasiest
terms would be if one parent was trying to detrimentally
impact the relationship with the children with the other
parent.

And where did you get your training on parental alienation?
Through AFCC.

Any other training that you've had that relates to our
present situation that you know of?

Not that I'm aware of.

Nowr did you request that the parents sign a release to
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authorize you to provide infommaticon to Attormey Smith and
myself?

I did.

And did you get a signed release fram Ms. Lefors?

Yes.

Did you get a signed release from Mr. Lefors?

Mo,

Do you need the Court's authorization to discuss these
children in court today?

Tos.

MS. WATSON: So we would ask for that.

THE COURT: ©kay. I'm not sure what requirements you need.
THE WITNESS: T receiwved it from the subpoena, so I would
-— I think that would suffice.

THE COURT: All right. Well, you're authorized to provide
such testimony.

(BY M3, WATSCN] Now, Ms. Torno, are you the counselor for
Kyden and Kaelyn Lefors?

Yes.

When did you assume that role?

I believe my first session was May 3rd of 2021.

And 3o you've been their counselor for almost a year?
Correct.

And who approached you to do counseling for Kyden and
Kaslym?
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I beliewve Krista had called my office.

And 1f you would just spell Kyden and Kaelyn so we make
sure the court reporter knows the spelling.

Oh, it's E-Y-D-E-N and E-A-E-L-Y-MN.

And when you were contacted by Kyden and Kaelyn's mother,
what did she ask you to do?

To provide counseling services for both of her children.
And did she tell you why she had thought they needed
counseling?

Fraom my recollecticn, it was because the parents had been
separated and they were going through a diveorce. I don't
ask many questions when I speak to set up appointments. I
send a follow-up email with paperwork, and there is g
client history form that they are — that they can fill out
and provide me with information pricr to the sessions.
And did you reach out at all to the children's dad?

1 did net.

And has he had any contact with you?

Mo,

Mot when was the first time that —— the first time you saw
the children was May 3rd?

Correct.

Okay. So prior teo that then, you'd recelved =cime
information from their mother?

Yes, but the client history form appears to be filled out
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by both of the children.

Okay. So the information that you received was from the
kids rather than fram the parents?

The administrative insurance informaticn, those types of
things was received from Krista. The client history form
was completed. Tt was signed on the bottoam by Kaelyn and
Kyden.

Now when you saw the children, did you see them together or

separatel y?

Separately. I -- well, T saw them separately for the first
51 sessions, each of them, and then the last four
sessions, I hawve seen them together.

3o before I forget, you undersatand that the children may be
visiting with the judge today?

Correct.

We want the children to feel camfortable and share with the
Judge information.

Um=huih.

So, you know, should they — should the judge be with them
separately, should they be together? What's the best way
to make the children feel comfortable so they will talk?
With Kaelyn I don't think you have any concerns. She will
-— a3 long as she feels comfortable, she will answer the
questicns. I don't foresee any issue of why she would not

angwer any cuestions that were asked by the Jjudge.
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Regarding Kyden, I had — my first six sessions were
individually with him. They were not together, and I did
not have any issues with him asking guestions about this
igsue. I think Kyden would probably be ckay doing it
individually, particularly if there's concerns that he may
parrot what Kaslyn says. I have found through the course
of working with both of them that Kyden has his cumn
opinions, it is not always the same as Kaelyn, and I think
he would be okay speaking with the judge individually.
Okay, great. Thank you.

Yes.

Newi how often — what was the frequency that you saw the
children?

For the first several sesslions, 1T was &Very couple wesks,
two to three weeks, depending on schedule and availability.
I reguested it to be moved out further just because of the
ever—changing things in the relationship with the children
and with their father, and so I requested it be cn a
monthly basis and that has bean that case, except for the
month of January, but I beliewve that there was a vacation
involved and then T had scheduling conflicts as well, so
then-as soon as T could get the kids back in, then T did
meet with them,

And when you meet with the kids, how long is this session?

It's an hour session.
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One hour each, or one hour —

When it was -- for the first six sessions, it was one hour
each for each of the children, and then the last four
sessions which began end of October — sorry, beginning of
Novenber, it has been one hour together,

And why did you decide to meet with the kids together?

I didn't know —— how do I say this? The kids were saying
very similar things. They also view each other as a
support netwerk. I felt like zome of the things that we
were working on was like safety planning, but it was
scmething that they were both experiencing, so it would be
beneficial, and it was repeating the same lsaues every
week, you kndw, and it didn't feel like it was very
productive to meet with them each i1ndividually, so I
cambined it with them meeting together.

I also had knowledge that they were meeting togsther
with Dr. Perrencud and I felt that that might be more
appropriate if that was the style that he was utilizing as
wall,

Nctd can you give the Court scne idea about how many hours
that you'we spent with Kyden and Kaelyn?

So s51x indivachial hours and then — 30 it's been a total of
ten hours; 3ix of them have been individual, four of them
hawe been with them tegether, so a total of ten for each

child.
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And when's the last time that you saw Kyden and Kaelyn?
It was last week. T beliewve it was March Znd.

MNess when you received this intake fram the children, what
did they report was concerning to them?

The majerity of the things that was reported 1s the
relaticnship with Joe.

Were they more specific than that?

They had talked about some things of being afraid, being
fearful, not wanting to have a relationship. So a lot of
it had to do with just a relaticnship piece and being
fearful of that and past 1ssues that had occurred or they
had witnessed,

Okay. Now I'd like to have you describe Kyden for the
Court, his age, perschallity, S0 the Court has scane ldea
about Kyden.

So Kyden is a high schooler, a freshmen T believe. I
started with him in end of May, so I have transitioned —
I'v= had him in more than one grade, but anyway, he's a

very sweet boy. He's very direct. His affect i3 wvery

flat, it's wvery matter of fact. He tells you what he wants

to tell you and then he's done. He comes in with a
notebook. He jJournals his experiences and tells them to
me. I ask a few questions and then he's done talking.
It's very minimal words, but he can carry on a

conversation. I do have good rapport with him. We get
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along fine.
Hawt old i3 Kyden?
1 believe he's 15,
And you indicated that he journals his experiences. Was
that something that you requested, or how did he start
doing that?
He may hsrse done that prior, but I had requested -- we had
talked about how to — as coping skills, how to deal with
things that he was experiencing, and so I had asked him 1f
Journalling would be helpful for him, and so he writes down
very short experiences that seem to bother him.
So what sort of experiences did Kyden journal that bothered
him?
He talked specifically about some of the visitation that
has occurred and specific events. He has Journaled about
past experiences. He has spoke quite a bit about drinking
and then an incident with a gun. Hs has Jjournalsd quite a
bit about that, and then it's mostly just his experiences
and his thoughts on the interacticns that he dees have with
Joe

And then he alsc, as of recently, probably the last
couple of months, has started journaling about his
experiences with the counseling sessions with Dr.

Perrencud.

2 So I want to talk about those separately with you. The
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first thing that you indicated that Kyden talked abcut his
past experiences. You know, one of the past experiences
you talked about was drinking. Tell the Court what Kyden
teold you about that.

He has -- he Just told me —- now mind you, Kyden has wvery
minimal words, so it's not a lot of detail, and tome, I'm
not here to investigate one parent or the cother, my jcb is
to help the kids and to be able to deal and cope with that.
So Kyden has talked about past drinking. I believe he
mentionsed Bud Light. He has just talked about how in the
past while mom and dad were still together that Joe would
drink and that he abused ham, and that's what he called it.
And when you say "he abused him, " you're talking about that
dad abused Kyden?

Kyden, correct,

What did Kyden tell you about that abuse?

Kyden had told me that he would get yelled at, he would
hawve names called to him. I beliewve there was an incident
where he was grabbed by the back of the neck. He had
reported there was an incident where dad had called the
police while he was intoxicated about a gun. I don't know
all of the details of the situaticn. Like I said, it's not
my Job to investigate what had happened; my job is to help
the kids to be able to cope with it. And he had talked

about those experiences, how he 1s fearful of sesing Joe
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and then alsc is fearful in their hame.

So you indicated that you felt that you had a good rapport
with Kyden, right?

Umn-huh.

And tell the Court why you say that.

I'wve actually seen Kyden smile. So he has commmnicated
about other things too, nmot just about this. We'we talked
about his schocl, activities, he's in track. He does have
eye contact with me intermittently. It's not all the time
which I wouldn't expect anyone with autism, but he tells me
things and he's very pleasant. It's not like he dossn't
want teo go; howewver, him and Kaelyn do hawve a joke on who
gets to go first. But other than that, he's always been
very polite, friendly, commmnicates about other things.
How does Kyden, although he has autism, how does he deo in
school?

For the most part from my understanding, he does pretty
well. There are some areas that are more concerning for
him. Homework does take longsr, and that has been an issue
lately, but previcusly — hoamework does take him probably
lenger than most people at his age; howewer, lately he's
indicated it's taking much longer for him to complete it.
And he's on what's called an IEP, an individualized

education plan, at school?

A Correct.
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Because of his autism?

Yes.

And vou mentioned that he was invelved in track?

Correct.

Have there been any social issues involving Kyden?

Mot that I'm aware of. He does say that he has friends.
He named one friend for me, and then will tell me he
doesn't remember the names of the other pecple. I don't
really believe that a lot of social interaction is
important to Kyden, particularly with the autism.

Okay. And then have yvou seen changes in Kyden from the
time that you first started seeing him about a year age
until nowW?

The biggest change I've seen 1nh Kyden 15 he 18 3o Tired.
He will not make it through an entire session anymore. He
will fall asleep. S0 if T need to camunicate with Kyden,
I will inmvolwve him first and keep him engaged as long as I
can, and then he will just == sitting up, he will fall
asleep.

Why is Kyden so tired, did you ask him that?

A According to Kyden, it 13 because of having to stay up so

late for homework, that there have been —— since some of
the wvisitation that has started again, the walking long
periods of time from the McDonald's until wherever he is

picked up, he has indicated that that has played a role in
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it, and then he does his homework after the visitation and
he's up pretty late making sure his homework is done.

2o what did Kyden tell you about his wisits with his dad?
It depends on the day. He has indicated to me that he
dossn't want to go to the wisits. He has indicated to me
that in the beginning it was from the poelice department
until the home, he would just walk home. I was concerned
about that, so we created a safety plan of at least a
specific route to where somebody would know which direction
they had gone instead of cutting through lawns, just in
case, for safety 1ssues.

He did talk about then geing to United FPamilies, not
wanting to participate in the visita. He would walk me
through the process of what would happen while he was
there, whether he was sitting in the reception area, there
ware same times that they had moved them inte a different
room.  They had — the times changed a little bit. They
would have to wait for 15 minutes, I beliewve at first, and
then 1t was an hour. We did talk about he had brought scome
of his harnework with him during that time pericd.

And then as of recently, he had talked about the
visits recurring again starting at McDonald's, walking home
and he would express to me the events of what had happened,
whether Joe had walked with them, what kind of

conversations they had had. He reports that he 15 hot
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camnmicating toe Joe, but just some of the things that were
said to him. He indicated to me about walking -- one of
the last things, walking home during the cold weather, how
his boots were almost frozen when he got home. He had
indicated he was concerned that -- he sald Courtney was
driving by. I newver heard Courtney's name before. I had
heard the aunt. I asked him. They told me that's who it
was, and said that she would drive by, did not stop or have
interactions with them, but would drive by, and then he
said it was to pick up Joe later.

Did you — well, I'm assuming that you believe that it's
important for the kids to hawve a healthy relationship with
their dad?

Correct.

And have you worked with them to try to make that occur?
Yes. When they first came in, it was a very hard and fast
"I don't want a relationship whatsosver." We have — 1
believe 1t was around December time pericd, possibly
January, but T think it was Decembetr, we had talked about
what the possibilities would lock like, what would they
feel comfortable with. The kids feel like they have
apsolutely no volce., They don't feel like they had — it
feels like a wvery out of control situation to them. So we
started talking about, well, what would feel comfortable,

and of course the first answer 1s always "nothing, " but
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then moving beyond that, I would just keep probing them and
we got to the point that they said that they would feel
comfortable —— 1 did not know McDonald's lobby was closed,
otherwise I would not hawe talked about this, but they
talked about going inside of McDonald's, sitting down,
having fresh fries and a milkshake, starting out with small
conversations. We talked about what kind of topic they
might feel comfortable with with starting comversations
instead of jumping straight into desper issues. Obwvicusly
it's a strained relationship, sc locking at where can we
start with bhaby steps to move forward that's not going to
create a trauma response for them, and alsc to be able to
help foster the relationship that they have with dad.

S0 was Kyden willing to do that?

Tes.

And what interrupted that plan?

Part of it was the walking from McDonald's, from MeDonald's
until hcme. There were scome comments that have been made
tome. T don't remenber them all offhand. I don't want to
portray them unaccurately. They're in my notes. Talking
about -— and part of the reason why they are so resistant
now 15 sane of the 1ssues that have occurred with Dr.
Perrencud's office feeling like they are trapped,
indicating -- and this is their percepticn. I -- like I

said, my Job is not to investigate it. I'm just reporting
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what they're saying and how they're feeling, but feeling
like Joe is placed in front of the door in the counseling
sessions. A lot of the comments that are made to them,
both Kyden and Kaelyn feel like Dr. Perrenoud speaks badly,
they use the words, "He speaks bad of my mom.™ They also
feel threatensd like they're either going to go to JSC or
they're going to be removed from mom's custody and have to
live —— then go live with Joe.

Let me Jjust stop you there.

Yeah.

Where did they get the information?

From what they are reporting is that these are comments
made during the sessions that they have with Dr. Perrenoud,
whether it's with Kyden and Kaelyn together, or whether
that is with — while they're alsc present there with Jee.
So where ares those comments caming about custody and going
to J3C and that sort of thing?

I'm not sure. They're reporting that those comments are
said directly to them by Dr. Perrencud.

Now has Kyden said anything else about his sessions with
Dr. Perrencud?

There were two sessions that in particular he

was particularly upset about. One, he was in the zeszsion.
I beliewe it was Kyden, Kaelyn and Joe, as well as Dr.

FPerrencud. Kyden had put his T-shirt up over his head, and
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he reports that Dr. Perrencud teold him he had to stop deing
that, and Kyden felt very uncamfortable with that,
particularly with his autism.

There was ancther time that, T believe Kaelyn had left
the session, and then Kyden was sitting in the reception
area, and it was reported to me that then Dr. Perrencoud,
and T beliewve Joe was present for some of it, at least
that's what was reported, is that they were having an
ongoing counseling session in the reception ares, not in
the privacy of the counseling office, and that was very
uncomfortable.

He's also indicated in the last session they had a —
he had a pillow in front of his face and that was taken
away from him as well.

Now 1s that typical of a child with autism that they would
pull their shirt over their head, or have a pillow, I mean?
With Kyden, Kyden isclates or shuts down when he is
uncomfortable, so we also need to think that Kyden also
doesn't have the developmental capacity that a normal
15—year-old would have, and so that would be scmething that
a younger child would hawe. He doesn't hawve those
appropriate skills, and so for him to hide his face or hide
behind sanething would not seem inappropriate for somebody

with autiam.

Q So would 1t be appropriate to take that sort of security
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away from him?

I perschally weould not.
2o has — forcing Kyden to have these wvisits, has that been
helpful?

I don't belisve 3o, but I also believe we nesd to work
towards having a healthy relationship where these can
DCCUE .

And then with regard to Dr. Perrenoud, do you think that
Eyden's benefitted fram those meetings?

According to Kyden, I do not beliewe so. Kyden hias stated
that he deoes not trust Dr. Perrencoud and will not speak to
him.

3o then we get to the question of what can we do in order
to get Kyden to move forward with having a positive
relaticnship with his dad?

It's baby steps. TIt's really making -— the first and
foramost is Kyden has to feel szafe. He also needs to feel
like if he says something, that it is wvalidated. Tt
doesn't mean that you have to agree with it, but to be
validated, to be told "I hear what you're saying, I
understand what you're saying, that must be painful for
you." Same of the things that Kyden says, we have to
rememier, this is also a perception. Just because you
report samething doesn't always mean that that's exactly

hewtr 1t 15. If you have three people in the room, you're
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going te have three different percepticns, but this is
Kyden's perception and he does not feel safe and that needs
to be the first and foremcst is to make him feel like he is
safe.

How do we do that?

We keep working in counseling. We keep doing baby steps.

I would recommend, like T had said before, recommend small
baby steps, moving — having a — moving into indoor
McDonald's or whatever restaurant is avallable. Meet him
for ice cream, 20 minutes, 30 minutes. Help the kids
create lists of topic that they are comfortable with
cammmnicating about and not talking about izsues that
aren't == that they're not ready to deal with.

And when you met with the children back in December of last
year, they were willing to do that?

Same reluctance, but they -- we arse moving in the — we
were moving in the right direction.

Anything else regarding Kyden before we mowe on to Kaelyn?
I don't think so.

Is your work with Kyden different than your work with
Kaslym?

Mot really. The structure is somswhat the same. With
Eyden te build rapport iz the only difference is Kyden ang
I play games scmetimes and then would commmicate in

between taking turns while playing Sorry. Just
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developmentally that was more appropriate for him, and it's
5till the same process, I just meet them where they're at
and then meet the needs of whatever they need. 1 also Know
that Kyden is al=o going te be with fewer words and so —
and he wants to get it done right away, so we do it right
away and then we mowve onto other things.

What is your goal in coumseling with these children?

My first and foremost goal is to help them have same good
coping skills and to help them feel zafe, to be able to
utilize those skills inte whatever emvircoment they are in,
and then the goal 18 also to help them to have a healthy
relationship with both families, both parents, as well as
deal with their own trauma for the separation of their
parents, as well as the 1ssues leading up to the
separation, which seems to be the biggest issues that they
would consider trauvmatic for them.

Hawve you observed the children with their mother?

In my recepticn area, I have.

And what are your cbservations in that regard?

They get along good. They follow directions when she asks
them to do things. It seems like a pleasant relaticnship.
So next T want to go to Kaelyn. If you would tell the
Court, you know, how old she is and a little bit about her
personality.

Okay. HKaslyn, she was 11 when I started seeing her. 1
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believe she has had a birthday since then. ©Okay, so she is
12 now. Kaelyn is athletic, somewhat ocutgeoing, but she's
alzo wery reserved. MNot wery trusting. You definitely
hawve to earn her trust. Pleasant young lady, polite,
direct, probably strong-willed.

So if you could also describe the relaticnship betwsen
Kyden and Kaelymn.

They are very close. It is almost like Haslyn has to speak
for haim at times. IL 13 — it's almost like they have
their ocwn language, even though it's not necessarily a
verbal lamnguage. They're Jjust very close, I fee] like
Kaelyn takes on somewhat of a protective role of Kyden just
to make sure that what is being said is correct, or -
she's never corrected him when speaking with them together,
so she doesn't — she's not overbearing to him, but if he
struggles with words, she might help him ocut with a few
words to clarify.

And how does Kaelyn deo in school?

Good,

What does that mean?

From my -- she reports that she doesn't hawve any issues
with school, school is kind of easy for her.

And is she inveolved in activities?

Yes, she i1s currently in cheerleading and she has been

involved in some other activities as well.
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@ So what has Kaelyn told you that are areas of concern for

her?

The areas that are concerned for her i1s, number one 1s the
safety factor, feeling safe. She also reports fear. She
expresses different things that she has witnessed versus
Kyden, so they're not the same incidences. Drinking is
still predominantly in the backgrournd. Most of the
instances occurred when alcohol was in use. She does talk
about absolute refusal to have a relationship. We have
worked very hard on that to ewven hawve that be a
possibility, for her to be open to that. I do bhelisve she
is open to it in a small way. She has talked about how to
express her feelings, her sadness, her anger. There's a
1ot of different moving pieces in this case, and
relaticnships with cousins, aunts, uncles that have all
been impacted, 50 just trying to move forward on how to
navigate those relationships. Also knowing what the rules
are and how those rules have changed, and then just her
sadness of 1t.

T want to get a little more clarification on =scme of those
areas, but before that T'd like you to go back in time.
Did you get any feel for what the children's relationship
was like with their dad before their mom and dad separated?
From what T was told by both of children is that Kaelyn and

Joe had a very good relationship and that Kaslyn was the
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favorite child, and that the relationship with Kyden was
somewhat strained even before the separation.

And do you know why it was strained?

From what — from my understanding and percepticn of the
children is because he had autism and was different from
other children.

IZnd hawe we discussed how you'we chserved that Kyden is
different?

What do you mean?

Yeah, with his autism, how he i1s different from other kidsa?
He's wvery soclally different than other kids. His demeanor
1s very flat. It's not — sometimes it's hard te gauge how
Eyden is feeling without directly asking him.

Okay. Then I want to go back and ask you same questicons
about the issues that you've been working with Kaelyn on,
and one of them you sald safety. Why doesn't she feel
safe?

They == from what Kaelyn has said, she does not feel safe
because of a particular incident when there was drinking.
She says that she had witnessed mom being showved into a
closet. There were also times where she had been called
names while Joe had been drinking. She also reports that

there had been a time where she had, she called it getting

snacked. T didn't go into a lot of details of it. We were

Just dealing with how that impacts her and her perceptions
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of those. 5o in her mind, she states, "I was abused by
Joe, " and that's her parception.

And does she relate te you — I mean, did you ask her what
kind of names she was called?

I believe T did at one time. I did not -- I den't believe
I wrote them dowm. To me the names didn't necessarily
matter just because that was -- like T said before, it
wasn't my job to investigate it; my Jjob was to help them to
e able to deal with it.

But it was names that she perceived as negative?

Cortrect.

And then getting smacked, did you ask her what that meant?
I didn't. T mean, she -- to her it was a physical, sane
kind of a physical slap.

Anything else that she had concerns about her zafety?

She was concernsd that -— there was alse, I believe, an
incident where Joe had came to the hame, and because of
that incident, she did not feel safe in her own home.

This was after the parties separated?

Correct,

And what happened when her dad came to the house, do you
krow?

I don't know. I Just know that there — I bheliewe the
police were called. There was — just from her perception,

she felt like that Joe was trying to break intoe the house
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and that she was fearful that he would harm her and her
brother and her mom.

And do you know when this occurred?

It had — it occurred prior to me seeing them, sc it had to
be before May of last vyear.

And then you indicated that Kaelyn talked about her dad's
drinking. What did she tell you about that?

She told me that he was drunk a lot and that he drank Bud
Light.

And did she tell you what it meant to her -- about what
Tdrunk a lot" meant to her?

That's where she indicated that that's when the fighting
would happen, the name calling, the yelling, those types of
things, and she had mentioned Crown Royal at one time as
well.

So what does Kaeslyn tell you about her visits with her dad?
That she completely shuts dowmn, has no intenticns of
speaking. She 1s == she is cautious of things that == the
changes that Jee is doing, walking along with them, some of
the conments. She is somewhat suspicious. She had
indicated in my last session that she felt that there was a
little square camera on Joe's shoulder. T asked her, I
said, did you cammmicate or azk about that? She said neo.
We have been working on trying to have some commmication

ski1ills to at least have somewhat of a dialogus where 1T she
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is concerned about something to ask those gquestions te Joe,
to at least open that up. She's not at the point where she
is able to do that. She's just fearful of the interactions
and what that would entail.

And when you say she's fearful . does her affect match what
she's talking about?

Yes. She appears sometimes to feel beaten down, like she's
not being told — I mean, not being told. It's that what
she 13 saying doesn't matter. She doesn't feel like she
has a weoice, and so she'a -- it's just like she's
withdrawing.

And I'm assuming that's not a good thing?

M.

2o has Kaelyn said anything about how things are going with
Dr. Perrenoud?

Tes.

What has she told you?

She has indicated that she will not speak to him. I
believe from the very first visit, she physically got up,
or maybe she didn't even make it into the room and she
started walking. Dr. Perrenowd had followed her. She had
indicated she was walking down a street where there were
trees. I'm hot exactly sure how far that was from the
building. She has felt that she does not trust Dr.

Ferrencud. She dees not feel safe in the counseling
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sessions.

She has spoken frequently about a story of wolves that
Dr. Perrenocud has told her where he sald that mom told tThem
that Joe was the wolf, but in fact mom's the wolf. He's
macle comments to them about she's mad because dad 1s now
dating the aunt and not with mom, and she said that he has
made comments about she's going to have to go live with Joe
if she deesn't go see Joe, that she would go to a juvenile
facility. He has made comments to Eyden when that -- when
Fyden had the shirt ower his head and then they had made
him take it dowm, that really upset Kaelyn. She felt wvery
protective. She saild that she will not talk to him at all
and she deesn't trust him.
Why doesn't she trust him?
She feels like he 1s on Joe's side and that it deesan't
matter what they say or do. She's also indicated that Dr.
Perrencud, and this is her perception, has made coaments,
bad comments about mom multiple times and she doesn't feel
canfortable with that.
Ncw are the forced wisits, do you believe, helpful to
Kaslym?
N,
S0 what can we do to make the relationship of Kaelyn —— it
sounds like she used to have a good relaticonship with her

dad. How can we get her back to there?
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We — the thing is I really feel like with this particular
case, we have to start with baby steps. Not that I want a
l2-year-old or a 15-year-old to be in charge here because
that's not at all what I want or would recommend; howewer,
they have to have a say too to feel comfortable —- to be
able to feel safe and comfortable. Maybe it's still
starting —— I still think there needs to be some
interaction with their dad, absolutely there does, but it
needs to be on a smaller scale. I don't think the
counseling with Dr. Perrencud is very helpful, and it's --
and I'm not saying anything negative regarding Dr.
Perrencuxd or his skills, but it's the perception of the
kids. They don't feel safe there. They have felt like
that he has set Joe i1n front of the door and used theilr
fear of Joe to manipulate them to stay into the sessicn so
that way they don't leawve, so if they place Joe by the
door, then they feel trapped there.

I think working in smaller steps. They still need to
have an individual therapist and be able to work through
their grief and coping skills and helping them to he more
open-minded about certain things and see different
perceptions, not just theirs, and then working on small
things. Twenty minutes at Dairy Queen or thirty minutesz at
MeDonald's, just small steps in places that make them fesl

comfortable, and in more public places, that's where they
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feel more comfortable, not walking down the train tracks.
So did Kaelyn buy into that, your plan that you're working
with to have a 20- to Z0-minute meeting with their dad and
hawve a shake or ——

It's taken some time, but she had thought that it might be
a possibility. She did hawve rules. She — now mind you,
she 13 11 or 12 and girls can be socmewhat dramatic at that
age. She would make some off comments about belrg
concerned about their food. She wanted to pick up the tray
and take it to the table. T said I don't see why that
would be an issue. Like we can come up with a safety ——
like we called it rules, but it's more of a these are
exXpectations of -- with kids, particularly this age and
Eaelyn 15 so smart, 1s glving her sane buy-1n and the
illusion of some sort of control where she can have an
imput inteo it would help with the relationship, I believe.
2o she wanted to pick up the tray fram when it was
delivered and take it to the table, and that made a world
of difference for her.

So do you believe that if we proceed with these children in
baby steps and start out with some shorter wvisits at a
restaurant that's copen that they'd want to go to, do you
think that eventually you would be able to get them into a

positive relationship with their dad?

A That's the goal. That's always the goal.
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Do the kids lowve their dad?

They have never said that te me. There was one comment
that Kaelyn said to me that she was sad about all of this,
not she was sad about the relationship with her dad, and
that was recently. But anger is a secondary emotion and
that covers up a lot of things, including hurt.

Now hawe you had any commmication with Dr. Perrencud?

Dr. Perrencud called and left me a message. I returned his
call twice, and then he returned mine and then I returned
his back, and we werse never able to commnicate with each
other.

Newi Dr. Perrenoud has suggested that holding the children's
ma>ther in contempt as a means of getting the children to
spend time with theilr dad. Do you think that would be an
effective tool in ilmproving the children's relationship
with their 4dad?

1 perscnally do not. They have a close relaticnship with
Krista. T wview that they would see that as a manipulation
to hurt them to do something that they —— at this point
that they're digging their heels in amnd =aying, "I don't
want to do this." My fear 15 i1f scmething like that were
to occur, that they would dig their heels in even more and
not participate,

Now you talked about your training in parental alienaticon

and you're aware that that's one of the issues that Dr.
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Perrencud has talked about?

Um-hukh.

Hawve you seen in your work with the children any parental
alienation by Krista?

I have not. We've had multiple discussions about it.
Coviocusly I didn't use that term to them. I have asked
them in indirect questions, direct guestions about the
responses that they have witnessed from Krista during —-—
before, during, or after wvisits, or when they're
camumicating about some of the traumatic events that have
occurred. They do have conversations with their mom about
their experiences which would be appropriate, especially
with the nature of the relationship that they hawve.

50 what do the children tell you 1n terms of what thelr
mother's expressing to them about their relationship with
their dad?

They have indicated to me that their mom has been
encouraging of the relationship, has tried to get them to
have visits with Joe. I beliswve that there was a Christmas
gift that was ewven purchased and they =zat it by the tire of
the wehicle at McDonald's. They've also somewhat indicated
some frustration with Krista too because she's encouraging
them to have a relationship where they don't want to.

So let's talk about that. 8o their relationship with their

moan changed because of the visits and their relationship
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with their dad?

There's been scme areas where they haven't been quite happy
with what Krista has encouraged them to do.

And what are those areas that they aren't happy with their
men?

When she encourages them to go have a visit with Joe or
hawve a nice time, some of those more generic comsersations
or communications that would be right before a wvisit.

And have the children indicated that there's been any
discipline imposed as a result of walking hame?

They have not indicated that tome. I know from
conversations cutside of the children that have occurred,
but they have not indicated that to me.

2o what do you know about discipline that's been imposed
because of walking hcome?

And T den't knew if it's been imposed, but T know that it
has been discussed of like loss of privileges or
electrenics, things like that to occur at mom's house based
on not participating in the visits with dad.

Anything else other than the loss of the electronic
privileges that hawe been imposed on the children because
they won't wvisit their dad?

Not that I'm aware of.

Hawve the children ever told you that their mom has in any

way discouraged them from spending time with their dad?
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No, guite on the contrary.

What have they told you?

They have told me that mom has told them to —— that they
should hawve a relationship with their dad, that they'wve
encouraged the relaticnship. I'wve asked them directly
about —— and indirectly, just when certain svents would
happen that they were upset about, T would alsc ask about,
50 what 15 your mom's response, if they had told mam, or 1f
mom had been there, just to get the big picture of seeing
what their percepticns are of what Krista's reactions are
regarding their relationship with dad, and it's never been
anything negative.

N Dr. Perrenoud has suggested that physical custody of
the children change to Mr. Lefors. My question To you, Ms.
Torne, 1s based on your counseling with the children, would
that be a good methed to improve their relationship with
their dad?

In this case I think i1t would actually be detrimental teo
them., T think you would have a 12- ard a 15-year-old that
would probably —- they'we indicated that if that ewver
occurred to them; because they hawe told me that Dr.
Perrencud has sald that this is what should happen, and
they had indicated to me that they would run away. I think
we would then hawve children that would hawve never been in

trouble in the legal system, that we may have those issues
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with running away, and I don't beliewve it would just happen
once, I think it would happen continuously.

Mo accerding to the children, Dr. Perrenoud has suggested
that if they don't wvisit their dad, they'll go to the
Juvenile detention center, is that right?

Yes, they made reference to that.

Is that an appropriate method to resclve the conflict
between the children and their dad?

No, I beliewve that they're going to dig their heels in ewven
more angd resist it even more.

2nd it sounds like from what you've testified so far is
that the children were improving in their, T guess, their
desire for a relatienship with their dad and now 1t kind of
regqressed?

Samewhat. I think we can —— I think we can get back to
where we wers at. I think there's just so much fear that
these kids have. There's lots of unknowns, and then the
fear of what if this happens, what if this happens. It's
constantly living 1n & state of arousal, and it's — one,
it's not physically good for you and it's not emotionally
good for you as well. They need to feel like they can be
zafe., That 1s the mumber one thing. I mean, we even talk
about Maslow's hierarchy of needs. Safety i3z in there.
Safety is your foundation, and so they need to be able to

feel safe. And 1f they feel safe, I think we can move
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forward, and regardless of whether they say that they doen't
want a relatienship, I truly beliewve that they do. We just
need —— they need to be able to feel safe.

And it's a good defense mechanism to say you den't
want samething that you prcbably really do want bBecause
it's painful for you and it doesn't feel safe.

Now as you move forward in working with the children to
envision a meeting with their dad and where 1t would take
place and how 1t would take place, would you be involving
their dad in that process, or were you Just enwvisioning
continuing to work with the children?

2o I'we had multiple conwversations with them. My goal

ig == my primaty goal 1s toe the children, ard 3o we've had
conversations, would yvou be camfortable 1f mom was
involved, would you camfortable if dad was involwved?
They're very adamant caming to me, they would like it to be
Just them and they want it to be their space, that they can
deal with whatewver's going con, process information, come up
with better coping skills. 2And then ideally what would ——
what I would envisicn to be a good solid plan moving
forward is having myself and a family counselor, whether
it's Dr. Perrenoud or somebody else, to work closely
together to have both parties sign releases to where both
counselors can work teogether efficiently to not only help

the children, but then alsc help the family unit, whether
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it's Kaelyn and Kyden and Joe, whether it's HKaelyn and Joe,
whether it's with Krista and whoever needs to be involwved
in that, but te allow the kids to continue to see me Jjust
as their therapist, and then hawve a close relationship with
the family therapist.

MNess do you perceive that it's safe for these children to
walk home?

From the envircrment that they are explaining to me, no.
Why do you zay that?

One, I believe they're walking right next to the railrcad
tracks through Box Flder, and it's for long periods of
time. I beliewe it's, I think they zaid eight miles ox
ten miles. It's a long jaunt. When they had been walking
previcusly Lraom when they were meeting at the police
department, they were running in between pecple's homes.
So if scmething were to ever happen, if they fell, if
they're accidentally hit by a wehicle or bitten by a dog,
nobody would know exactly where they're at.

New you menticned that Kyden has been owverly tired lately.
Have there been issues with Kyden at school recently?

I receiwved two letters regarding Kyden saying that he is
declining in school, he's falling asleep in school.

What do you attribute that to?

Obviously he's tired. Tt could be anything from emcoticnal

stress,. He has also indicated that the visits are — in
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the past, it would be —— the visits didn't ocour as long,
50 1f there was a refusal, then he would walk a certain

distance and then from my understanding Joe would text

Krista to pick up the children, or the children would be at

a closer distance where they would just walk hone in a
shorter pericd of time. That plays part of a role in it,
and then alsoc the length of miles from McDonald's to all
the way home. He had indicated he had walked almost all
the way home T believe four times. T don't know, and
that's a percepticn as well, but that does play a -- that
plays a role in 1t, and then he does his homswork 1n
additicn to that. 2And that was part of the suggesticn of
when you start meeting -- like if they were to ever start
meeting in smaller spurts of time, work on homework or —
because that's part of their daily, ewveryday life, like
Just incorporating some of those things, maybe Joe could
help with a math problem, or you kncw, Just little small
things like that.

And of course when we set up the visits at McDonald's,
nobody knew that McDonald's was closed?

Right.

That's what, I guess, added scme additional —-

Stress.

-- gtress to the situation?

Bight.
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And of course these children are walking in the wintertime,
right?

Correct.

2o, Ms. Torno, you submitted a letter that was dated
September 21st which is in evidence before the court, and I
want to talk a little bit about your letter. Do you
remember that?

T remetber. T den't remember exactly what T wrote, but...
Let me glwve you a copy of it so you've got it before you.
Maybe I didn't have an extra copy, sorry.

That's ockay.

8o in your letter of September 21st —

M5. SMITH: Your Honor, may I approach? T hawve an extra
copy for her.

THE CJJRT: TYeah, go ahead.

Ms. SMOITH: Exeept my foot fell asleep and T can't move,
THE COURT: I hate when that happens.

(BY M3, WATSCN) Ms. Torno, I'm going teo hand you a copy of
your letter that Attorney Smith was gensrous to give us.
Thank you.

And do you recall that letter?

I do,

Now in your letter, I'm locking at the first paragraph, you
say —— you talked about the sessions and then you said, "We

have discussed their parents' separation, wisitation with
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their father with whom they refer to as Joe, their daily
life and actiwvities, their friends and classmates, and
interaction with extended family." Have vou and I cowersed
all of those issues today?

¥es.

So referring te their dad as Joe, you would agres that's
not appropriate?

I would agree, but at the same time when I'm working with
them, if I challenge that —— so when we have a seszion, we
use the name "Joe" just because that is where they are
currently at.

8o how do we get them to call their dad "dad" instead of by
his name?

We start having — one, they need to feel safe, and we
start having successful positive interactions between Joe,
Eyden and Kaelyn.

Is this normal that kids would refer to their dad by name
rather than by relationship?

Mot in most cases, but there's a level of hurt here that —
there's lots of issues that need to be addressed. It's not
Just the diverce and the separaticon. It's —— we're Just
conpiling issues on top of issues with these two children
and they're feeling more and more like what does it matter,
my wvolce isn't going to be heard so this is my way to

retaliate. I'm hurting, so I'm going to hurt somebody else
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and referring to Joe as "Joe" instead of "dad" is cne way
to do that.

And you said that we're compliling issues. What did you
mean by that?

In my professional opinion, they have the initial stresaful
situation of mom and dad separating and then going through
the divorce. That would be stressful for any children.
But you also have children whe have — there have been
events prior to the separation that have newver been dealt
with that they are now being faced with. You have --

B0 we're talking — sorry to interrupt youl.

That's ckay.

But you're talking about the alcoholi=sm and the abuse?
Yeah, correct. And then —

So let me just stop you there again.

Sure.

So how do we resolwve that?

We still need to make the kids feel safe first. I mean,
the bottom line is they're not going to move forward in
anything regarding that issue until they feel szafe. It's
like ripping off the band-aid. You can't just say we're
golng to deal directly with this and rip it off and deal
with it. There's other things. They have to feel safe.
They have to feel warm feelings with Joe and the two kids.

They alsc need to have some positive interactions instead
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of Just the negative cof this is what's happening in my

visits with "dad" or "Joe," whatever they want te refer to

him, and they're just —- it's just intensifying their hurt.

Q@ And so they're hurt because of what happened, but they

really want a relationship with their dad?

I believe that they do, but it's not just with dad. I mean

you alsc hawve changes in relationships. You hawve, you
know, two families who are impacted. In their perception
of this, the relaticnships with people that they cared
about are now different than what they thought that they
were, so that's impacted. There's cousins involwed that
they —— that their relationships hawve been somewhat
impacted as well. So you have many different issues and
then you're trying to resoclve them and they're 1n places
that they don't fesl safe.

So the children, they visited with you about their dad's
relationship with their aunt and —

Briefly.

Do they believe he's dolng to marry the aunt?

I don't — I don't know. We have had surface level
conversations about the relationship.

I suppose that would be awkward to have your aunt becane
your step-mother and yvour cousins become brothers and
sisters?

That is —— they have sxpressed that concern.
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MS. SMITH: 7Your Honor, I'm -just locking at the time here.
I would like an opportunity to get same questions in before
the 3:45 time frame.

THE COURT: 3Sure. All right, are you almost done, Ms.
Watson?

M5. WATSON: T am.

THE COURT: All right, go ahead.

(BY MB. WATSCN) So developmentally do children need scme
time to griewve the parents' separation before they get
imeolved with, you know, other romantic relaticnships by
their parents?

I believe all children should have a grieving process, but

they don't all look the same.

So what do you believe that Kaelyn and Kyden need in order
to grieve the loss of, you know, their parents'
relationship and move forward with whatewer life holds for
them?

In this case it's a little different. From my
understanding, a relationship was already prior established
before the separaticn between mom and dad, so we're kind of
really in a fine line of how do we dictate what a parent
doez,. However, we also need to look at allowing the kids
to grieve the loss of the relationship between their

parents and even the changes in their own relationship with
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their parents.

I den't have -- like there's not a coockie cutter that
says they need this amount of time and then they can mowve
on. In this particular case, I think there's lots of
different issues that need to be listed as priorities of
how to address them. I feel like the relationship with Joe
and T beliewve Courtney, that would be towards the bottom of
the list. There's many other issuss that need to be
addressed first; the grieving of the divorce, the
relationship between Kyden and Joe, Kaelyn and Joe, and
then how — what does that look like moving forward to get
some positive interactions, and then introducing different
aspects and changes in the family dynamics.

And you talked about priorities. Do the children feel that
they're a priority in their dad's life?

They've never used that word, but from --

Yeah, that was my word.

Okay.

You used the word pricrity. T gusss I'm Jjust wondering,
you know, since dad's moved on to another woman, whether
that's impacted the children's feelings about how their dad
feels about them, I guess?

I would speculate that it has. They have not directly =said
that to me, but T know that they're —— they have indicated

cohcerns about Joe spending time with Courtney, as well as,
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I believe there's three cousins, and so that time with the
three cousins that are younger than them and they don't
like 1it.

Now you talked sbout baby steps and that the first wvisit
being, you know, a shorter one with a meal, but how do you
foresee the future then, where do we go from this first
baby step forward, how does this progression work?

You start increasing time, longer periods of time, maybe
not gquite az public places once, you know, trust haz been
established. T still think you need to hawve a family
therapist involwved too that once the kids start having
positive interactions, they can cpen up and start
addressing some of these family issues as well and then
coming back and dealing with their individual coping skills
and respconses with me to help foster that relationship in
the family counseling.

And are there any things that you believe their mam can do
to help that transition, anything that you see that she
hasn't done that she could do?

I think moving down the line of family counseling. I
believe Krista will probably hawve to be imwolved in that.
I don't know at this point what that would be, but T
wouldn't have any additional recommendations.

And what about with regard to the children's dad, what do

you believe based upon your work with the children that
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they feel that they need in crder for them to mowve forward?
I Just feel like first and foremost they need to feel safe
and they need to feel like their voice is being heard. It
doesn't mean that anyone has to agree with them. They just
feel Iike they need to be heard.
A2nd, Ms. Torno, other than what you'we testified here
today, is there any additional recommendaticns that you
have to the court?
I don't believe so.
MS5. WATSCON: No further guestions. Tender for cause.
THE COURT: All right. I will give you your time, we're
Just going to take about a five-minute break, okay?
M5. SMOITH: Ckay.
THE COURT: We will resume 1n five mimates.

A recess was taken.)
THE COURT: RAll right, we're back on the record in the
Lefors matter. Ma'am, I know you'wve testified before,
you're still under ocath. I'm not going te have you sworn
in again.
THE WITNESS: Okay.
THE COURT: You understand that, right?
THE WITNEJS: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Go ahead, Mz. Smith.
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CROSS EXAMINATICN
BY MS. SMITH:
Good afterncen, Ms. Teorno. My name is Hollie Smith. UWe
met earlier. I represent Joseph Lefors. Prior to today's
testimony did you review the transcript or the testimony of
Dr. Perrenoud?
I did not.
Do you believe you're more gqualified than Dr. Perrenoud to
make cbservations in this case?
M5. WATSCON: I'm going te dbject. TIt's for the Court to
make that determination rather than this witness.
THE COURT: Owverruled. You can answer.
Idon't == I believe Dr. Perrencud actually has more
licensure than I do. We just have a different perception,
so I'm not going to say that he's less gualified than I am,
or I'm not going to say that I'm less qualified either.
(BY M3. SMITH) So his observations would be from a
professional peint of view and based on his experiences arxd
licensure, right?
Yes, and his perception and experiences in the case as
well.
And also from a, I would say, scientific based as well
because some of your, you khow, cbservations and things
like that are from your aspecific training as it relates to

pasychaology, right?
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Correct.

Can you as a counselor formally diagnose a client?

Yes.

And what's some of the things that you can diagnose?

I ¢an diagnose anything in the DSM-5.

Are you able to prescribe anything?

1 am not.

And you're aware that this Court specifically appointed Dr.
Perrencud as the, I suppose, doctor for the reunification
process in this case?

From my understanding. And just for the record, I have not
read any court orders, transcripts. T hawve not read any of
that informaticn.

You sald you currently work for Douglas School District?
No, I worked for Douglas School District ten years ago.
You're aWwars Krista also works for the Douglas School
District?

Yes.

Does KErista ever show up late with the children to visits?
Not that I'm aware of. No, not that I'm aware of. I have
not notated any of that.

Are you aware that Krista and the children show up almost
an hour late to Dr. Perrencud's visits?

I don't know anything about that.

But they're usually on time for your wvisits, correct?
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Correct,

What do you know abeout your reguirements, I suppose your
ethical reguirements to the board — I guess who do you
report to? Is there a board that you report to?

For licensure?

Correct.

My board is the board of examiners for the counselors and
METs, marriage family therapists.

And they oversee the ethical —— some of the ethical
coamplaints and things like that from clients?

Correct,

Are you aware of any rule that would require you to
withdraw services if you don't get consent from both
parties?

No. So I did hawe a conversaticon regarding that. That is
the part of the reascn why I had regquested -— well, the
reazon 1'd requested a release between both parties 1s to
hawe better coordinated services. T did inguire about the
signature from Mr. Lefors and it was, from my
understanding, that mom had the custody, the legal and —
or the physical custedy, that she could sign for that and
that 1s why I chose not to do that,

8o there i3 a rule that you are required to abide by that
requires both parties' consent to continue treatment,

correct?
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I don't know of any such rale. T inguire about it as a
courtesy to ensure that if there is like a jeoint legal
custody or if there is something that could cause a
cenflict in the future, that T would technically get both
parents’ signatures on this one.

But you continued services despite Mr. Lefors' chjection to
the treatment?

I didn't know of any cbjection. From my understanding
was — 13 that Krista could consent for the therapy of the
children.

Based on what?

From the comversation that I had with Krista regarding who
had custody of the children.

Did you inguire on who had legal custody, not just physical
custody?

I can't remember the axact conversation.

S0 yvou had taken Ms. Lefors' word that she was authorilzed
to consent for both parties?

Thetre was a conversation regarding that.

And you did not reach out to Mr. Lefors regarding that?

1 did not.

And in fact, you haven't reached out to Mr. Lefors at all?
I have not.

Not met with him?

I hawve not.
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Not reached out to him to get his perspective in this whole
dynamic?

I haven't gotten Krista's perspective either. My focus has
been the kids. The only time that Krista had came into the
segsion was the first about ten minutes where we go over
the consent forms to ensure that the confidentiality was
the most important part and that that stayed with the kids.
You would agree that with this type of reunification the
parties mist be proactive and aggressive, right, in order
for these things to work and not be so far gone that
there's no point of repair?

I don't know 1f I would use the word "aggressive," but
proactive.

And you pellieve one Cime a month to see the children for
counseling is enough?

That was my recamendation because they had alse had family
counseling with Dr. Perrencud,

And you testified that the first few sessions with the
children were not very productive?

No, they were productive.

You had testified that the first couple of sessions, you
didn't do very much with the children? I thought that's
what you had testified to.

No, that's not what I had said.

Fegardless of what the children hawve told you about their,
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gquote, fears of their dad, do yvou believe that those fears
are real?

From what the children have said and how they have
expressed it, yes.

And that is based on what specific incidences currently or
during visitations that you can say?

Recently, including the -- well, not including the ocnes
that I've already testified for. Recently there was —
Kaelyn was concerned about being videotaped. She had
expressed concern about a small square like, almost similar
to like a GoPro vided camera on Joe's shoulder.

There was an incident where they ran into each other
at WaTiki and they had expressed their fear and how they
had ran away.

But what specifically, ma'am, would cause them to have fear
if Just —— 1f my elient is just there? I mean specifically
what has he done at WaTiki that would cause them to be
fearful?

It's not just based on the current behavior. It's based on
the unresolved past behavior that had cccurred, the issues
that had happened prior to the separation and then the
incidents of whatever had happened at their home with Mr.
Lefors.

And that was back in -- well, it would have been in 2018 or

prior te that, right, because the divorce acticn was filed
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in '19 and they had separated at that point?

But you have -- if you have issues that have never been
resolved, they're going to still continue to be traumatic.
They are what we would call triggers.

But you would agree with me that when you're in counseling
with the children and you keep talking about, you know, you
Just hawve to feel safe and you just have to have a safety
plan, isn't that reintegrating what my client would say or
Mr. — or Dr. Perrencud would say, an exaggerated feeling
of fear, contimiing te talk about this safety plan and
feeling safe?

We talked about the safety plan twice in all of the
sessions that we hawve had, =so it's not a8 continual to talk
apout 1t. It's also allowing them to talk about what 1s
concerning them and how to deal with it. So the safety
platning has happened twice and that's been more -- and
it's not a safety plan of — it's more a safety plan of
keeping them cn a path so somebody knows which path they're
walking versus having interactions with Jos, because we're
not even to that point yet because they're so triggered
that they're not able to — their immediate concern is
during the visits,

But you could say, well, let's talk about a different plan,
let's talk about a plan that would make you feel more

comnfortable. I mean, using the word "safe™ is just
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insinuating that —

But T didn't use the word “"safe™ with them.

Well, =zafety plan and making you feel zafe, let's talk
about how we can make you feel safe, right?

Well, when they tell me that they feel unsafe, I'm going to
mirror the same words that they use. That's the same
reascn why when we talk about dad, they refer to him as
Joe. It's mirroring their language.

And just continuing that dialogue, right?

1t is —

And then the next session they're golng to say "Joe"
because you mairrored that dialogue?

This is the dialogue that they have had, that they had long
before me. When I had met with them in the beginning, I
would use the words "dad," and they would say "Joe." If I
wanted to have any kind of a relationship with them,
there's certain words that I would have fo mirror and
that's cne of them.

When we are talking sbout baby steps and maybe an option of
having a sit—dowm at McDonald's for a pericod of time, are
you aware that during the visitations currently in December
and January, that Joe had offered that situaticon to the
children, "Hey, kids, let's go inside of this coffee shop
across the street and just sit dowm, that's all you hawe to

do," were you aware of that?
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Mo,

Could you have been aware of that by talking te Mr. Lefors?
I make it a policy that if parents would like to discuss
things with me and give me information, then they can
contact me. The confidentiality that I have lies with the
children, and if I go outside of that relationship, then it
makes the children feel like they can't trust me with the
information that we're discussing and helping them to be
able to cope and move forward with skills to help them.

But you understand that that could have been helpful in
your treatment or your counseling with the children had you
knowm that that was already a suggestion and the children
refused, right, had you knowm that prior to the session?

It possibly could be.

And yvou understand that this Court and the parties and the
attorneys have already discussed these, what you call baby
steps, to try and rebuild this relationship beginning with
family counseling with Dr. Perrencud, we'wve talked about
other types of baby steps, and you're aware that this Court
has tried those in the past, right?

I don't know what the Court has tried in the past. ILike I
za1d, I have not read any court orders, I have not read any
transcripts. My focus has been with the children.

Do you think the children feel trapped with Dr. -- what you

say "trapped with Dr. Perrenoud” because he wasn't chosen
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by their mother?
I den't beliewve so at all.
But it was Krista that reached ocut to you initially back in
May, right?
I belisve so. I don't remember the whole conversation.
Is there some type of ethical standard within your
profession to keep what you hear about other sessions with
counselors confidential?
What do you mean? Like if the children came to me and had
expressed concerns about another —-
I suppose if you would hear things within a counseling
session with Dr. Perrencud, either through Dr. Perrencud ox
through the children?
Would I keep that confidential?
Are you aware of any confidential guidelines as it relates
to that?
1 know we have confidentiality. I know we also — there
needs to be releases to third parties. HAny information
that I would have spoke with the children, I would not have
spoke to anybody unless I had a release or unless obvicusly
I was subpoenaed and that makes me eligible to be able to
speak on that,

Information that was provided in the counseling
session with the kids regarding their counseling with Dr.

Ferrencud 15 based on thelr perceptions of what occurred,
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and I have not discussed those with anybody except for here
at the court.

And vour goal with counseling has never been reintegration
with their father, right?

Mo,

And vou canneot testify to any cbservations between the
children and their father?

No.

2o what happens when the Court — say the Court orders
these limited parentimg times with the children, say, teo
51t down at MeDonald's and they get up and walk away and
refuse like they hawve the past year, what happens?

Then those are things that need to be addressed
individually in counseling and through family counseling.
Just like what the parties hawve been doing?

But it hasn't been successful.

But you say counseling with vou is going to be successful
like they have been doing since September, or I should say
May?

There's a lot of trauma in this case and it's taken a long
time to get to this point of where they're at, and it's
also going to take a very long time to make a positive
change in this case.

And so the children's father is sugposed to just sit

patient and say, well, if they're —
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That's not what I'm saying.

Let me finish my question, ma'am. He is supposed to sit
back and say — and be patient and wait for the children
when they're, guote, ready to sit down and have a
conversation with him or have some parenting time, right?
It's working towards a positive relationship. The more
negative interactions that you hawve, the more that it's
going to take a longer period of time to repair that. It's
Just adding damage to an already damaged relaticnzhip.

And when you don't hawve that interaction, like my client's
not getting now, you can't build that pesitive
relatienship, right?

But it's also -- the interactions that are poccurring now
are not positlive.

Based on the kids' perception?

Correct.

What are some sighs of parental alienation based on your
experience?

Extrems loyalty to one parent.

Like the kids to Ms. Lefors?

I don't know 1f T would consider that extreme loyalty.
They definitely have a close relationship, but not —— I
would not say it's extreme loyalty., You do hawve your
refusals, usually it's based on baseless information. You

hear regqurgitation of comments, phrases, things that they
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may hear from cutside sources. There would be signs of
coaching, and none of -- I don't have those with Kaeslyn and
Kyden.

But you had testified you'we alsc not seen the exhibits or
any other document as it relates to this divorce
proceading, right?

Correct.

And you talk about the kids' grieving process throwgh the
divorce, and I suppose would that include as a general, you
know, preofessional counselor, would that include Ms. Lefors
Individually accepting the divorce and the relaticonship
belng owver?

I doen't know hew that -- T guess my -- as the children's
therapist, it would be to focus on thelr grieving process,
not Krista's.

Right, but I'm asking you as just a general professional
counselor. Going through a grieving process of a divorce
in general would be accepting that the relationship is
over, right?

T would assume so.

Okay. It would make sense then like in this situation that
if Ms. Lefors is not particularly happy about the
separation or Mr. lLefors' relationship, that it could
trickle down to the children?

It would depend on how those interactions trickled dowmn.
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It would depend on the comversations, the —

Well, let's just assume all of the conversations around
this relationship are negative. It would then trickle down
to the children, right?

It has a possibility, yes.

How specifically hawve the children not been heard up to
this point, even with you being immlved in the counseling?
I'm qust having a hard time understanding the —

This 13 their perception. They feel like they are being
forced to do scmething that they don't want to do. They
feel like —— 1n particular when they reference to Dr.
Perrencud, they hawve talked about how they have been told
that what has cccurred to them has not occurred, so it's a
denying of certain things that they say have occurred.

They alsoc feel like sane of the things that they have said
Just is not being heard either to -—— it's almost like it
has to be a right or wrong., It's =ither black or it's
white, it's not any in between, and it's not allowing them
to state how they feel about 1t, and that's where they're
coming from. If feels like everything that they're saying
is being refuted for whatewver reason; whether it's a
feeling based or fact based. I wasn't saying anything that
they said was campletely factual. T alsoc said that was
their perception, and they're not feeling like their wvoices

are being heard.

App. 073




—

5]
e

Are you aware that it was Dr. Perrenoud's cpindicn that the
children have ocversxaggerated their abuse and fear that
they are alleging and talking te you about in counseling?
I did not know that.

And are you aware that Dr. Perrencud also stated that it is
his opinion that Ms. Lefors has exaggerated her abuse as
well?

I did not know that.

Is 1t fair to say that to understand the remnification
process and rebuilding the relationship between the
children and their dad, you must understand the entire
family dynamic, is that fair?

Same of it, yes.

a2nd you have made a recommendation based on not having an
understanding of their father or even commmicating with
him?

1 made a recamendation based on the percepticon of the
children keeping the children at the focus. It has ncthing
to do with Krista, and 1t has nothing to do with Joe.

Are you aware that when we had tried wvisitation at United
Families, those wvisitations were supervised, right?
Uri—hah.

It allowed the children the avenue to sit and have that
time as muach as they wanted, right?

Ure-huh.
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Other pecple —

THE COURT: Ma'am, you have to say yes or no.

Ch, I'm sorry. Yes.

THE COURT: Go ahead, Ms. Smith.

(BY M3. SMITH] And other people were present during those?
Tes.

The children had an opportunity to sit down, play games, do
their hanework, all those things with their father?

Yas.

And that was not successful?

It was not.

I gquess I'm trying to understand how that scenario 1s
different than what you'wve recampended in terms of having
this safe space and opportunity for the children to do what
they've already had an oppeortunity to do?

I think the biggest difference is -—— yes, I know they're
children. Yes, I know that they need to have direction. I
understand all of that completely, but they alsc feel like
all of the plans that are being said about them of what
they need to do iz being told te them instead of how can we
make this more successful, how can we make this to where
you want to sit down, have a cheeseburger, play a game,
work on your hamework. It's being told to them, and they
feel like they're being forced, which essentially they are,

and I understand that they're minor children, I absolutely
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get that, but they don't have any say in it.

2o it's —--

They're not —— their input is — doesn't feel important to
them which T think if they had some input, T beliewve that
would be -- it may be a game changer in this dynamic here,
2o if they say, "Yeah, I'm just not feeling it, I don't
really want to sit dowm with my dad and hawve a
cheeseburger, " and as their counselor, you would say,
fokay, well, whenewer you feel comfortable, it's fine."
That is not what T was saying. That's not at all what T
Was sSAayIndg.

Okay. How would you approach that?

Well, prior to it happening, we would sit down and talk
about what the expectaticons are, what are they comfortable
with, like topics of conversaticn, have a plan, not Jjust
sitting there staring at somsbody and feeling
uncomfortable. S0 having a plan of what they plan to deo,
what they plan to commnicate, have a safe word, but also
have —— also — the other thing is we also need to discuss
camitment with them. If they comnit to do something, what
does that look like, what's the -- not just the expectation
of Joe, but also the expectation of them as well,

And some consequences if they don't follow through with

what they've committed to?

A 1 think you have to be careful with the consecquences. Now
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I — it feels wery punitive to them amd it has not been
effective. There needs to be -- abaclutely I agree with
consedquences, but not in a punitive style. It needs to
lock like, so if you choose to not do this, what do you
think we should do next time, and they should have input in
it as well. They're develoomentally appropriate. I know
FKyden has autism; howewver, he does understand some cause
and effect. Haelyn is 12 years old. She's getting to the
point that she should be thinking for herself of cause and
effect; if I do this, this is the cause and the -- this 13
what haprens in my behavior. Why not utilize that tool and
work with the kids in that way so they still feel like they
have a volee in 1t, but it's holding their feet to the fire
if they come up with the conseguence instead of sameons
else saying you're going to lose your electronics, you're
goity to JSC, where it feels wvery threatening, very
manipulative. Where if they have buy-in to it and they
hawe input, it's going to be more successful.

You had produced a recammendaticn letter of September Z21st
of 2021. Do you =till hawve that in front of you?

Yes, I do.

T gquess, first of all, are you aware that you produced this
letter in relation to an illegal subpoena?

MS. WATSON: I'm going to odbject as to what's legal or

illegal. It would be the form of the cuestion, she's net
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gqualified to talk about what's legal or illegal.

THE COURT: Well, it's irrelevant. Ask your next guestion,
please.

(BY M2, SMITH) OCkay. Well, hawe you ever been served a
subpoena duces tecum bBafore?

Tes.

Are you aware of certain requirements as it relates to
producing documents to subpoenas? Meaning you have to wait
to produce the documents if the other side has an
objection?

1 did not now there was an objectlon.

Do you henve an insurance carriler through your office?

I do.

MS. WATSON: I'm golng to cbhblect to the gquesticn. That's
threatening.

THE COURT: owverruled. T think she already answered.

Tes, I do.

(BY M3. WATSCN) Hawve you contacted them at all about this
case?

M3, WATSON: Again, it's a threat by opposing counsel.

M3. SMITH: I am not -— I am not threatening.

THE COURT: Just wait. Overruled. You can answer.

I have not contacted them. I didn't —— was unaware that
there was any reason to contact them regarding this case.

(BY M3. SMITH) I'm golita to go over some of the
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reconmendations based on your letter. AL the bottom you
say; "Here are my recammendations for reintegration for
Kaelyn and Kyden.™ In nunker one, you say, "Encourage
relaticnships with both parents and extended family." You
would agree that Joe has not seen the children or had any
meaningful contacts with them for owver two years, right?

I know it's been quite some time.

So that encouragement up to this point would be from either
you or Ms. Lefeors, right?

I'm not sure what you're asking.

Up to this point, that sncouragement or —— yeah,
encouragenent through relationships with both parents and
extended family, if encouragement has happened, it's been
from Ms. lLefors and her family, right?

And it could alsc be from school persomnel or family
friends.

Well, you say both parents and extended family.

Yeah, it says encourage relationships with.

Right, parents and extended family?

Right.

And then mumber two, you say, "Be honest with the children
and provide them with the facts at a lewvel they can
understand and as appropriate for their age." And again,
because my client has not been able to really have any

meaningful comversations, this up to this point would be
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through Ms. Lefors, or you, or pecple at school, cor their
extended family?

I would imagine so.

Number three, "Allow them a safe place to state their
thoughts and feelings." And it's your opinion that Dr.
Perrencud's office is not a safe space?

From their percepticn, that's correct.

MNumber four, "Continue with individual counseling as
needed.” That's been happening, right?

Correck.

"Continee with family counseling.” And that's heen
accurring with Dr. Perrenocud despite the perception whether
it's being succesaful from the children?

Correct.

PFamily counseling should inmvolve all family members,"
number six. That's occurred with Dr. Perrencud, right?

I am not sure. I have not talked with Dr. Perrencud about
that. From my understanding, there has been cne session
where Krista was present, but I don't even know if it was a
full session.

And mumler seven, "Visitation should be supervised in a
securs setting.”" And we've talked about that before, most
all these visitations either with United Families or
parenting time with Dr. Perrenoud were supervised?

Okay.
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And mumber ten, you say, "The children should feel safe to
express their desire to end a sessicon and establish a time
frame to return to the topic being discussed.”" So under
thiz recamendaticn, the children can veluntarily leave and
then 1f they feel comfortable, they can return?

I think there should be some sort of expectation. It also
plays into they're old encugh to understand cause and
effect. If the expectation is that they return during the
session, then we need to have a time line available. This
is more for like a cocl dowm pericd. Sc if something is
emotionally escalated, then they can have a cool dowm,
utilize same of their tools to bring down their emoticnal
regponses and thenh continue with the session.

Are you aware that during the wvisits at United Families,
there were some discussicns about, "Hey, kids, just spend
five minutes and then you can leave," that was discussed in
termms of setting limitations and also giving them the
freedom to leave after that, and maybe some, I den't want
to call them rewards, but you know, hey, if you do this,
then you can leave or go spend some time with your friends
or something like that, are you aware that that cccurred?
I'm not.

And are you aware the children were seeing a counselor
named Tamara Ulmer in 20207

I was not.
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Are you eware that Ms. Ulmer believed that the children
were not actually afraid of their father and did not
display any behaviors that would ke indicatiwve of abuse or
neglect?

I did not.

Are you aware that the children also saw Ms. Haag, I
beliewve it is, RAdria. 2Adria?

MR. IEFORS: Yes.

(BY M3. SMITH) Adria Haag as a counseling?

1 was not.

It's fair to say that it's not productive for children to
bounce from counselor to counselor?

I think you heed to have a rapport built with children.
Dr. Perrencud testified at the last hearing that the
children have been subject to alienation, and not just
general parental alienation, but severe parental alienation
by Ms. Lefors. Do you find that —— do you feel that
parental alienaticn is a form of abuse?

1 do,

Do you disagree with Dr. Perrenoud's asseszment of this
case in terms of the parental alienation?

Fram the little information that I have of what Dr.
Perrencud has stated, yes.

Based on what?

Based on the interaction with the children, the things that
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hawve been said, redirecting my questions in different
manners to where I'm essentially asking the same thing but
in a different form, the rapport that I have built with
them, and then also just watching same of the interactions,
although briefly, with Krista, but with the children I have
not had any —— I guess 1t —

Ma'am, that's based on --

M5. WATSON: I'm going to ask that the witness be able to
finish her answer.

THE COURT: %You can finish your answer, ma'am, if you
weren't done.

If it had been a parental alienation case, I would hawve
expected documents to be flooded to me of past history. I
would have expected that Krista would have tried to have me
ally with the children, or with her and the children.

Those conmversations did not happen. From the very
beginning, Krista was there in the first ten minutes of
each of the children's sessions to go over consent forms
and then the rest of the sessicons have been only with the
children.

(BY M3, SMITH) Right, your sessions have cnly been with
the children?

Correct.

And Dr. Perrenoud has been able to witness the dynamic with

all of the family members, right?
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A If that's what's in his records.

2 And you're aware that Ms. Watson flooded Dr. Perrencud with
court documents, correct?
MS. WATSCN: I'm going te object. T never flocded Dr.
Perrenoud with court documents. I provided him the Court's
order and that was it. T guess I think that I gave him the
findings and conclusions, and the photographs of abuse
because he didn't believe there was any abuse.
THE COURT: Okay. Are you aware of any documents that Ms.
Watson ganse Dr. Perrencud?

A No.
THE COURT: What's your next question, please?
M5. SMITH: That's all T hawve, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Redlrect?
MS. WATSON: I have nothing further.
THE COURT: OCkay, it's ten to four., Should we see if the
children are here?
M. SMITH: Do you mind, Your Honor, if counsel --
THE COURT: No, we'll do that, T haven't forgotten about
that.
MS5. SMITH: Sure.
THE COURT: This can be off the record. You may step down.
MS. WATSON: May she be excused from her subpoena?
THE COURT: Any objections to her release?

MS. SMITH: No.
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THE CJURT: Yes, you're released. Thank you, Ms. Torneo.

(A break was taken. )

(The Court met separately in camera with both Kyden
and Kaelyn off the record.)
THE COURT: All right, we're back on the record in the
Lefors matter. The parties and their attorneys are here.
The record should reflect that I met individually with each
of the two children; Kyden first and then Kaelyn. I had
Tammy in there with me, and you know, I'm not trained in
any of this, but T —- to put it bluntly, I didn't get
anywhere at all. Both children are cormvinced and
resolved — and I'm sorry to say this, sir, but both
children are cenvinced and resolved that they never want to
hawe a relaticnship with thelr dad. It sounded To me as
Mz, Tormo was testifying that she sees a light at the end
of the tunhel. She's way more gualified than I am, but Ms.,
Torno testified that if not both, at least Kaelyn had —— at
scme point in speaking with her, that Ms. Tornc had Kaelyn
say scmething about, well, maybe in the future samething
could work cut. I didn't ewven get that.

Sc we hawve a motion in front, We've heard testimony
at two separate hearings. I told the attorneys that I'm
not ready to give a decisicn today. I want to review the
testimony, I want to review Dr. Perrencud's testimony. I

den't have any brilliant ideas. So does either party wish
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to make any type of record today before we recess? Go
ahead, Ms. Watson.

MS. WATSON: I would just ask, there's a visit on Saturday,
that it be scheduled sane place that's open. I guess
WaTiki will be cne option. I mean, I don't know what's
open, but having it at some place that's closed isn't going
work.

THE COURT: Yeah, that doesn't work. Ms. Smith?

MS. SMITH: I think WaTiki is fine, but my client would
request that Ms. Lefors not be present durimg visitatien.
THE COURT: Yeah, that's probably appropriate. I seem to
recall that there's been some problems with some of Ms.
Lefors' side of the family, there being scme discord there.
Do we have somebody that can drop off the Kids where
there's not going to be a problem?

MS. WATSON: Well, his girlfriend's been at all the visits
too. I mean, it's not one—sided.

THE COURT: No, I understand that.

MS. WATSON: Yeah, but yeah. S5So you don't want my client
to drop them off and pick them up?

THE COURT: Well, that's what you're requesting, right?
M5, SMITH: Well, just not at the WaTiki or the wvicinity of
the wvisitation.

MS. WATSON: But she drops them off and leawves.

M5, SMITH: Right, and we would ask that that continue.
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MS., WATSCON: Yeah, we would agree with that.

THE COURT: That's fine, that's fine. Do we have a time,
do we have a set time?

MS. SMITH: I think it's already set in the prior orders,
right? Saturday from?

MRE. LEFORS: Nine to five.

MS. SMITH: Nine to fiwve.

THE COURT: All right, well, T don't know how it's going to
go. I'm not encouraged by the time that I just spent with
the two children.

All right, like I said, I want to review the Cestimomny
and everything before I make any further deciszicns at this
point, so I'm not going te change anything at this point.
Aanything else for the record, Mz. Watson?

MS. WATSCN: I don't believe so.

THE COURT: Ms. Smith?

Ms. SMITH: Do you have an anticipated time frame of
maybe ==

THE COURT: TYeah, I don't know. When's the next
appointment with Dr. Perrenoud?

MR. IEFORS3: It's the 17th of March, sir.

THE COURT: 17th of March. Well, T don't know that I'1l
hevve a decisich by then. What I'm saying is let's not
change anything at this point.

M5, WATSON: If Ms. Torno was able to arrangs an
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independent kind of meeting with the kids, is that okay?
THE COURT: Ms. Smith, do you have any objecticn to that?
MS. SMITH: Like an individual family?

THE COURT: Yeah, be a little more descriptive. What are
you thinking of?

MS., WATSON: No, well, what she talked about was arranging
a time when the kids would spend 15 or 20 minutes with
their dad at a fast food restaurant she talked about and
she went through the topics they were going to talk about
and how they were going to handle it and that they would
stay.

THE COURT: Right.

M5. WATSON: And she apparently felt they'd bought into it,
and you know, 1f she can do that, I'm all for it, I guess.
THE CORT: I am too. I specifically — well, not
specifically, but T asked something like that if they would
be willing to do that. HNeither child indicated that they
would. If she's able to do that, absclutely.

M3, SMITH: Yeah, my client chviously wouldn't be opposed
to any time that he can get.

THE COURT: Sure, no, I understand.

M3, SMITH: And I think it would be beneficial for both
parties not to have a strict order in place that, you know,
it would allow for that flexibility as long as Ms. Lefors

is on board with ceoordinating those parenting times.
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THE CJURT: Yeah, at this point I'm willing to try anything
that might help.

MS. SMITH: And then just for the record and to confinm,
there's been scone disagreements that counseling is
considered his parenting time, and I think the Court's
prior record or orders have indicated that there's
counseling and then there's Mr. Lefors' parenting time.

THE COURT: I do not consider individual family counseling,
whether it's with Melanie Torno or Dr. Perrencud or anybody
like that, I deo not consider that parenting time.

MS. WATSON: And I guess the other area of conflict is the
kids hawve activities during their scheduled parenting time
and that's created more issues. I guess the flexibility is
the key there, and 1f we can get thelr counselor To work
out some times that works for the kids and works for him,
my client will drop them off, but --

THE COURT: TYeah. No, we talked about that., I talked
about that with both kids. She's in cheerleading and he

would be in track and he's — I think he missed track

practice today, right? Yeah, I don't want that to happen.
So yeah, 1f we can work arcund those, that would be fine.
Like I said, I'mwilling to try whatever,

M3. SMITH: But I think there has to be an understanding
that that's pricrity owver -—— I mean, there's got to be some

flexibility, sure, but there's, mmber one, got to be
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make—up because I think there's been some disagreements,
and Ms. Lefors is wwilling to do same parenting make-up
time, so there's got to be sane clear instructions on that.
THE COURT: All right. Well, so wvisitation this Saturday %
a.m. £o: 3. When's the next visitation? Or I can't
remenber, are we every Saturday or what are we?

MS. WATSCON: Alternating Saturdays, and then Tuesday and
Thursday 4 to 7:30, and they have some activities.

THE COURT: So is the 4 to 7:30 conflicting with track and
cheerleading?

MS. WATSON: Yes. Does it always conflict?

THE CRT: Any suggestions?

M5. WATSON: Well, flexibility, I guess maybe, you know, 1f
maybe we can have Ms. Torno s1t down with them and work out
a schedule.

THE COURT: That's fine. We could meve the wvisitation
from, instead of 4 to 7:30, we could do 1t 5 to 8.

MS. WATSON: Well, they hawve schoolwork, so it deoesn't work
very good. It takes Kyden longer with his schoolwork so
later really i=n't an opticn, but other days are options,
you know.

THE COURT: Well, it doesn't sound like it. They've got
track five days a week, right?

MS. SMITH: Every Saturday could be, since it's now

alternating Saturdays.
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MS., WATSCN: Parents can go to activities, you know. It
makes it -- but I mean, if we can sit dowm and look at the
kids' schedule and figure ocut, I think that —-

THE COURT: All right, why don't we do that. See if you
can work it out. If not, then I'll put a schedule in
place, but until then, the schedule I'wve established is the
schedule we use.

M3. WATSON: So should the kids go to their actiwvities, or
do they go to the parenting time?

THE COURT: Well, unless you can figure out something else,
they need to go to the parenting time.

MR. LEFORS: Your Honeor, can I make a suggestion?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. IBEFORS: The kids can do thelr after-school activitles.
What about I pick them up after their after-school
activities? I den't want to detract them from what they're
doing, but to continue in place with the parenting time.
THE COURT: So then you'd pick them up after track or
cheerleading?

MR. LEFORS: Yes, Sir.

THE COURT: That's fine with me.

MS. WATSON: Just return them at 7:30 then?

THE COURT: Right.

MS. WATSON: Okay.

M5, SMITH: And then mavbhe we could schedule a status
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hearing at some point.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS., SMITH: I'm =sure you're kind of booked out.

THE COURT: Yeah, but we're just talking about scnething
for 15 or 30 minutes, right?

MS., WATSON: My client hasn't testified. T guess I don't
-- you know, and we hawve this mew affidavit and T haven't
addressed —— we haven't had it long enough to address it.
MS. SMITH: It's not a new affidavit. It's just the reply
affidavit.

MS. WATSON: ©h, I'm sorry, the reply affidavit.

THE COURT: Okay.

M5. SMOITH: Well, T'm not sure she gets a double reply, but
that's fine.

THE COURT: Well, T haven't even locked at them, 5o I'm not
sure who gets what. Let's ses, we could schedule a status
hearing for Tuesday, the 12th of April at 9:30.

MS. WATSCN: That works for me.

THE COURT: Ms. Smith?

M3, SMITH: That works for me too.

THE COURT: All right. &/12 at 9:30. We'll set aside half
an hour.

MS. WATSON: ©Set aside what?

THE COURT: Well, what are we envisioning?

MS., SMITH: I think preobably just a status update on the

App 083




T O

[

parenting time, counseling, that sort of thing:. I don't
anticipate testimony.
THE COURT: ©Okay. Well, we'll set it for 30 minutes at
9:30 on Tuesday, April 12th.
All right, anything else, Ms, Smith?
M5. SMITH: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Ms. Watscon?
MS. WATSON: Nothing further. Thank you, Judge.
THE COURT: All right, thanks. We'll be in recess.

(These proceedings were concluded. )
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STATE OF SOUTH DARIOTA }
} S35, CERTIFICATE
COUNTY QOF MEADE }
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My Commission Expires: 2/2/28

App a4

Filed on: 03/15/2022 MEADE County, South Dakaota 48DIV19-000008




TSR T T T ey

%Hu i

LDIATION

MELANIE TORMO, ms Lro sap tinr
WIS ST BArr imy S0 AT
PERredd 158 S-Sl |

m Ao bl con | wiea s amemimbe o

September 21st, 2021
Ae: LeFors children, Kaelyn and Kyden

To Whom i May Concem:

| am writing regarding the LeFors chiidren, Kastyn and Kyden. | have provided
counseling services for each of the children individually. They each have had &
individual sessions beginning May 3rd, 2021. Sessions in the beginning were
schaduied every 2 waeks and are now approximatedy every one month, which may
change depending on the children’s needs. We have discussed their parents’
separation, visitation with thedr father, with whom they refer to as Joe, their daity life
and activities, thair friends and classmates, and mtearacton with extended family. We
have addressed their feelings and thoughts about their parents’ separation, coping
skilis, and communication to advocate for themsetves. They have expressed their fear
of their father, describad the abusa they have witnessed and occurrad to them, and the
impact those experiences have had on each of them. They have had sleep difficulty
since that time and do not feel safe sleeping i their own reoms. They have had fears
of their father breaking into their homes. We are working on reducing that fear and to
lessen the impact on their daily He.

Kaelyn and Kyden have also discussed their frustration and lack of desire in visitation
and counsefing with Joe. They have expressed that their voice is not being heard and
that they feel unsafe during counseling with Joe. For example, they have indicated that
Joe has sat by the door of their counseling sessions and they feel trapped. For
counsaling with Joe is to be successful, | believe Kaelyn and Kyden need to feel secure
and that they can advocate for themseives.

Here are my recommendations lor reintegration for Kaelyn and Kyden -

1. Encourage relationships with both parents and extended farmity.

2. Eﬂhﬂﬂlﬁtwdhﬂ'lemlldfmmdpmmdathumwmmefammalmmwm
understand and is appropriate for their age.
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11.

Curltinue with individual counseling, as needed, to allow a safe place to exprass
their thoughts and feeings, as well as create stralegees for coping skills, mought
stopping, self advocacy, and communication skills.

Cantinue with family counseling in a safe environment where they can freely
express their concerns and develop a secure therapeutic rappont prior to
introducing Joe into the sessions,

Family counseling should involve ail family members, including both parents and
the children for a more successful reintegration by addressing family dynamics and
issues that are unresolved.

Vigitation should be supervised in a secure setting 1o ensure the children's safety
with Joe, as well as to address thew refusal. This would be most baneficial to ocour
in a therapeutic environment,

There should be clear goals established, with the help of the children, for each
counseling session and 10pics 10 discuss at the sessions.,

Clear expectations of all parties should be establshed for counseling.

. The children ghould feel safe to express thes desire to end the Sesswon, within

reason, and establsh a teme frame to return to the topic being discussed.
All parties also nead to keep in mind that one of the children is dagnosed with
Autism and both chifdren fesl scared and fearful.

If you have any further questions, | am available at 718-3513. Thank you for your times
and consideration

Best regards,

ﬁ-u_i mo T By

Melanie Torno, LPC-MH GMHP




4. Gontinue with ndwidual counseling, as neeced, to allow a safe place to express
their thoughts and feeings, as well as create strategies for coping skells, though!
stopping, self advocacy, and communication skils.

5. Continue with family counseiing in a sale environment where they can freely
express ther concerns and develop a secure therapeutic rapport pror to
ntroducing Joe into the sessions.

6. Family counseling should invelve all famity members, includng both parerts and
the children for a mone successful reintegration by addressing famdy dynamics and
Esues that are unresolved.

1. Vistation should be supervised in a secure setting to ensure the children's safety
with Joe, a5 well as to address their refusal. This would De most beneficial 10 ooour
i a therapeutic environment.

B. There should be clear goals establehed, with the help of the children, for each
counseling session and lopes 10 discuss at the sessions,

9. Clear expectabons of all parties should be established for counseling.

10. The children should feel safe to eaprass ther desie lo end the Sess00, within
reason, and establsh a tme frame to return to the topic being discussed.

11. All parties also nead to keep in mind that one of the chitdren is dagnosed with
Aufism and both children feal scared and fearful.

if you have any further questions, 1 am avadable al Y18-3813. Thank you for your times
and consideration

Best regards,

| L.. I :uh_j_'_'lzr: e

Mefanie Torno, LPC-MH QMHP
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) IN CIRCUIT COURT

COUNTY OF MEADE | ) FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KRISTA M. LEFORS,

JOSEPH I). LEFORS, ) 46 DIV 19-000008
)
Plaintift, ) ﬁ ﬂ
) FINDINGS OF FACT AN en
V. } CONCLUSIONS OF L,ﬂ.ﬂ ;
) AND ORDER
)
)
)

Defendant.

8

R g*é’
This action was initiated by the Plaintiff filing a Complaint for divorce in Januvary of

2019, Trial was held on June 17 and 18, 2020, The Court entered its Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law and its Decree of Separate Maintenance on April 6, 2021. Among other

things, the Court ordered that the Defendant shall continue as primary custodian of the parties’

children, subject to the Plaintiff s reasonable parenting time, Plainuft appealed that decree.

Multiple mations, affidavits, and other documents have been filed since then. The Court held

mations hearings on December 21, 2021, and on March B, 2022, The Court, having reviewed the

file, having heard the testimony of the witnesses and the argument of counsel, does hereby enter

the following:

FINDINGS OF FACT

|. That any Finding of Fact desmed to be a Concluston of Law or any Conclusion of Law
deemed o be o Finding of Fact should be appropriately incorporated in Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law as the case may be.

2. The parties’ relationship with each other is acnimonious, Lo say the least

3. The Plaintiff"s relationship with the partics’ children is almost nonexistent. The Court has
ordered parenting time for the Plaintifl, as well as counseling that involves the Plaintiff and
the children, but the children refuse to spend time with their father, Typically, the
Defendant drops off the children for visitation with their father, and the children ignore
their father and start walking home. The Plaintiff has not been able to re-establish a
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L.

11.

12,

13.

relationship with the children. The Plaindiff has accused the Defendant of intentionally
alienating the children from him.

A significant part of the children's probléem with the Plaintiff is that he is in a romantic
relationship with the Defendant’s sister. The Plaintiff lives with the children’s aunt and
Cousing,

During the March 8, 2022 motiens hearing, the Court met individually in camera with each
of the children without the parties or their attorneys. The court reporter was present for
each of the meetings, but no record of the meetings was made, The children’s attitudes
toward their father was consistent with the testimony of the parties and with the testimony
of the other professional and lay witnesses, Weither child expressed any interest in ever
establishing any type of relationship with their father. Each child mentioned the father’s
relationship with their aunt as the reason for their position,

Mark Perrenmoud, Ph.D., a licensed psychologist from Psychological Associates of the
Black Hills in Rapid City, testified at the December 21, 2021 hearing. This court had
appointed Dr. Perrenoud to assist in this matter, Dr. Perrenoud has met with the Plaintiff
and with the children.

. Dir. Perrenoud stated that he believes that the Plaintiff has certainly done his part to increase

the chances of his visits with the children to be successful,

Dir. Perrenoud believes that the children have been alienated against the Plaintiff, and that
the Plaintiff"s alcohol use and his dangerousness to the children has been overstated.

Dr. Perrenoud testified that the Defendant is probably the biggest cause of the alienation
of the children against their father, and he called the level of alienation severe. He testified
that he believes that the Defendant has not done everything that she could possibly do to
facilitate a relationship between the children and the Plaintiff.

Dir. Perrenoud testified that, in order to stop the severe alienation by the Defendant, a
reversal of primary custody is an option that should be considered.

Dr. Perrenoud testified that he did not believe that continued therapeutic counseling as an
option for reunification is going to be beneficial at this point,

D, Perrenoud testified that the children should be informed that if they do not cooperate
with parenting with their father, that they should be informmed that their mother could be
held in contempt of court.

Melanie Tomo testified at the March 8, 2022 hearing, Ms. Tomo has a master’s degree
and is a licensed professional counselor as well as Qualified Mental Health Professional
and a Licensed Professional Counselor — Mental Health,
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17.

18.

19.

2}
3

4)

. At the time of the March 2022 hearing, Ms. Torno had been the children’s counselor for

nearly a year.

. Ms, Torno said that the children have told her that Dr. Perrenoud speaks badly about their

mather. Kyden has said that he does not trust Dr. Perrenoud and will not speak to him.
Kaclyn has said that she does not trust Dir. Perrenoud, and that she does not feel safe in the
counseling sessions with Dr, Perrenoud.

. Kyden has autism. Ms, Tomo testified that the first step in having Kyden building a

positive relationship with his father is that Kyden has to feel safe. The same is a
requirement for Kaelyn also.

In order to make the children feel safe with their father, Ms, Tomo stated, *We keep
working in counseling. We keep doing baby steps. T would recommend, like [ had said
before, recommend small baby steps, moving into indoor McDonald's or whatever
restaurant is available. Meet him for ice cream, 20 minuies, 30 minutes. Help the kids
create lists of topics that they are comfortable with communicating about and not talking
about issues that they're not ready to deal with.”

Ms. Torno testified that she has not seen any parental alienation by the Defendant, She
testified that the children have told her that their mom has been encouraging of their
relationship with their father and has attempted to get them to have visits with him.

Ms, Tomo testified that changing prmary physical custody to the Plaintiff would be
detrimental to the children. The children told Ms. Tormo that if such a change was
implemented, that they would run away.

Having made the foregoing Findings of Fact, the Court now enters the following:
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Any Finding of Fact or Conclusion of Law that more appropriately belongs in the other
category shall be inserted in the appropriate category by this reference.

This Court has jurisdiction of the parties and the subject matier of this proceeding.

“Trial courts have broad discretion when considering matters of child custody
and visitation,” Chicoine v. Chicoine, 479 N, W 2d B91, 893 (5.D. 1992). "However, the
trial count's exercise of discretion is not uncontrolled and must have a sound and substantial
basis in the westimony.” Williams v, Witliams, 425 N.W.2d 390, 393 (5.0 1988); Kester v
Kester, 257 NW.2d 731 (5.1, 1977).

The South Dakota Supreme Court in Fuerstenberg v. Fuerstenberg, 1999 8D 35, set forth
the rules which it intended for trial courts to follow in South Dakota. In deciding the best
interests of a child in a custody dispute, “the court must consider the child's temporal,

mental and moral welfare,” SDCL 25-5-10 (additional citations omitted). “In most
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circumstances, it will be in the best interests of the children that they reccive the love,
affection, training, and companionship of their non-custodial parent.” Weber v Weber,
520 NW2d 190 (SD 1995).

5) In this matter, the children’s relationship with their father has been damaged to the poim
that it is almost beyond repair. Dr, Perrenoud places a significant portion of the blame for
this on the Defendani. In contrast, Ms. Torno does not believe the Defendant has
deliberately alienated the children from their father. While this Court does nol possess the
expertise of either Dr. Perrenoud or Ms. Torno, and while it is a very close call, this Court
does not find or conclude that there is sufficient evidence that the Defendant has ¢ngaged
in parental alienation,

&) The Court concludes that changing custody to give the Plaintiff primary custody would be
detrimental to the children. This Court also concludes that ordering additional parenting
time with the Plaintiff would be counterproductive at this time.

Having made the foregoing Conclusions of Law, it is hereby
ORDERED thart the Plaintift’ s Motion for Temporary Costody or in the Alternative Extended

Parenting Time is hereby DENIED. It is further

ORDERED that the parties shall follow Ms. Torno's recommendations for reintegration
contained in Ms, Tomo's letter dated September 21, 2021 letter, which was received into
evidence.

Diated this $1h day of December 2022,
BY THE COURT

7/

Kevin J. i'-'.rull 4
Circuit f‘tmrl udge
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